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CORPORATE INFORMATION AND KEY DATES

AFENREEZERH

Key Dates

Annual Results Announcement 23 June 2022
Final Dividend HKS$0.016 per share
- Latest Time to Lodge Transfers 26 August 2022

(before 4:30 p.m.)
29-30 August 2022
(both days inclusive)

- Book Close Dates

- Record Date 30 August 2022
- Payment Date 14 September 2022
Annual General Meeting 18 August 2022
- Latest Time to Lodge Transfers 12 August 2022

(before 4:30 p.m.)

Corporate Communications

This Annual Report (in both English and Chinese versions) is
available to any shareholder of the Company either in printed
form or on the websites of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (“Stock Exchange”) (https://www.hkexnews.hk)
and the Company. In order to protect the environment, the
Company highly recommends the shareholders to receive
electronic copy of this Annual Report. Shareholders have the
right to change their choice of receipt of our future Corporate
Communications at any time by reasonable notice in writing
to the Company or the Company’s Hong Kong Branch Share
Registrar, Tricor Secretaries Limited, by post or by email at
is-enquiries@hk.tricorglobal.com.
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RESULTS SUMMARY
REBE

+

The board of directors (the “Board” or “Directors”) of Emperor REKE (BHEFE)EBRAG([RAAR])EEFE
International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) presents ([EEgJX[EF])REARFREMER
the audited consolidated results of the Company and its 7 (4t [ANEE])# £202263A31H IEFE
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the (IRFE])ZEERGEEE-

year ended 31 March 2022 (the “Year”).

—~

For the year ended 31 March Changes
BZ3A31BLEE b=
2022 2021
HK$’°000 HKS$ 000
FET F#ET
Zgﬁ;‘f"e“”e 2,329,324 1,317,082 +76.9%
ene neome 904,402 898,724 +0.6%
i Z%’;gésa 5 1,025,152 82,208 +1,147.0%
- ﬁg/gfgﬁg &Q;é%g;fd operations 399,770 336,150 +18.9%
=/ /I (7% 177
Gross profit 0
£F 813,293 647,342 +25.6%
Fair value (loss) on investment properties N/A
BENEARBE R (488,877)  (1,210,59%) B
Underlying profit attributable to the owners of the Company!
AT A LA - 32219 20158 oA
(Loss) attributable to the owners of the Company N/A
R ATEE AR (5518) (469,329) (167,448) B
Basic (loss) per share N/A

HK$(0.13)#7t  HKS$(0.21)# 7T

SREA (518) RiEA
Final dividend per share e e — 0

SRAHRE HK$0.01685C  HK$0.01287T +33.3%
Total dividends per share HKS0.041872  HKS0.024557 -

SRS
1 Representing profit for the year before fair value changes and ' REXQIRBEZEH LREBEALEBELRE
impairment losses and relevant deferred taxes Al 2 F %

2 Included the special dividend of HK$0.010 per share distributed in 2 B /202146 A K2 &4 5l i 8 & [£0.010/% T
June 2021

Emperor International Holdings Limited HE£E (ERE) BRAE] 5
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENWE DM

RESULTS

The Group’s total revenue increased by 76.9% to HK$2,329.3
million (2021: HK$1,317.1 million) during the Year. Despite the
sluggish office leasing demand amid the ongoing Covid-19
pandemic, the Group managed to maintain the rental income
broadly stable at HK$904.4 million (2021: HKS$898.7 million),
representing 38.8% (2021: 68.2%) of total revenue.

Revenue from the sales of property development surged
1,147.0% to HK$1,025.2 million (2021: HKS$82.2 million), which
was contributed by the sales income from Central 8 as well as
Seaside Castle, accounting for 44.0% (2021: 6.2%) of the total
revenue.

The operating environments of the tourism and hospitality
sectors remained challenging due to the fluctuating pandemic
situation during the Year, nevertheless revenue from the
hospitality segment increased by 18.9% to HK$399.8 million
(2021: HKS$336.2 million), which accounted for 17.2% (2021:
25.5%) of the total revenue.

Gross profit increased by 25.6% to HK$813.3 million (2021:
HKS$647.3 million). With an increase in total revenue and
a decrease in the fair value loss on investment properties,
loss for the Year attributable to the owners of the Company
narrowed to HK$469.3 million (2021: HKS$767.4 million).
Basic loss was HKS$0.13 (2021: HKS0.21) per share. The Board
recommended a payment of a final dividend of HK$0.016
(2021: HKS0.012) per share. Together with the special dividend
of HK$0.010 (2021: Nil) per share which was distributed in
June 2021, as well as the interim dividend of HK$0.015 (2021:
HKS$0.012) per share, the total dividends for the Year are
HKS$0.041 (2021: HK$0.024) per share.

Seaside Castle
BE :
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# T (20214 : 1,317,100,0008 7T ) - B E N # B R
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B4 A KIS T 904,400,000 7T (20214 -
898,700,000/ 7T ) * 16 48 W A #938.8% (20214 :
68.2%)

)2 3 BE S WA B8 711,147.0%% 1,025,200,000
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENWE DM

MARKET REVIEW

During the first half of the Year, the pandemic situation was
stabilised, and the public had generally become accustomed to
the pandemic. The ongoing travel restrictions have prompted
consumers to spend locally instead of outside Hong Kong,
supporting the local economic recovery. Nevertheless, the
emergence of Omicron in the last quarter of the Year led to a
disruption of retail businesses due to a more stringent social
distancing measures. Furthermore, the ongoing geopolitical
tension between China and the United States, the Russia-
Ukraine conflict, credit issues affecting major Chinese property
developers, and an interest rate hike by the Federal Reserve
have increased uncertainties regarding economic development.

Regarding the office leasing market, demand decreased as
a result of work from home arrangements, fewer arrivals
of expatriates, downsizing of corporations, and relocation
of offices to other Asian countries. The market was under
pressure, in tandem with the increased supply and hence
the increased vacancy rate. Meanwhile, the retail market has
been unstable given the social distancing measures have been
changing throughout the Year, depending on the severity
of the pandemic, disrupting store operations overall, hence
adversely affecting the retail leasing market.

The residential property development market performed
steadily during the first half of the Year. Demand from local
buyers remained resilient, and newly launched projects
continued to attract interest. However, transaction activities
slowed down in the second half of the Year due to the volatility
in the stock markets and negative economic factors in
mainland China, which have led to potential buyers adopting a
wait-and-see attitude. In addition, the emergence of Omicron
led to a brief hiatus of property sales by developers in the last
quarter of the Year, exacerbating the situation.

Seaside Castlé
BE

™ 35 B &

RAFEE¥F ZEBREBE ARMEKAEK
HE T RIS - BN RIER SR FH B & T A
MIEBRBUINETTEE  EXR 7 A AOE ST o
SR Omicron A A F E =& —EAZEMHIRE
BLTZEER DHRRNEHR T EEEMOLRIER
B o LN FRE 2 BRI R EUA BB RIS B 2R
BEFR FEFETEEHEREENEER
BREBMEMBIIEINT & EZERNTEER
=

IHAEHEMSME  ARBERP AL I
A B ARABUR D DR NRR R R ER
BEHEAMDMBEER  EHFRTE 0L RIS
M EZEERIRIEIN - Hi5mERE S - R AR
HRERMERIARRIENBERERAFE
—E&Z2 2HEAHHEE ETEMH -
BEMRE HMUZTZEHEMSELTNEE -

EENERETERAFELFFRARE
30 B 5K ) SR A FRILER ) - 1 T B9 IR B IR
R 5| B A B o SR - 0 AP B A O B
EMHERHREELERNT AFE NFFH
MR BEBEE KRB ERE Lo
Omicroni® AR & & 1& — & F 2 1) 1 3 B
EEMYEHEEREEE KEREMEL-
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENWE D

BUSINESS REVIEW

Based in Hong Kong, the Group principally engages in
property investment, property development and hospitality
businesses. The Group’s property portfolio covers a total area
of over 5,700,000 square feet in Greater China and the United
Kingdom.

Rental Income

The Group’s investment properties portfolio primarily focuses
on commercial buildings and quality street-level retail spaces in
prominent locations, with an aggregate gross floor area of over
3,000,000 square feet. In recent years, the Group has strived
to further develop beyond its origins, notably by expanding its
coverage from Greater China to the United Kingdom, enabling
it to possess a geographically balanced property portfolio. By
doing so, the Group can diversify its rental income streams and
minimise impacts due to market volatility.

Hong Kong

Hong Kong accounted for more than 50% of the Group’s
total gross floor area of investment properties currently for
lease. As at 31 March 2022, the occupancy rate of the Group’s
investment properties in Hong Kong was around 90%.

The Group owns many premium office, commercial and
industrial complexes which mainly include Emperor Group
Centre and China Huarong Tower in Wan Chai; Emperor
Commercial Centre in Central, Emperor Hollywood Centre
in Sheung Wan; Lane Up and Bhotai Industrial Building &
Shan Ling Industrial Building in Tuen Mun.

The Group continually strives to enhance the value and
maximise the potential rental income of its premises by
undertaking redevelopment programme. The project at
No. 81 Lockhart Road, | 4 ,
Wan Chai, has been
transformed into a
Grade-A office building
with a gross floor
area of approximately
126,600 square feet. An
occupation permit has
been obtained during
the Year, and it is now
recruiting tenants. The
redevelopment creates a
vibrant building in the heart
of Wan Chai - one of the
core commercial districts
on Hong Kong Island - and
presents significant value-
creation opportunities to
the Group.

0. 81 Lockhart RJra
B 7 B 815k ‘
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENWE DM

The Group also generated rental income from numerous
retail spaces in popular residential and shopping districts.
Key investment properties include the pulse in Repulse Bay;
Fitfort Shopping Arcade in North Point; retail shops of
Fairview Height at Mid-levels; retail shops at Level 3, New
Town Commercial Arcade in Tuen Mun; Nos. 8, 20, 22-24
and 50-56 Russell Street in Causeway Bay; Nos. 81, 83
Nathan Road, Nos. 35-37 Haiphong Road and Nos. 25-29
Hankow Road in Tsim Sha Tsui.

During the Year, the Group completed the disposal of New
Media Tower and Toppy Tower at a consideration of
HK$485.7 million and HKS$580.5 million, respectively. The
Group also disposed of several properties, which were among
its portfolio of non-core investment properties located on
the periphery of the core shopping areas, at a consideration
of HK$429.2 million. The aggregate net proceeds amounting
to approximately HKS$1,486.4 million from these disposals
will enhance the financial position of the Group, while
resulting in additional reserves for supporting its investment
opportunities in future.

Mainland China

Located in Chang’an Avenue East, Beijing, Emperor Group
Centre Beijing is a 28-storey (excluding three-storey basement
with parking facilities) Grade-A office tower and premier
shopping mall with premium cinema, encompassing a gross
floor area of approximately 1,062,000 square feet. It becomes an
important part of Yong’anli CBD and marked a major milestone
for the Group in developing upscale commercial projects in
mainland China. It has therefore attracted reputable office
tenants, multiple international superior jewellery, watch, and
high-quality lifestyle product brands, as well as special trendy
food and beverage tenants from different countries. Emperor
Group Centre Beijing gives full play to advanced structural
systems, intelligent technology, and energy saving technology
to create a new commercial image with a balance between
environment and urban economic development.

Macau

With a gross floor area of approximately 30,000 square feet,
Emperor Nam Van Centre is a multi-storey premium retail
complex on the Macau Peninsula. Located at the centre of
Macau Peninsula, Emperor Nam Van Centre has become a
prime shopping location with a blend of shopping and lifestyle
offerings, featuring a fitness centre, sportswear, cosmetic and
jewellery stores.

REBIELZ AR BLNEERBYI R
CEERMHELEESRA-TEREMERHRE
272K EH the pulse : (AL /A H) #E =L 25 fE
YES UN+F UNEEEFTERH NPT
N EIREEHTH (LN IR ENEEL
820 -22-24K%50-565 : [ N5 "E B R E
81 - 83%% - L E35-37%5 [ [17E25-297;

RARF[E - RE B 5 5% X {8485,700,0007% 7T
12580,500,0007% 7T 52 X, H & 7 5 4R 25 [ 10 [
Toppy Tower - 78 & [E 1 12 {X. {£429,200,0007%
THEMRZLEYEIINEOIFZLIREE
HEFHETME ZELENE HAERIEF
¥E #91,486,400,00078 7T 1% 2 & 2N & B &9 B4 75 4K
T AR AEAEIRERSREEIMEE-

A 3t

Rt RRERAENL RAEZELEBA D —
B2 228E (TEE=EEFERESRME) T
BMARBAREBREEZ N MALLE
WAL - B2 EE A5 491,062,000°F 75 R« A E K
RKZEROBEENEER Y LRAKER
FRENMERSEDEAEEN —(EEER2R-
HE LRSI MBR A=, - 2 B ERTAERIK
B @gRASEELEMKRERMEALKE D
RIBRHRITHEEREPEN - RESLEE
FAOFEDFERSERIRIB R - BB R ENRERIN -
TE B BRIR Ko T AR B R 0 B A& R Y
[EESZ

BT
CRRPIFENREFEFAL R EZESR
TEBY PO 421 H 8 430,000 75 R e iz
BRRPIEEPONREFEFLCHRAEREY
REERRERR —EBONESEYAN KB
Fehd - EBRE btam RKEE -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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London

The Group owns a 7-storey (including basement) retail and
office complex at Nos. 181-183 as well as Ampersand Building
at Nos. 111-125 on Oxford Street, London. Ampersand
Building is an 8-storey (including basement) composite
building comprising retail spaces, office premises and
apartments under lease with a gross floor area of approximately
113,000 square feet (for retail and office portions only). Located
in the prime retail and vibrant SOHO office area of London’s
West End, it is also in close proximity to the Tottenham Court
Road Crossrail development, thereby enjoying significant
pedestrian traffic and excellent accessibility.

The redevelopment project at Nos. 25-27 Oxford Street
was completed in early 2021 and is now recruiting tenants.
Occupying a prominent commercial and shopping location
in London that is popular with international visitors, the site
has been redeveloped into a 9-storey retail and office building
with a gross floor area of approximately 19,300 square feet.
The project entailed restoring the building’s historic street-
front facades.

Property Sales

The Group pursues a strategy of providing quality residential
properties including luxury composite buildings in popular
urban areas, and low-rise detached houses in unique spots,
with convenient access to transportation networks. A steady
development pipeline has been established, which will
provide medium-term contributions to the sale of residential
units, for earnings visibility.
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Projects launched for sale
Located at No. 8 Mosque Street,
Mid-Levels, Central 8 is a 29-storey
(including lower ground floor)
boutique residential tower, offering
99 units with studio to 2-bedroom
layouts. Adjacent to SOHO area and
Lan Kwai Fong, it is in close proximity
to the Central-Mid-Levels Escalator,
with convenient access to the central
business district. Occupation permit
has been obtained. As at 31 March
2022, 63 units were contracted with
an average selling price of over
HKS$30,000 per square feet, and
majority of the sales amount has
been recognised during the Year. As
at 31 March 2022, 36 remaining units
were available for sale.

Central 8
F LByt

Seaside Castle is a prime residential project located at No. 9
Ching Lai Road, Tai Lam, Tuen Mun which comprises 8 luxurious
detached houses with sea views. With close proximity to new
transportation infrastructure such as Hong Kong-Shenzhen
Western Corridor and the Hong Kong-Zhuhai-Macau Bridge,
the project has convenient access to the cities in the Greater
Bay Area. It is also close to the prestigious Harrow International
School. The project has been completed. As at 31 March 2022, 4
remaining houses were available to the market.

No. 15 Shouson, Southern District, Hong Kong Island is a
signature luxury residential project which is 40% owned by
the Group, boasting a gross floor area of approximately 88,000
square feet. In proximity to Aberdeen Tunnel and a network
of prestigious schools, the site has been developed into 15
low-density luxury villas, complemented by comprehensive
auxiliary facilities. The project was largely completed as at
31 March 2022, and was launched to the market in late-May 2022.

0.15 Shousoh

CHRENER

R0 L EE 28 B85 < F L B3t I8 = 2918 (&
i MR MR aE £ RAE - TR H99E R pE =
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PO B8 B IR KHE F 3 3B AR - 77 &
PRAEAE R R © 5278 B IR & & 1O ha 22 B
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENWE DM

Other projects under development

The site at Nos. 20-26 Old Bailey Street & No.11 Chancery
Lane, Central, is planned for redevelopment into a 26-storey
boutique luxury residential tower. Adjacent to SOHO area and
Lan Kwai Fong, it is in close proximity to Central-Mid-Levels
Escalator, with convenient access to the central business
district. The redevelopment is planned to be completed in 2023.

No. 1 Wang Tak Street, Happy Valley, a site previously
occupied by Emperor (Happy Valley) Hotel, will be
redeveloped into a 27-storey residential tower with a gross
floor area of approximately 58,000 square feet. Happy Valley is
a traditional luxury residential location on Hong Kong Island,
with easy access to major shopping and business districts
such as Causeway Bay and Wan Chai, and in close proximity
to major facilities such as the Hong Kong Jockey Club,
Hong Kong Sanatorium & Hospital and Hong Kong Stadium.
Foundation works are in progress and the project is scheduled
for completion in 2024.

The existing buildings at Nos. 24-30 Bonham Road, Mid-
levels, have been demolished and will be redeveloped into
a 27-storey residential complex with a gross floor area of
approximately 105,500 square feet. It is just 5 minutes walk
away from the Sai Ying Pun MTR station. The redevelopment is
scheduled for completion in 2024.

The existing buildings at Nos. 72-80 Old Main Street
Aberdeen, Aberdeen, have been demolished and will be
redeveloped into a 23-storey residential and retail building
with a gross floor area of approximately 50,400 square feet.
Located in Aberdeen town centre, it is conveniently accessed
by a variety of public transport. The redevelopment is
scheduled for completion in 2024.

The existing building at No. 127 Caine Road, Mid-levels, is
planned to be redeveloped into a 23-storey residential and retail
tower with a gross floor area of approximately 25,000 square
feet. It is around 3 minutes and 5 minutes walk from PMQ and
SOHO areas, respectively, and has convenient access to several
leisure spots and multinational restaurants in Mid-levels. The
redevelopment is scheduled for completion in 2025.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Hotel and Hotel Related Operations

Emperor Entertainment Hotel Limited (“Emperor E Hotel”;
Hong Kong stock code: 296), a subsidiary of the Group,
originally owned 2 hotels in Macau, namely Grand Emperor
Hotel (“GEH”) and Inn Hotel Macau. During the Year, 1 hotel
and 2 serviced apartments in Hong Kong - The Emperor Hotel,
The Unit Serviced Apartments and MORI MORI Serviced
Apartments - were acquired by Emperor E Hotel (via disposal
of the relevant indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries of the
Company) at a total consideration of HK$2,048.8 million. As a
result, the entire hospitality business segment is now unified
under Emperor E Hotel, covering 3 hotels and 2 serviced
apartments, and the recurrent income continues being
consolidated to the Group. The details of this disposal were set
out in the joint announcement of the Company and Emperor E
Hotel dated 16 March 2021 and the Company’s circular dated
30 April 2021.

OUTLOOK

Subsequent to the Year, the pandemic situation has eased and
the public is on course to resuming normal activities, after
being hit hard by the fifth wave of infections. In addition, non-
Hong Kong residents can finally enter the city, after two years of
stringent border controls, and the quarantine period for arriving
passengers has been shortened, creating favourable conditions
for the revival of consumption and business sentiments. On the
other hand, interest rate hike by the Federal Reserve in June
2022, uncertainties in China’s economic development, and
timings of border re-openings within Greater China may hinder
economic recovery in the near term.
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Since the Covid-19 pandemic began, the office leasing market
environment has changed - work from home arrangements,
hot desk policies, preference for “green” buildings, and
growing popularity of emerging business areas, have diverted
some demand for office space from the central business
district into other various districts. Regarding retail spaces,
increasing demand has been observed in residential areas,
where rental levels have been more resilient amid the
pandemic. Over the past few years, the Group has been
diversifying both its office and retail property investment
portfolios into various districts in Hong Kong, thus helping
to maintain a steady rental income. The Group will continue
monitoring the market, and adjust its property portfolio as
appropriate, in order to maintain a balanced investment
property portfolio.

Soon after the recent relaxation of social distancing measures,
developers have been accelerating the launch of new projects,
which are well received by the market. More project launches
are expected. The Group has already established a solid
development properties pipeline, including No. 15 Shouson,
which was launched to the market in late-May 2022. Given the
limited supply of development properties together with huge
demand for housing, the Group remains cautiously optimistic
about the local residential property market outlook in the
long term.

FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 31 March 2022, the Group’s net asset value and net
asset value per share amounted to HK$26,765.8 million (2021:
HKS$27,069.5 million) and HKS$7.28 (2021: HKS7.36) per share,
respectively.

The Group had cash, bank balances and bank deposits
amounted to HK$1,567.2 million (2021: HK$4,133.9 million)
as at 31 March 2022. The total external borrowings (excluding
payables) was approximately HK$22,711.0 million (2021:
HK$27,284.4 million), and the Group’s net gearing ratio
(measured by net debts as a percentage to its total asset
value) was 38.7% (2021: 38.4%).

To finance its operations, the Group utilises cash flow
generated from business operations and maintains multiple
channels of funding sources including bank borrowings
and bond issuances. As at 31 March 2022, the outstanding
principal of the medium-term notes issued by the Group was
HKS$1,442.4 million (2021: HKS$4,905.4 million), which were
denominated in Hong Kong dollar and United States dollar at
fixed rates ranging from 3.2% to 4.9% per annum.
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During the Year, the Group entered into a 5-year unsecured
club loan facility agreement amounting to HK$1,950.0 million
with nine local and international banks. The relevant fund will
be used for general working capital purposes and refinancing
its existing debts. This club loan will provide the Group with
extra liquidity and lower overall funding costs, ensuring
financing flexibility and sustainability for future business
development.

Assets Pledged

As at 31 March 2022, assets with carrying value of HK$40,516.3
million (2021: HK$45,617.8 million) were pledged as security
for banking facilities.

EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

Cessation of Gaming Operation

On 1 April 2022, Emperor E Hotel announced that it would
cease the gaming operation in GEH right after the expiry of
the service agreements with SUM Resorts, S.A. (“SIM”) on
26 June 2022 (“Expiry Date”), while the hospitality business
in GEH is retained. On 15 June 2022, Emperor E Hotel further
announced that SJM would continue to run the gaming
operation in GEH from 27 June 2022 to 31 December 2022.
Therefore, a subsidiary of Emperor E Hotel has entered into
an agreement with SJM for the provision of the hotel rooms,
catering and other ancillary services for the gaming operation
to be run by SJM in GEH after the Expiry Date.

Disposal of a Site

On 29 April 2022, the Group completed the disposal of a site
located at Nos. 67-77 Nam On Street, Shau Kei Wan, Hong
Kong. The consideration was HK$688.0 million and the net
proceeds of HK$687.5 million has resulted in additional
reserves for supporting the Group’s investment opportunities
in future.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

The total cost incurred for staff, including Directors’
emoluments, was HK$513.5 million (2021: HK$488.8 million)
during the Year. The number of staff was 1,208 (2021: 1,209)
as at 31 March 2022. Each employee’s remuneration was
determined in accordance with the individual’s responsibility,
competence and skills, experience and performance, as well
as market pay levels. Staff benefits include medical and life
insurance, retirement benefits and other competitive fringe
benefits. The Company has adopted a share option scheme to
provide incentives or rewards to the staff.
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Non-Executive Director and Chairperson

LUK SIU MAN, SEMON, aged 66, the Chairperson of the
Board. She joined the Company in June 1999 and provides
leadership for the Board. Ms. Luk is also the chairperson and
non-executive director of Emperor E Hotel, a subsidiary of
the Company. She is the mother of Mr. Yeung Ching Loong,
Alexander, the Vice Chairman and Executive Director of the
Company. Ms. Luk worked in the banking industry for almost
10 years. She graduated from The University of Toronto with a
Bachelor’s Degree in Commerce.
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Executive Director and Vice Chairman

YEUNG CHING LOONG, ALEXANDER, aged 36, joined the
Group in 2009 and has been appointed as Executive Director
of the Company and Vice Chairman of the Board in May
2018 and May 2022 respectively. He is also a member of the
Executive Committee and Nomination Committee as well as
a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Yeung
has been involved in the management of the overall business
of the Group. For over the past decade, he has undertaken
responsibility in evaluating new business opportunities and
strategic planning for the Company, bringing new visions
into various property and hotel projects, leading the teams
to develop a number of cutting-edge projects with innovative
ideas, which have received industry-wide recognition.
Mr. Yeung is tasked to sharpen the Group’s vision with an open
approach and guide the Group’s major long-term strategic
development so as to achieve synergies among its businesses.
Further, with his young and dynamic perspectives, Mr. Yeung
has played an active role in promoting shared corporate values
within the Group, thereby bringing together an elite team to
the new heights. In the pursuit of innovation while maintaining
the Group’s competitive edge, he has strengthened the
Group’s core businesses and management proposition and
strives to explore and cater to the needs of younger customers,
and develop new and emerging businesses. Mr. Yeung is
a board member of the Emperor Foundation, promoting
voluntary work across the Emperor Group, and he is
committed to providing charitable sponsorship and supports
in the areas of youth and child development, elderly care,
education, culture and environmental protection. Mr. Yeung
is a member of the 13th Political Consultative Conference of
Beijing City. He is particularly concerned about youth affairs
and has participated extensively in public services in Mainland
China and Hong Kong, including Executive Vice Chairman of
Hong Kong United Youth Association, etc. Mr. Yeung cares
for the society and the community, and his philanthropic
footprint extends to Hong Kong, Macau and Mainland China.
Mr. Yeung is also an executive director of Emperor Culture,
a listed member under Emperor Group. He is the son of
Ms. Luk Siu Man, Semon, the Chairperson and a Non-executive
Director of the Company.
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Executive Director and Managing Director
WONG CHI FAIl, aged 66, the Managing Director of the
Company. Mr. Wong joined the Company in 1991 and has
been responsible for the Group’s strategic planning, business
growth and development and overseeing the financial
management of the Group. He is also the Chairman of the
Executive Committee and a member of the Remuneration
Committee of the Company as well as a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company. Currently, he is also a director
of Emperor E Hotel, Emperor Watch & Jewellery Limited
(Stock Code: 887) (“Emperor W&J”), Emperor Culture Group
Limited (Stock Code: 491) (“Emperor Culture”) and Ulferts
International Limited (Stock Code: 1711) (“Ulferts”), all being
listed members under Emperor Group. Having over 30 years of
finance and management experience, Mr. Wong has diversified
experience in different businesses ranging from property
investment and development, hotel and hospitality, retailing
of watch and jewellery, cinema development and operation,
wholesaling and retailing of furniture, financial and securities
services, artiste management, entertainment production and
investment as well as media and publication. Mr. Wong is
a Certified Public Accountant of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and a fellow of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants.

FAN MAN SEUNG, VANESSA (Former Name: Fan Man Seung),
aged 59, the Managing Director of the Company. Ms. Fan
joined the Company in 1990 and has been responsible for the
Group’s strategic planning, business growth and development
as well as overseeing different functions within the Group.
Ms. Fan is also the Chairperson of the Corporate Governance
Committee and a member of the Executive Committee of the
Company as well as a director of certain subsidiaries of the
Company. Currently, Ms. Fan is also a director of Emperor E
Hotel, Emperor W&J, Emperor Culture and Ulferts. Having
over 33 years of corporate management experience, she
possesses diversified experience in different businesses
ranging from property investment and development to
hotel and hospitality, retailing of watch and jewellery,
cinema development and operation, wholesaling and
retailing of furniture, financial and securities services, artiste
management, entertainment production and investment as
well as media and publication. She is a lawyer by profession in
Hong Kong and a qualified accountant, and holds a Master’s
Degree in Business Administration.
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Executive Director

CHEUNG PING KEUNG, aged 66, joined the Company in 2005
and was appointed as Executive Director of the Company in
February 2007. He is a member of the Executive Committee
and a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company.
Mr. Cheung is currently responsible for overseeing the
Group’s property investment, development and management
businesses. During the period from 1997 to 2005, Mr. Cheung
was an executive director of Henderson Investment Limited
(Stock Code: 97). He has over 40 years of experience in
professional general practice surveying as well as property
development and marketing in Hong Kong, Macau, Mainland
China and Canada. He graduated from University of London
with a Bachelor’s Degree (Hons) in Arts. He is a Chartered
Valuation Surveyor and a Fellow of both the Royal Institution
of Chartered Surveyors and the Hong Kong Institute of
Surveyors.

Independent Non-Executive Director

WONG TAK MING, GARY, aged 46, was appointed as
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company in August
2013. He is the Chairman of the Audit Committee as well
as a member of the Nomination Committee and Corporate
Governance Committee of the Company. He now runs a
professional accountancy firm in Hong Kong and has over 20
years of experience in the field of auditing and accounting.
Mr. Wong is an independent non-executive director of Emperor
Capital Group Limited (Stock Code: 717) (“Emperor Capital
Group”). Mr. Wong is a certified public accountant (practising),
a fellow member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants
in England and Wales, the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants and The Taxation Institute of Hong Kong.

CHAN HON PIU, aged 62, was appointed as Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company in August 2015. He
is the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee as well as a
member of the Audit Committee and Corporate Governance
Committee of the Company. Mr. Chan has been admitted as a
solicitor in Hong Kong since 1991 and is now a partner of a law
firm in Hong Kong. Mr. Chan graduated from The University
of Hong Kong with a Bachelor’s Degree in Social Sciences.
He also obtained the Certificate of Education and a Master’s
Degree in Laws from The University of Hong Kong.
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Independent Non-Executive Director

CHU KAR WING, aged 65, was appointed as Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company in August 2021. He is the
Chairman of the Nomination Committee as well as a member
of the Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee of the
Company. He was previously an independent non-executive
director of Emperor Capital Group (until 25 February 2022) and
China Power Clean Energy Development Company Limited
(shares under Stock Code 735 were delisted on 19 August
2019). He has extensive experience in the banking and finance
sector for several well-known corporations. Moreover, he is
now the President of Canada-China Culture and Education
Association. Mr. Chu holds a Bachelor’s Degree of Social
Sciences majoring in Economics.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEEWRE

The Directors present this annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year.

Principal Activities

The Company is an investment holding company. The
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 49 to
the consolidated financial statements.

Results and Dividends

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
on pages 75 and 76 of this annual report. The dividends paid
during the Year and proposed to be paid for the Year are set
out in note 12 to the consolidated financial statements.

An interim dividend of HKS$0.015 per share for the Year
(2020/2021: HK$0.012 per share), amounting to approximately
HKS$55.2 million (2020/2021: HKS$44.1 million), was paid to the
shareholders of the Company (“Shareholders”) during the
Year.

The Directors recommended the payment of a final dividend
of HK$0.016 per share for the Year (2021: HKS$0.012 per
share), amounting to approximately HK$58.8 million (2021:
HKS$44.1 million) to Shareholders whose names appear on the
register of members on 30 August 2022 (Tuesday) subject to
the approval of the Shareholders at the forthcoming annual
general meeting to be held on 18 August 2022 (Thursday)
(“2022 AGM™).

Business Review and Performance

A fair review of the Group’s business, a discussion and analysis
of the Group’s performance during the Year, important events
occurred after the reporting period and an analysis of the
likely future development of the Group’s business are set
out in the Management Discussion and Analysis from pages
6 to 15 of this report. Description of the principal risks and
uncertainties facing the Group are set out in the Corporate
Governance Report from pages 40 to 67 of this report and
notes 40 and 41 to the consolidated financial statements
respectively.
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In addition, an analysis of the Group’s performance during the
Year using financial key performance indicators is provided
in the Five-year Financial Summary on page 220. Discussion
on the Group’s environmental policy and performance,
key relationships with the Group’s key stakeholders as well
as compliance with relevant laws and regulations which
have significant impact on the Company are set out in the
Environmental, Social and Governance Report 2021/2022 of
the Company.

Investment Properties

During the Year, the Group acquired investment properties
at a cost of approximately HK$44,233,000 and incurred costs
of approximately HK$116,482,000 on investment properties
under development.

As at 31 March 2022, the Group revalued all of its investment
properties on an open market value basis. The decrease in fair
value amounting to approximately HK$488,877,000 has been
credited to the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Details of changes in the investment properties of the Group
are set out in note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.

A summary of major properties of the Group as at 31 March
2022 is set out on pages 221 to 228 of this annual report.

Property, Plant and Equipment
During the Year, the Group acquired property, plant and
equipment at a cost of approximately HK$42,470,000.

Details of changes in the property, plant and equipment of
the Group are set out in note 15 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Share Capital

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company
during the Year are set out in note 36 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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Reserves
Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during the
Year are set out on pages 79 and 80 of this annual report.

Equity-Linked Agreements

Other than the share option scheme adopted by the Company
on 15 August 2013 (“Share Option Scheme”) as set out in note
37 to the consolidated financial statements, no equity-linked
agreement were entered into by the Company during the Year
or subsisted at the end of the Year.

Distributable Reserves

The contributed surplus of the Company represents the
aggregate of (a) the difference between the consolidated
net assets of the Company’s subsidiaries and the nominal
value of the Company’s shares issued pursuant to the group
re-organisation effective in December 1991; (b) the surplus
arising on reduction of share capital effective in March 2003;
and (c) the subsequent dividends paid and bonus issues by
way of capitalisation of contributed surplus.

Under the Companies Act in 1981 of Bermuda (as amended),
the contributed surplus of the Company is available for
distribution to shareholders. However, a company cannot
declare or pay a dividend or make a distribution out of
contributed surplus if there are reasonable grounds for
believing that:

(i) the company is, or would after the payment be, unable to
pay its liabilities as they become due; or

(ii) the realisable value of the company’s assets would
thereby be less than the aggregate of its liabilities and
issued share capital and share premium accounts.

The Company’s reserves available for distribution to
shareholders as at 31 March 2022 represented the aggregate
of contributed surplus and retained profits amounting to
HK$3,240,799,000 (2021: HKS$3,377,626,000).
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Directors
The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this report
were:

Non-executive Director:
Ms. Luk Siu Man, Semon (Chairperson)

Executive Directors:

Mr. Yeung Ching Loong, Alexander (Vice Chairman)(Note)
Mr. Wong Chi Fai (Managing Director)

Ms. Fan Man Seung, Vanessa (Managing Director)

Mr. Cheung Ping Keung

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Wong Tak Ming, Gary

Mr. Chan Hon Piu

Mr. Chu Kar Wing (elected on 19 August 2021)
Ms. Cheng Ka Yu (retired on 19 August 2021)

Note: Mr. Yeung Ching Loong, Alexander was appointed as Vice Chairman

on 2 May 2022.

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management
as at the date of this report are set out from pages 16 to 20 of
this annual report. Details of Directors’ remuneration are set
out in note 10 to the consolidated financial statements.

In accordance with Bye-laws 87(1) and 87(2) of the Company’s
Bye-laws, Mr. Cheung Ping Keung (“Mr. Donald Cheung”),
Mr. Wong Tak Ming, Gary (“Mr. Gary Wong”) and Mr. Chan
Hon Piu (“Mr. Chan”) shall retire by rotation at the 2022
AGM. Mr. Donald Cheung and Mr. Chan, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election thereat whilst Mr. Gary Wong who
served as independent non-executive director of the Company
(“INED”) for almost 9 years, being eligible but does not offer
himself for re-election thereat.

None of the Directors offering themselves for re-election at the
2022 AGM has an unexpired service contract with the Group
within one year without payment of compensation (other than
statutory compensation).
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Management Contracts

No contracts, other than employment contracts, concerning
the management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of the Group’s business were entered into or
existed during the Year.

Permitted Indemnity Provisions

During the Year and up to the date of this annual report, the
Company has in force the permitted indemnity provisions
which are provided for in the Company’s Bye-laws and in the
directors and officers liability insurance maintained for the
Group in respect of potential liability and costs associated
with legal proceedings that may be brought against the
Directors and the directors of the Group respectively.

Emolument Policy

The emoluments of the Directors shall be decided by the
Board as recommended by the Remuneration Committee
having regard to a written remuneration policy (which ensures
a clear link to business strategy and a close alignment
with the Shareholders’ interest and current market best
practice). Remuneration should be paid with reference to the
Board’s corporate goals and objectives, the salaries paid by
comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities
of the Executive and Non-executive Directors, internal equity
of employment conditions across the Group and applicability
of performance-based remuneration. The Directors’ fee
are paid in line with market practice. No individual should
determine his or her own remuneration.

Employees’ remuneration was determined in accordance
with individual’s responsibility, competence and skills,
experience and performance as well as market pay level.
Remuneration packages includes, as the case may be, basic
salaries, Directors’ fees, housing allowances, contribution to
pension schemes, discretionary bonus relating to the financial
performance of the Group and individual performance, ad hoc
rewards, share options and other competitive fringe benefits
such as medical and life insurances. Details of the emoluments
of the Directors and the five highest paid individuals of the
Group are set out in note 10 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests in

Securities

At 31 March 2022, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executives of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”)) as recorded in the
register maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 352
of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors adopted by the Company (“EIHL
Securities Code”) were as follows:

(a) Long position interests in the Company
(i) Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each of the

EERBREITRAEBZRESER

R20293A31H EFRARAZEEHITHRAR
RARR REREAE (EER (EFERAEK
o) (1R85 REIE RG] ) EXVER) Z Bfn - 12
Bty REEE T A AR RREES LR RF
PIE352M5EIF 2 ErCMATae sz am AR
ARBARREAZ (EFETEFRHHIEF
58 ([REERBSTH)ARTAER
NE| LB PT Ess RORB AT

(@) RARRBIZMf B
(i) AATEREEO.OLET > LER

Company (the “Shares”) (e 1)
Number of
Shares % of issued
Capacity/ interested voting Shares
Name of Director Nature of interests EEERZ HEBTE
EEAR B, EaEy ii&vig: 4= ERR 7T %
Ms. Luk Siu Man, Semon Interest of spouse 2,747,610,489 T4.71%
(“Ms. Semon Luk”) BB (Note)
BehEZrt ([REZd]) (H1aE)
Mr. Yeung Ching Loong, Eligible beneficiary of 2,747,610,489 14.71%
Alexander (“Mr. Alex Yeung”)  a private discretionary trust (Note)
BEELE ([1HBEE]) FABIBEFEZEERIEA (H1aE)
Ms. Fan Man Seung, Vanessa Beneficial owner 10,500,000 0.29%
(“Ms. Vanessa Fan”) EniEAA
SR (e L))
Note: Hiat

These Shares were held by Emperor International Group
Holdings Limited (“Emperor International Group Holdings”),
a wholly-owned subsidiary of Albert Yeung Holdings Limited
(“AY Holdings”). AY Holdings is held by First Trust Services AG
(formerly known as First Trust Services GmbH) (“First Trust”)
in trust for a private discretionary trust set up by Dr. Yeung Sau
Shing, Albert (“Dr. Albert Yeung”). Dr. Albert Yeung, as founder
of the private discretionary trust, had deemed interests in the
said Shares held by Emperor International Group Holdings.
By virtue of being the spouse of Dr. Albert Yeung, Ms. Semon
Luk had deemed interests in the same Shares whereas Mr. Alex
Yeung also had deemed interests in the same Shares by
virtue of being one of the eligible beneficiaries of such private
discretionary trust.
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(ii) Debentures (ii) EREE

Amount of

debentures

Name of Director Capacity/Nature of interests held

EENS B REHE FEEERESE

Mr. Wong Chi Fai Interest in a controlled corporation HK$2,000,000

(“Mr. Bryan Wong”) =R kil Py I e 2,000,000/ 7T
mEEBEE ([FEE])

|

(b) Long position interests in ordinary shares of  (b) RiEE EE 2 EBR 2 1f B i
associated corporations

Number
of shares % of issued
Name of associated Capacity/ interested  voting shares
Name of Director corporation Nature of interests FEREZ EE BT
BEEpR HEEE 8 27 VR +:3:3-1 BROBE BEREERD%
Ms. Semon Luk Emperor E Hotel Interest of spouse 851,352,845 71.11%
BE+ REREHE foiB e
Emperor W&J - Ditto - 4,298,610,000 63.41%
HEHBRIRE - [ k-
Emperor Culture - Ditto - 2,371,313,094 73.80%
REXLEXE - [l k-
Ulferts - Ditto - 600,000,000 75.00%
Bt - A E-
Mr. Alex Yeung Emperor E Hotel Eligible beneficiary of 851,352,845 71.11%
BRE REREHE a private discretionary trust
MARBEEZEERXAA
Emperor W&J - Ditto - 4,298,610,000 63.41%
REBRIKE - [F k-
Emperor Culture - Ditto - 2,371,313,094 73.80%
REXLEE - A E-
Ulferts - Ditto - 600,000,000 75.00%
&1t - A £-
Note: Mt -
Emperor E Hotel, Emperor W&J, Emperor Culture and Ulferts are REMRLAE REFRURE REXLEERR
companies with their shares listed on the Stock Exchange. These L RIRM B R P BT 2 A R) - ZE R B AEE
shares were ultimately owned by the respective private discretionary AABRBELE(GETTRAIA)RRER -Z
trusts which are also founded by Dr. Albert Yeung. By virtue of being REZLTABELTZRE WRERAHEEERR
the spouse of Dr. Albert Yeung, Ms. Semon Luk had deemed interests MHER MEMSEERZELABNBRETEZE
in the same shares whereas Mr. Alex Yeung also had deemed interests BRI mAZ— TR REAHRRG 6
in the same shares by virtue of being one of the eligible beneficiaries o

of such private discretionary trusts.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2022, none of the
Directors nor chief executives of the Company had any
interests or short positions in any Shares, underlying Shares
or debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO).

Share Options

The Company has adopted a Share Option Scheme. Particulars
of the Share Option Scheme are set out in note 37 to the
consolidated financial statements. No option was granted,
exercised, cancelled or lapsed under the Share Option Scheme
since its adoption.

Arrangements to Purchase Shares or

Debentures

Other than the Share Option Scheme as stated above, at
the end of the Year and at no time during the Year was the
Company, any of its holding companies, subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries, a party to any arrangements to enable the
Directors or chief executives of the Company or their spouses
or children under 18 years of age to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company
or any other body corporate.
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Other Persons’ Interests in Shares and B ALTHAROREBERSD 2

Underlying Shares

So far as is known to any Director or chief executives of the 72022438318 HEMESEH AR A&7
Company, as at 31 March 2022, the following persons or HEABMA BRESRARAERITHRAEIN
corporations (other than a Director or a chief executive of the T %I A 4= sk % B 5 B 17 sk 48 B8 A% 15 o # B s
Company) who had, or were deemed or taken to have interests & & 8k i & {E A i 8 R 1L R 7B 5 L B3 & (4091
and short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares as 336§ EFE 2 Z it ([ ERLM]) 2 #
recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 336z K&IAB I T

of the SFO (“DI Register”) were as follows:

Long positions in the Shares NS A Sy
% of
Number of voting Shares
Shares interested HEZTE
Name Capacity/Nature of interests BEEERZ BEER MG
28 HE B, EaEy ii&vig: 4= %
AY Holdings Interest in a controlled corporation 2,747,610,489 74.71%
BRKEZEZER RZZEGSEE P 2w
First Trust Trustee of a privaje discretionary trust 2,747,610,489 T4.71%
LABIBEFEZXFEA
Dr. Albert Yeung Founder of a private discretionary trust 2,747,610,489 T4.71%
HiE L FLAMBETEZEIZA
Note: These Shares were the same Shares of which Ms. Semon Luk  A/it: ZEBRMDIHEX[EZRERITRAE ZBAE
and Mr. Alex Yeung had deemed interests as those set out under mlzBQ@)BmEEL L RIGEERERFER
Section (a)(i) of “Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests in w2 HEAR G ©

Securities” above.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2022, the Directors [ F X4 5 &5 H202243 8310 £ F 5 K
or chief executives of the Company were not aware of any 2R&E|HE®TEAB W AR EMA LA
other person or corporation (other than the Directors and E (ZEZRARAESTHRABRIN) REM K
chief executives of the Company) who had, or were deemed or S HBER MNP HEE LKA AW EIEHEE A
taken to have, any interests or short positions in any Shares or L Az &t 2 (E{A S SOA R ©

underlying Shares as recorded in the DI Register.
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Directors’ Interests in Competing Business
The Group is engaged principally in property investments,
property development and hospitality in Greater China and
overseas. As at 31 March 2022, the following Directors are
considered to have interests in other activities that compete
or are likely to compete, directly or indirectly, with the said
core business of the Group, all within meaning of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
(“Listing Rules”™):

Ms. Semon Luk, being the spouse of Dr. Albert Yeung
as founder of a private discretionary trust, is deemed
to be interested in various companies under such trust
which are also engaging in property investment and
development. As Ms. Semon Luk is not involved in the
Company’s day-to-day operations and management, the
Group is capable on its business independently of and
at arm’s length from such disclosed deemed competing
business;

Mr. Cheung Ping Keung had directorship role in several
companies under the aforesaid trust which are also
engaged in property investment and development
business. Given that he cannot control the board of the
Company and those several companies, the Directors
considered the Group’s interests are adequately
safeguarded,;

Mr. Alex Yeung, being one of the beneficiaries of the
aforesaid trust, is deemed to be interested in various
companies under such trust which are also engaged
in property investment and development. He also
had shareholding and directorship interests in private
companies engaged in property investment. Given that
(a) he cannot control the board of the Company and the
companies under such trust; and (b) size and dominance
of the portfolio of the Group, the Directors considered the
Group’s interests are adequately safeguarded; and

Mr. Bryan Wong and his associates and Ms. Vanessa Fan
had shareholding and directorship interests in private
companies engaged in property investment business. In
light of the size and dominance of the portfolio of the
Group, such disclosed deemed competing business is
considered immaterial.
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Purchase, Sale or Redemption of the BE - -HESLEEEALAT LHES

Company’s Listed Securities

During the Year, the Company repurchased US$250,000,000 M AFE A2 A KR2021F118 K12A K K&
4.5% Notes due September 2023 (Stock Code: 40367) in a total 202241 A BBl A & 4858 A ££139,360,0003 JTHY
aggregate principal amount of US$139,360,000 in November 7202349 A 2| Hi<¢ % 4250,000,0003 7T #74.5%
and December 2021 and January 2022, leaving the remaining  Zi& (J&{n 5% 1 40367)  ZE 2R M A&
principal amount of the Notes at US$110,640,000. /£110,640,000% 7T °

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor its KB EXFIHEEEN RAFE KRR ENE
subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any of the RAFEEER - HEXBERTRAAR EHES -
Company’s listed securities during the Year.

Pre-Emptive Rights BrRBEERE

There are no provision for pre-emptive rights under the ZARAZAGIMEISBREEMBEBLARD
Company’s Bye-laws, or the laws of Bermuda, which would ®IZEZLHIRABREERRBEEHNRH 2 ELBEE
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basisto  ##i7E °

existing shareholders.

Directors’ Material Interests in Transactions, ZBERXZ ZTH SaORBEXR
Arrangements, Contracts and Connected ZRERER

Transactions

During the Year, the Group had the following transactions RAFE AEEBZCEARNG@EEAT (EER
with connected persons (as defined in the Listing Rules) of the WA EIT TR S MAETESTHNZER
Company and certain Directors had material interests, directly S EEskEEHE A E AR

or indirectly, in such transactions:
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A. Continuing Connected Transactions - 2020

Master Leasing Agreements
Date: 3 December 2020

Parties:
(1) Agreement 1: The Company and Emperor W&J

(2) Agreement 2: The Company and Emperor Capital
Group

(3) Agreement 3: The Company and Emperor Culture
(4) Agreement 4: The Company and Ulferts
(5) Agreement 5: Emperor E Hotel and Emperor W&J

(6) Agreement 6: The Company and (1) New Media Group
Investment Limited; (2) Albert Yeung Entertainment
Holdings Limited; (3) Albert Yeung Financial Holdings
Limited; (4) Albert Yeung Investments Holdings
Limited; and (5) Albert Yeung Management Company
Limited (collectively referred to as the “Non-Listed
Group”)

(the above counter-parties are collectively as “members
of Emperor Group” and Agreement 1 to Agreement 6 are
collectively as “2020 MLAS”)

Term: From 1 April 2021 to 31 March 2024

Nature:

Each of 2020 MLAs sets out the framework of the terms
governing all existing and future tenancy/licensing
transaction(s) (“Tenancy Transactions”) regarding leasing
of certain office properties or other properties (including
retail shop, warehouses, carpark spaces, signage or
signboard spaces) to the members of Emperor Group with
aggregate tenancy annual caps being set for each of the
financial years ended/ending 31 March 2022, 2023 and
2024 (“Aggregate Tenancy Annual Caps”).
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Pursuant to the 2020 MLAs, relevant members of the
Group and any member(s) of Emperor Group (as the
case may be) may from time to time enter into any
definitive leasing agreements in relation to any Tenancy
Transactions (“Definitive Leasing Agreement(s)”). The
terms of each of Definitive Leasing Agreements shall
be on normal commercial terms or on terms which are
no less favorable available to the Group than terms
offered by independent third parties. The terms and
rental shall be subject to arm’s length negotiation and
be determined based on the condition of the properties
and with reference to the then prevailing market rents on
property(ies) comparable in location, area and permitted
use.

Connected relationship and Directors’ interest:

The Company and the members of Emperor Group
were all indirectly controlled by private discretionary
trusts which are also founded by Dr. Albert Yeung. As
such, under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, each of
the members of the Emperor Group was a deemed
connected person of the Company. Ms. Semon Luk and
Mr. Alex Yeung had deemed interest in the transactions
by virtue of being respectively an associate of the eligible
beneficiaries and an eligible beneficiary of the private
discretionary trusts controlling the members of Emperor
Group.

Announcement: 3 December 2020

Circular: 24 December 2020

Independent Shareholders’ approval: 2 February 2021
Aggregate amounts:

During the Year, the aggregate amounts of the rental

income of the Tenancy Transactions from the relevant
members of the Emperor Group were as follows:-

Members of Emperor Group HESEEREAR
Emperor W&J HEFRIKE
Emperor Capital Group REFFEE
Emperor Culture REXILERE
Ulferts Bt

Non-Listed Group JEEMEHE

RIZ2020F AR E % A KB HBKE
RAEREKEIAKE AR (RBERME)
AR EMEERZFILEXBERZ
(TEXEEWH]) - FEABEmRHE 2 F
RER— R EGRRBTERBILE =
T T AR ZAGHRET L - R L& B
NFEERE YRIREZSEDENRR L2
ZAAMEENE HERFAARZVEZ
ERMISHSEE -

HEBRRES2ER:

ARRREEKEKE RRBELARIGE
B (BB LIRREISLA) REES - Bt - R
BEEMRAUEIAE  REEBEEXKE QA
WESARRZEEAL XL RIGRE
DRRENRERBERE AR ZZFLA
MEEEAERIEBAZBEAR—UA
BRI WRERERRRZTHEE

N
S o
I

A% 2020612 A3H

BEK 20209712 4248

B R R L& 1 2021F2 H2H
e

RAFE RREKEEHREKE 2R
ZHERSHESWALENT : -

HK$

BT
68,920,383
9,812,230
12,266,378
6,943,168
21,905,691
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B. Continuing Connected Transaction - Service

agreement (as amended from time to time)
(“Service Agreement”) in relation to the
operation of GEH

Date: 19 February 2010 (for the Service Agreement) and
4 May 2020 (for the Addendum)

Parties and connected relationship:

(1) Tin Hou Limited (“Tin Hou”), an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of Emperor E Hotel which is
an indirect non wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company

(2) SJM Resorts, S.A. (formerly known as Sociedade
de Jogos de Macau, S.A.) (“SIM”), a company
incorporated in Macau, which is principally engaged
in gaming business in Macau and is one of the six
concessionaires/sub-concessionaries licensed to
carry on casino operations in Macau. SJM has 19.99%
equity interest in Luck United Holdings Limited, an
indirect non wholly-owned subsidiary of Emperor
E Hotel, and is a connected person of the Company
within the meaning of the Listing Rules by virtue of
being a substantial shareholder of a subsidiary of the
Company.

Term:

From 1 October 2009 to termination upon occurrence
of certain events, including the expiration of SJM’s
gambling license under the Gaming Concession Contract
on 31 March 2020 or any earlier termination thereof or
winding up or cessation of business of either party. As
supplemented by the Addendum, the term of the Service
Agreement is extended from 1 April 2020 to 26 June 2022.

Nature:

The provision of services comprising management
services and promotion services by Tin Hou to SJM in
relation to the operation of the GEH whereas Tin Hou
together with the nominated junket promoter (a fellow
subsidiary of Tin Hou and wholly-owned by Emperor
E Hotel) shall be entitled to a share of the gross win
and gross loss in respect of the monthly operating
performance of the gaming area of the GEH and bear
all necessary operational expenses in relation to the
operation of the gaming area.
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N .

Announcements: nE

13 May 2020, 1 April 2022 (Emperor E Hotel) and 15 June 20209F5A13H +2022F4A1H (2R 4
2022 JEE ) M2022%6 A15H

Net receipt: FU s

During the Year, the Group’s net receipt under the services
agreement amount to HK$94,628,000.

Remark: On 15 June 2022, both parties entered into an
agreement for the provision of certain services
to enable SJM to operate its gaming operation
in GEH for the period from 27 June 2022 to
31 December 2022. Details of the transactions
are set out in the joint announcement of the
Company and Emperor E Hotel dated 15 June
2022.

Continuing Connected Transaction - Master
Agreement (“Master Agreement”)

Date: 29 July 2020

Parties:
(1) The Company

(2) Ulferts
Term: From 29 July 2020 to 31 March 2023

Nature:

Ulferts and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as
“Ulferts Group”) shall (i) sell furniture and accessories
products; (ii) sell furniture coupons; and (iii) provide
furniture procurement consultancy services and such
other types of ancillary services to members of the Group
for projects and investments or for own consumption in
the ordinary course of business of the Group.

Connected relationship and Directors’ interest:

The Company and Ulferts were indirectly controlled by
the respective private discretionary trusts which are both
founded by Dr. Albert Yeung. As such, under Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules, Ulferts is a deemed connected person
of the Company. Ms. Semon Luk and Mr. Alex Yeung had
deemed interest in the transaction by virtue of being
respectively an associate of the eligible beneficiaries and
an eligible beneficiary of the relevant private discretionary
trust controlling Ulferts.

Announcement: 29 July 2020
Aggregate amount:

During the Year, the amounts of HK$129,000 was paid to
Ulferts Group for the purchase of furniture.
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D. Discloseable and Connected Transaction -

Sale and Purchase Agreement in relation
to the disposal of entire interest in Fortune
Silver Limited

Date: 28 December 2021

Parties:
(1) Emperor Property Investment Limited (“EPIL”), a
directly wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

(2) New Global Developments Limited (“New
Global”), which is indirectly controlled by a private
discretionary trust as founded by Dr. Albert Yeung

Nature:

EPIL entered into a sale and purchase agreement with
New Global, pursuant to which EPIL conditionally agreed
to sell and New Global conditionally agreed to acquire
(a) the entire equity interest of Fortune Silver Limited
(“Fortune Silver”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company which holds certain properties located
at (i) Pun Tak Building, Nos. 478-484 Lockhart Road and
Nos. 21-27 Percival Street, Hong Kong; (ii) Nos. 474 and
476 Lockhart Road, Hong Kong; (iii) No. 46 Leighton Road
and Nos. 44 and 48 Leighton Road, Lai Chi Building, Hong
Kong, and (b) the entire amount of the loan due and
payable by Fortune Silver to EPIL as at completion of
the disposal. The consideration for the transaction was
approximately HK$429,205,000.

Connected relationship and Directors’ interest:

The Company and New Global were indirectly controlled
by respective private discretionary trusts which are both
founded by Dr. Albert Yeung. As such, under Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules, New Global is a deemed connected
person of the Company. Ms. Semon Luk and Mr. Alex
Yeung had deemed interest in the transaction by
virtue of being respectively an associate of the eligible
beneficiaries and an eligible beneficiary of the relevant
private discretionary trust controlling New Global.

Announcement: 28 December 2021
Circular: 26 January 2022
Independent Shareholders’ approval: 1 March 2022

Completion: 7 March 2022
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Compliance with Disclosure Requirements
Save as “Rental income from related companies” (under
the 2020 MLAs) and “Purchase of furniture from a related
company” (under the Master Agreement) in the amount of
HK$119,848,000 and HK$129,000 respectively for the Year as
shown in note 47(a) to the consolidated financial statements
which constituted continuing connected transactions (“CCTs”)
of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules,
all other transactions as shown in note 47 are connected
transactions exempted from announcement, reporting, annual
review, and independent shareholders’ approval requirements
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The Company has
complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance with
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in respect of the above non-
exempt connected transactions.

Auditor’s Letter on Non-Exempt Continuing

Connected Transactions

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s
non-exempt CCTs in accordance with Hong Kong Standard
on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical
Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note
740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions
under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” (the “Auditor’s Letter”)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants.

The auditor has issued an unqualified conclusions in respect
of the non-exempt CCTs disclosed by the Group in accordance
with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the Auditor’s
Letter has been provided by the Company to the Stock
Exchange.
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Confirmation of Independent Non-executive

Directors

Pursuant to rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the INEDs have
reviewed the non-exempt CCTs and the Auditor’s Letter and
have confirmed that these transactions have been entered
into by the Group:

(1) in the ordinary and usual course of its business of the
Group;

(2) on normal commercial terms or better (as the case may
be); and

(3) according to the agreement governing them on terms
that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
Shareholders as a whole.

Save as disclosed above, there was no transaction,
arrangement or contract which was significant in relation
to the Group’s business to which the Company, or any of its
holding companies, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a
party and in which a Director or his/her connected entity had
a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at
the end of the Year or at any time during the Year.

Charitable Donations
During the Year, the Group made charitable donations
amounting to approximately HK$13,148,000.

Major Customers and Suppliers

During the Year, the aggregate amount of revenue attributable
to the Group’s five largest customers represented 28% of the
Group’s total revenue. The largest customer accounted for
11% to the Group’s total revenue.

During the Year, the aggregate amount of purchases and
services received attributable to the Group’s five largest
suppliers represented 15% of the Group’s total purchases and
services received. The largest supplier accounted for 5% to the
Group’s total purchases and services received.

None of the Directors, their close associates or any
Shareholders (which, to the knowledge of the Directors,
owning more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital),
had a beneficial interest in the share capital of any of the
above major customers or suppliers of the Group.
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Sufficiency of Public Float EHABERE

Based on the information publicly available to the Company REARQRAEZ ARERREESZHAN BT
and within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the latest ZF{ATZ REERATAE ARRBEITH
practicable date prior to the issue of the annual report, there D #E3F T B BIFTIR & & L25%2 B A R
was sufficient public float of at least 25% of the Company’s k&

issued Shares as required under the Listing Rules.

Auditor ¥ BB
A resolution will be submitted to the 2022 AGM to re-appoint H2002F B RBAFA G LBRE—EBHEEH
Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as auditor of the Company.  ZIE{EE) « FER 5 @ 5HAI1T AN QR ZEED

ZRFEER
On behalf of the Board REEFE
Luk Siu Man, Semon *E
Chairperson pENE
Hong Kong, 23 June 2022 %75 202296 H23H
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The Board is committed to maintaining a high standard
of corporate governance for the Company so as to ensure
“Accountability, Responsibility and Transparency” towards
Shareholders, stakeholders, investors as well as employees of
the Company.

The Directors have adopted various policies to ensure
compliance with the code provisions of the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) under Appendix 14 to the
Listing Rules. During the Year, the Company had fully complied
with all the code provisions of the CG Code as set out in
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules.

THE BOARD

Roles and Responsibilities of The Board

The Company is headed by the Board which is responsible
for the leadership, control and promotion of success of the
Group in the interests of the Shareholders by directing and
supervising its affairs and by formulating strategic directions
and monitoring the financial and management performance
of the Group.

Board Composition

As at 31 March 2022, the Board comprised eight Directors, with
one Non-executive Director who is also the Chairperson of the
Board, four Executive Directors and three INEDs. The Board
considers that this composition provides a strong independent
element with a balance of power and influence between
individuals on the Board and an appropriate mix of skill,
knowledge, experience and diversity. The biographies of the
Directors are set out on pages 16 to 20 of this annual report
under the “Biographies of Directors and Senior Management”
section.

Chairperson and Chief Executives

Ms. Semon Luk has been appointed as the Chairperson
since 1999 and provides leadership for the Board. With the
support of the company secretary of the Company (“Company
Secretary”), she ensures that all Directors receive, in a timely
manner, adequate information and are properly briefed
on issues arising at Board meeting. She is responsible for
ensuring that the Board works effectively and performs its
responsibilities. She holds meetings without the presence of
Executive Directors with the INEDs at least once a year.

Both Mr. Bryan Wong and Ms. Vanessa Fan have been
appointed as Managing Directors of the Company, and are
responsible for the Group’s strategic planning, business
growth and development.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

The INEDs are all professionals with well recognized
experience and expertise in legal, accounting or auditing
field who contribute impartial view and make independent
judgment on issues to be discussed at Board meetings. Each
of them has been appointed for an initial term of three years
subject to early termination with written notice being served
by either party. The terms of the INEDs are also subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election provision under the
Bye-laws of the Company.

The Company had received a confirmation of independence
from each of the INEDs. Based on the annual review conducted
by the Nomination Committee, the Board considered each of
them to be independent by reference to the factors as set out
in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The INEDs had been expressly
identified as such in all corporate communications of the
Company that disclose the names of Directors.

Delegation to the Management

The management is led by the Executive Committee of the
Company (which comprises all the Executive Directors of the
Board) and has been delegated powers and authorities of the
Board to carry out the day-to-day management and operation
of the Group, formulate business policies and make decision
on key business issues except the following matters as set out
in a “Formal Schedule on matters reserved for and delegated
by the Board”:

e Determining the Group’s objective and strategies;

e Approving annual and interim results and financial
reporting;

e Declaring or recommending payment of dividends or
other distributions;

e Approving major changes that require notification by
announcement under the Listing Rules;

e Approving publication of announcements for notifiable
transactions under Listing Rules;

* Approving non-exempted connected transactions/non-
exempted continuing connected transactions (other than
those transactions took place from time to time under the
master agreement(s) previously approved by the Board/
Shareholders (as the case may be)) under the Listing
Rules; and

e Approving major capital restructuring and issue of new
securities of the Company.
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Induction, Support and Professional

Development of Directors

All Directors have been given relevant guideline materials
regarding the duties and responsibilities of being a Director,
the relevant laws and regulations applicable to the Directors,
duty of disclosure of equity and business interest of the
Group and such induction materials will also be provided to
newly appointed Directors shortly upon their appointment
as Directors. All Directors have been updated on the latest
developments regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable
regulatory requirement to ensure compliance and enhance
their awareness of good corporate governance practices.
There is a procedure agreed by the Board to enable Directors,
upon reasonable request, to seek independent professional
advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s
expenses in order to assist them to perform their duties to the
Company.

The Directors confirmed that they have complied with the
code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code on Directors’ training.
During the Year, each Director had participated in continuous
professional development by attending e-seminars/reading
materials on the following topics to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills and provided a record of training to the
Company:

Name of Directors

EEpR

Ms. Luk Siu Man, Semon
2t

Mr. Yeung Ching Loong, Alexander
BB RE

Mr Wong Chi Fai
mEEERYE

Ms. Fan Man Seung, Vanessa
BRI T

Mr. Cheung Ping Keung

SR MR 98 7t A4

Mr. Wong Tak Ming, Gary
=IBAKE

Mr. Chan Hon Piu
BREZERE

Mr. Chu Kar Wing (appointed on 19 August 2021)
KRELTE (R2021F8H19HEZ(F)

Ms. Cheng Ka Yu (retired on 19 August 2021)
Bt (R2021F8H19H R T)
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Topics on training covered

FRRE 2 &3 £ RE

(a) corporate governance
EER

(b) regulatory
RE

(c) finance
B 1%

(d) industry-specific
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Relationship between the Board Members EFEEXNERZBRE

Ms. Semon Luk is the mother of Mr. Alex Yeung. Save as X T ABEEZBH B EETREN £
disclosed above, there are no other relationship (including FEZMBETWEMER (REMSE £% K
financial, business, family or other materials/relevant BsiHEMEKR HHEBEZK) -

relations) among Directors.

Directors’ Insurance EE=2RE

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in ARG ERES ALY 2 T REARFAE
respect of any legal action against the Directors. HEE 2 RIRE B

Directors’ Attendance and Time Commitment EEZLFEALEFRERA

The attendance of Directors at the meetings during the Yearis AFEEEHF R BEREATIWT
set out below:

No. of meetings attended/held

HESE STeERY
Corporate
Audit Remuneration Nomination Governance  Executive General
Name of Directors Board Committee Committee  Committee  Committee Committee Meeting
LEER
Espg g ¥iZEE FMzEe REZEE ZEg® #Hf1ZE% LV N-1
Non-executive Director FHTES
Ms. Luk Siu Man, Semon =y oo 5/5 - - - - - 3/3
Executive Directors HES
Mr. Yeung Ching Loong, BRELE 5/5 - - 1/1 - 16/16 3/3
Alexander
Mr. Wong Chi Fai (Note 1) BELELE 5/5 - 1/1 - - 16/16 3/3
(Bizt1)
Ms. Fan Man Seung, Vanessa BEEZL 5/5 - - - 1/1 16/16 3/3
(Note 2) (Hit2)
Mr. Cheung Ping Keung RMELE 5/5 - - - - 16/16 3/3
Independent Non-executive BUFHTES
Directors
Mr. Wong Tak Ming, Gary EEHLE 5/5 33 - 1/1 1/1 - 3/3
(Note 3) (H33)
Mr. Chan Hon Piu (Note 4) REEEE 5/5 3/3 1 - 11 - 3/3
(§izt4)
Mr. Chu Kar Wing (Note 5) KEEEE 4/4 2/2 1/1 - - - 11
(H7i5)
Ms. Cheng Ka Yu (Note 6) =nzt 1/1 1/1 - 1/1 - - 2/2
(#it6)
Total number of meetingsheld  #£77& % 2 2% 5 3 1 1 1 16 3
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Notes:

1.  Chairman of Executive Committee

2. Chairperson of Corporate Governance Committee (“CG Committee”)
3. Chairman of Audit Committee

4. Chairman of Remuneration Committee

5. Mr. Chu Kar Wing was elected as Director in the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 19 August 2021 (“2021 AGM”) and
was appointed as the Chairman of the Nomination Committee as
well as a member of Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee
on the same day

6. Ms. Cheng Ka Yu retired as Director at 2021 AGM and automatically
ceased to act as the Chairperson of Nomination Committee as well
as a member of Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee

During the Year, the Chairperson held a meeting with INEDs
without the presence of Executive Directors in compliance
with code provision C.2.7 of the CG Code.

The Board has reviewed the contribution required from each
Director to perform his/her responsibilities to the Company
and is satisfied that each Director had been spending sufficient
time in performing his/her responsibilities during the Year.

Board Meetings and Proceedings

Regular Board meetings were held at approximately quarterly
interval. The Directors have access to the advice and services
of the Company Secretary and key officers of the company
secretarial team for ensuring that the Board procedures as
well as all applicable rules and regulations are followed.

With the assistance of the Company Secretary, the meeting
agenda is set by the Chairperson of the Board in consultation
with other Board members. Board meeting notice was sent
to the Directors at least 14 days prior to each regular Board
meeting. For all other Board meetings, reasonable notice
was given. Board papers and related materials which provide
appropriate, accurate, clear, complete and reliable information
are generally sent to all Directors and relevant committee
members at least 3 days before each Board meeting and
Board committee meeting (or other agreed period) to enable
the Directors to make informed decisions.
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Minutes of Board meetings and Board committee meetings
are drafted by the secretary of the meetings and recorded
in sufficient details the matters considered and decisions
reached, with draft and final versions being circulated to the
Directors for their comment and records respectively, within
reasonable time after the meetings are held. Originals of such
minutes, being kept by the Company Secretary, are open for
inspection at any reasonable time on reasonable notice by any
Director.

If a Director has conflict of interest in a matter to be
considered by the Board which the Board has determined to
be material, the matter will be dealt with by a physical Board
meeting rather than a written resolution. That Director will
abstain from voting on the relevant Board resolution in which
he/she or any of his/her associates has a material interest
and he/she shall not be counted in the quorum present at
the Board meeting. INEDs who, and whose close associates,
have no material interest in the transaction are present at that
Board meeting.

BOARD COMMITTEES

To assist the Board in execution of its duties and facilitate
effective management, certain functions of the Board have
been delegated by the Board to the Executive Committee,
Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee, Nomination
Committee and Corporate Governance Committee.

All members of the Audit Committee and the majority
members of the Remuneration Committee and Nomination
Committee are INEDs. Clear written terms of reference of all
the Board Committees are given to the respective members
of these Committees. Details of the Board Committees are set
out below:

1. Executive Committee (set up on 22 October 2014)
The Executive Committee consists of all Executive
Directors namely Mr. Bryan Wong (Chairman of the
Committee), Mr. Alex Yeung, Ms. Vanessa Fan and
Mr. Donald Cheung.

N—r
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The primary duties of the Executive Committee are
(a) formulating business policies and making decision
(including entering into transactions) on matters relating
to the management and day-to-day operations of the
Company; (b) making and reviewing corporate/finance/
treasury planning, investment and operation strategy of
the Group; (c) discussing and approving any financial,
borrowing, charging and guarantee commitment to
be made or on behalf of the Group; (d) approving
transactions, including discloseable transactions,
exempted connected transactions and non-exempted
continuing connected transactions took place from
time to time under the master agreement(s) previously
approved by the Board/Shareholders (as the case may
be) under the Listing Rules; and (e) having all power and
authorities of the Board except those matters specifically
reserved for the full Board as set out in the “Formal
Schedule on matters reserved for and delegated by the
Board” adopted by the Board from time to time.

Audit Committee (set up on 23 September 2004)

The Audit Committee consists of three INEDs, namely
Mr. Wong Tak Ming, Gary (Chairman of the Committee),
Mr. Chan Hon Piu and Mr. Chu Kar Wing.

The specific written terms of reference of the Audit
Committee is available on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company. The Audit Committee is
primarily responsible for (a) making recommendations
to the Board on the appointment, re-appointment
and removal of the external auditor; (b) reviewing and
monitoring the external auditor’s independence and
objectivity and effectiveness of the audit process; (c)
approving the remuneration and terms of engagement of
external auditor; and (d) reviewing financial information
and overseeing the financial reporting system, risk
management and internal control systems.

Emperor International Holdings Limited 3EE2£ME () BRAE
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A summary of the work performed by the Audit
Committee during the Year is set out as follows:

i. reviewed with the management/finance personnel
and/or the external auditor the effectiveness of audit
process and the accounting principles and practices
adopted by the Group, the accuracy and fairness of
the annual consolidated financial statements for the
financial year ended 31 March 2021 (“Previous Year”)
and the interim consolidated financial statements for
the six months ended 30 September 2021,

ii. reviewed with the senior management and finance
personnel the effectiveness of the risk management
and internal control systems of the Group during the
Previous Year;

iii. performed annual review of the non-exempted
continuing connected transactions of the Group for
the Previous Year;

iv. recommended to the Board on the re-appointment of
external auditor at 2021 AGM; and

v. approved the audit plans for the Year, reviewed the
independence of the external auditor and approved
its engagement.

Remuneration Committee (set up on 19 July 2005)
The Remuneration Committee consists of three members,
namely Mr. Chan Hon Piu (Chairman of the Committee)
and Mr. Chu Kar Wing, both being INEDs, and Mr. Bryan
Wong, being the Managing Director.

The specific written terms of reference of the
Remuneration Committee is available on the websites of
the Stock Exchange and the Company. The Remuneration
Committee is primarily responsible for making
recommendation to the Board on (a) the Company’s
policy and structure of all remuneration of Directors
and senior management; (b) the remuneration of Non-
executive Directors; and (c) the specific remuneration
packages for individual Executive Directors and senior
management. Details of the remuneration of each of
the Directors for the Year are set out in note 10 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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A summary of the work performed by the Remuneration
Committee during the Year is set out as follows:

i.  reviewed the Directors’ fees and made recommendation
to the Board; and

ii. reviewed the remuneration structure/package of
the Executive Directors and senior management and
recommended the Board to approve their specific
packages.

Nomination Committee (set up on 28 March 2012)
The Nomination Committee consists of three members,
namely Mr. Chu Kar Wing (Chairman of the Committee)
and Mr. Wong Tak Ming, Gary, both being INEDs, and
Mr. Alex Yeung, being an Executive Director.

The specific written terms of reference of the Nomination
Committee is available on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company. The primary duties of the
Nomination Committee are (a) reviewing the structure,
size, composition and diversity of the Board; (b)
reviewing the Board Diversity Policy; (c) reviewing the
Nomination Policy and identifying potential candidates
for directorship; (d) assessing the independence of INEDs;
(e) reviewing the time commitment of each Director
in performing his/her responsibilities; and (f) making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-
appointment, re-election or re-designation of Directors
and succession planning for Directors.

A summary of the work performed by the Nomination
Committee during the Year is set out as follows:

i. reviewed the structure, size, composition and
diversity of the Board,;

ii. reviewed the independence of INEDs;

iii. reviewed the confirmation from the Directors on time
commitment in performing their duties as Directors;
and

iv. made recommendation to the Board on the
nomination for election and re-election of Directors
at the 2021 AGM.
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Board Diversity Policy

As adopted by the Board, the Board Diversity Policy aims
to achieve diversity on the Board in the broadest sense in
order to have a balance of skills, experience and diversity
of perspectives to the business nature of the Company.
Selection of candidates on the Board is based on a
range of diversity perspectives, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of
service. The Nomination Committee will also assess the
merits and contribution of any Director proposed for re-
election or any candidate nominated to be appointed as
Director that will bring to the Board against the objective
criteria, with due regard for the benefits of diversity on the
Board that would complement the Company’s corporate
strategy.

Nomination Policy

The Company had adopted the Nomination Policy of the
Group which aims at assisting the Nomination Committee
in identifying and nominating suitable candidates for
directorship based on the Board Diversity Policy and
sets out the nomination criteria and the nomination
procedures for (i) nominating new Director to fill a casual
vacancy on the Board; (ii) making recommendation to
Shareholders regarding any Director proposed for election
or re-election of Director at general meeting; and (iii)
nomination by Shareholders on election of new Director.

CG Commiittee (set up on 28 March 2012)

The CG Committee consists of five members, namely
Ms. Vanessa Fan (Chairperson of the Committee), being
the Managing Director, Mr. Wong Tak Ming, Gary and
Mr. Chan Hon Piu, both being INEDs, a representative
of company secretarial function and a representative of
finance and accounts function.
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The specific written terms of reference of the CG
Committee is available on the website of the Company.
The primary duties of the CG Committee are (a) reviewing
the policies and practices on corporate governance of the
Company (“CG Policy”) and making recommendations
to the Board; (b) reviewing and monitoring the policies
and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements of the Company; (c) developing, reviewing
and monitoring the code of conduct applicable to
Directors and relevant employees of the Group on
dealings with the Company’s securities; (d) reviewing
and monitoring the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management; and
(e) reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG
Code and disclosure in this report.

A summary of the work performed by the CG Committee
during the Year is set out as follows:

i. reviewed the CG Policy and made recommendation
to the Board;

ii. reviewed the policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements;

iii. reviewed the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

iv. reviewed the code of conduct applicable to Directors
and relevant employees of the Group; and

v. reviewed the Company’s compliance with the CG
Code and disclosure in Corporate Governance Report.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary whose appointment was approved by
the Board, plays an important role in supporting the Board for
ensuring good information flow within the Board and that the
Board policy and procedures are followed. She is responsible
for advising the Board on general duties and obligations of
Directors and good corporate governance issues, and has
facilitated induction and professional development of the
Directors. She has day-to-day knowledge of the Company’s
affairs. During the Year, the Company Secretary had duly
complied with the relevant professional training requirements
under Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

SECURITIES TRANSACTION OF DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted EIHL Securities Code as its own
code of conduct regarding securities transactions by Directors
on no less exacting terms than the required standards set
out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules regarding Model Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers.
Having made specific enquiry to all Directors, all of them
confirmed that they have complied with the required standard
of dealings as set out in EIHL Securities Code throughout the
Year.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities to prepare
the annual consolidated financial statements of the Group and
other financial disclosures required under the Listing Rules.
The management has provided all members of the Board
with monthly updates on internal consolidated financial
statements which give a balanced and understandable
assessment of the Group’s performance, position and
prospects as at the reporting date.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements for the
Year, the Board adopted appropriate accounting policies
and applied them consistently, made judgments and
estimates that were prudent and reasonable and ensured the
consolidated financial statements were prepared on a “going
concern” basis (with supporting assumptions or qualifications
as necessary) and showed a true view of the state of affairs
of the Group for the Year. The management had provided
sufficient explanation and information to the Board on the
consolidated financial statements to enable it to make an
informed assessment of the financial and other information
put before it for approval. The auditor of the Company had
made a statement about their reporting responsibilities in the
Independent Auditor’s Report.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

Internal control is fundamental to the successful operation
and day-to-day running of a business and it assists a company
in achieving its business objectives. Internal control policies
and procedures within the Group are with the primary
objective of providing general guidance and recommendations
on a basic framework of risk management and internal control
systems (“Control Systems”).

A review has been conducted on (i) the internal control
measures and procedures covering all material controls,
including financial, operational and compliance controls; and
(ii) risk management functions in its principal subsidiaries for
the Year as follows:

A. Goals and Objectives

The Board is responsible to ensure that the Group
establishes and maintains appropriate and effective
Control Systems. Such systems are designed to manage
rather than eliminate risks of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable, but not
absolute, assurance against material misstatement or
loss.

The key objectives of the Control Systems include:
- safeguarding assets

- ensuring completeness, accuracy and validity of
financial records and reports

- promoting adherence to policies, procedures,
regulations and laws

- promoting effectiveness and efficiency of operations
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B. Internal Control

(1) Governance Control
The control structure of the Control Systems is set
out as follows:

The Board

responsible for the Control Systems and
reviewing their effectiveness;

oversee the Control Systems on an ongoing basis
with the assistance of Audit Committee;

ensure presence of appropriate and effective
Control Systems;

define management structure with clear lines of
responsibility and limit of authority; and

determine the nature and extent of significant
risk (including the environmental, social and
governance (“ESG”) risks) that the Company
is willing to take in achieving the strategic
objectives and formulate the Group’s risk
management strategies.

Audit Committee

review and discuss the Control Systems with
the management annually to ensure that the
management has performed its duty to have
effective Control Systems. This discussion
also includes the adequacy of resources, staff
qualification and experience, and the Company’s
accounting, internal audit and financial reporting
functions and of those relating to the Company’s
ESG performance and reporting;

review the nature and extent of significant risks,
and the Group’s ability to respond to changes in
its business and the external environment;

consider major findings on internal control
matters (if any) raised by internal or external
auditors and make recommendations to the
Board; and

review and discuss annually with significant
control failings or weaknesses that are identified
by the auditors.
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Executive Committee

review the effectiveness of ESG-related risk
management and internal control systems and
report to the Audit Committee for its review.

The management (includes heads of business
units, departments and divisions)

design, implement and monitor the Control
Systems properly and ensure the Control
Systems are executed effectively;

monitor risks and take measures to mitigate risks
in their day-to-day operations;

give prompt responses to, and follow up the
findings on internal control matters raised by
internal or external auditors; and

provide written confirmation to the Board on the
effectiveness of the Control Systems.

Internal Audit Department

carry out audit checking on sample basis and
evaluate the adequacy and effectiveness of
the Control Systems in respect of all material
controls, including financial, operational and
compliance controls;

alert the management on the audit findings
or irregularities and advise them on the
implementation of necessary steps and actions
to enhance the internal controls of the Group;
and

report results of internal audit reviews and
agreed action plans to the Audit Committee and
the Board on regular basis.
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(2) Operational Controls
The management is responsible for analyzing the
control environment, identified risks pertaining
thereto, and implemented various controls therein as
follows:

Vi.

Approach taken: The management regularly
review and update the operational policies
and workflow procedures to identify areas for
improvement and/or amendments to cope with
changes as necessary. The scope and findings of
review on the Control Systems will be reported
to the Audit Committee regularly;

Procedure manuals and operational guidelines
established to safeguard the assets against
unauthorized use or disposition; ensure
consistency of operational requirements; and
ensuring proper compliance with the applicable
laws, rules and regulations;

Management information system installed to
control the business activities and transactions
provide close tracking of various prescribed
inputs and outputs. It also provides audit
trails in the authorization system, under which
permissions and responsibility of authorization
are clearly identified and adequate records can
be maintained in the system;

Reports and variance analysis: Reports and
analysis of each segment are conducted on
regular basis. Variance reports are prepared
based on actual results and approved budgets;

Safeguarding of assets: Insurance coverage
on assets is periodically reviewed by the
management for sufficient coverage, and
to ensure compliance with the terms and
conditions of the insurance policies. Surprise
physical count of cash chips and client deposits
held in casino and coupons for casino are
performed by internal Audit Department to
safeguard the assets;

Service quality control: Regular review on
operational systems of hotel and gaming
business segments to ensure the service quality;
and questionnaires are provided in different
outlets to welcome customers’ feedbacks for our
service improvement;
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(3)

vii.

viii.

Control on leasing of properties: Policies and
checklists on control of rental revenue, lease
terms and conditions, appointment of property
management and leasing agency, asset security
and maintenance performance review are in
place for leasing of Group’s premises;

Control on property sale: Checklist and
breakdown on control of property for sale and
stock on hand are in place; and

Control on acquisition of properties: Internal
procedures on the acquisition of properties are
in place.

Financial Controls

Policies, systems and procedures are in
place to ensure proper accounting records are
maintained which provide complete, accurate
and timely accounting and management
information;

Financial management report are provided
to director and senior management which give
a balanced and understandable assessment of
various businesses performance and financial
position in sufficient details;

Annual financial budget and quarterly
forecasts are prepared and reviewed regularly
to ensure any actions can be taken promptly to
mitigate any changes in conditions and market
accordingly;

Annual audit by external auditor is carried
out to ensure that the consolidated financial
statements and individual companies’ financial
statements are prepared in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles, the
Group’s accounting policies and the applicable
laws and regulations; and

24 months cash flow rolling forecast is
regularly reviewed to monitor the cash flows
against budget plan.
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(4) Compliance Controls
The following policies and procedures are in place to
safeguard the compliance control:

Systems and procedures on disclosure
of inside information to ensure, with the
assistance of an internal work team (if required),
that any material information which comes
to the knowledge of any one or more officers
should be promptly identified, assessed and
escalated, where appropriate, for the attention
of the Board. The Board shall make timely
decisions on disclosure, if necessary and take
appropriate measures to preserve confidentiality
of inside information until proper dissemination
of inside information;

Policies and practices on compliance with
legal and regulatory requirements which shall
be reviewed and monitored regularly by the
Corporate Governance Committee as delegated
by the Board in order to ensure the Company
is in compliance with all the applicable laws,
statutes, rules and regulations; and to keep up
on any legal developments;

CCT Compliance Committee is established to
monitor, control and regularly review connected
transactions and continuing connected
transactions of the Company and ensure
proper compliance with all relevant laws and
regulations, the Listing Rules and disclosure
requirements;

Whistle-blowing policy for the employees
of the Group to raise concerns, in confidence,
about possible improprieties in financial
reporting, internal control or other matters.
Such arrangement will be reviewed by the
Audit Committee which ensures that proper
arrangement is in place for fair and independent
investigation of the matters; and
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v. Anti-money laundering and counter-terrorist
financing policy and procedure establishes the
general framework for combating crime against
money laundering and financing of terrorism.
It provides guideline to prevent the Group’s
employees and clients/customers/suppliers/
vendors/contractors from being misused for
money laundering, terrorist financing or other
financial crime and has set out some indications
of potentially suspicious transactions/activities
for employees’ reference.

Review of Internal Controls

Effectiveness of internal controls is tested by Internal
Audit Department regularly. Internal audit reviews
and agreed action plans should be reported to the
Audit Committee and the Board on timely basis.

C. Risk Management
(1) Risk Management Process

The risk management process includes risk
identification, evaluation, management and control
measures.

The management is entrusted with duties to
identify, analyze, evaluate, respond, monitor and
communicate risks associated with any activity,
function or process within its scope of responsibility
and authority. Risk are evaluated by the Board and
management based on (i) the severity of the impact
of the risk on the Group’s financial results; and (ii) the
frequency and probability that the risk will occur.

Based on the risk evaluation, the Company will
manage the risk as follows:-

- Risk elimination - the management may
identify and implement certain changes or
controls that in effect eliminate the risk entirely.

- Risk mitigation - the management may
implement risk mitigation plan designed to
reduce the likelihood and impact of the risk to an
acceptable level or contingency plan for possible
loss scenarios.
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- Risk control and monitoring - it involves
making decisions regarding which risks are
acceptable and how to address those that are
not; accidents and other situations involving loss
or near-loss will be investigated and properly
documented as part of the effort to manage
risks.

- Risk retention - the management may decide
that the risk rating is low enough that the risk is
acceptable level and no action is required and
the risk will continue to be monitored as part
of the risk management program to ensure the
level of risk does not increase to an unacceptable
level.

(2) Significant Risks and Strategies

Certain significant risks have been identified through
the process of risk identification and assessment.
Such significant risks of the Group and their
respective key strategies/control measures as set out
below:

Changes in social, economic and political

environment:

Changes and volatility in general economic
conditions caused by China-USA tensions, global
economic slowdown, increase/decrease in money
supply and foreign exchange issue would have impact
on HK property market. Any more adverse change in
one of the above situations would have significant
impact to the Group’s business.

e Stay alert to changes in economic and market
conditions in mainland China and Hong Kong or
global economy and adjust business strategic
plans to cope with these changes.

Occurrence of disaster events:

Any “Act of God”, natural disaster or outbreak of
contagious diseases such as COVID-19 pandemic or
SARS, could adversely effect on the Group’s business
and operations.

e Ensure all safety measures as required by
the Hong Kong SAR Government are fully
implemented;

e Contingency Management Committee is
established to take lead on all necessary
precautions and closely monitor the situations
and development;
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Implement business continuity plans which
include “Work from Home”, “Flexible Working
Hours” and “Split-team Arrangements”; and

Create a natural disaster recovery plan which
includes recovery instructions, procedures and a
quick reference guide for departments to use in
order to respond and recover from the disasters.

Investment strategy:

Acquisitions of land, investment and development
properties carry inherent risks related to significant
amount of money, missing targets, poor project
management, design, development and sales or
wrong investment decision would have significant
adverse impact on Group’s overall business.

Regularly review investment and business
strategy against overall business environment;

Investment decisions are subject to a robust
risk and return evaluation by executives and
supervision by the Finance and Investment
Committee;

Potential projects are subject to an extensive
due diligence review by in-house specialists
and external advisers. Offers are only made for
projects with reasonable return or of strategic
value;

Ensure experienced managers are in place to
manage projects; and

Completed projects are subject to continual
monitoring and internal audit, with regular
performance reports to the Management.

Emperor International Holdings Limited 3EE2£ME () BRAE
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/2022 &2k

s EREHEEMI;E BRIER
Wl TEETERRE] RIMFD
B &

o BIEBAKXMERTE EPERE
ERRA B R A EFIE AR
HRSEES| LRELH R LRE
;E_O

AR

WEE 1 IR B R FAEYEH S EERE
BEfEES KeLEE -BHEERE R
FAEE S E NMER IR E R K KRB
MESRR Y AEENEEBERE
MERNTH G E-

e THIEMINERFEKKRKMEER
EEIRE

. BARABEBARRAZES
BB T 17 BE R A0 LR BB 4R
SRR B R

e EBHERBHALHABIER LI
MEEETREZERAE - EAA
SELHAHEEENAED TE
R

g

s MRKHEEMNLIELEIBEE
25

\

e HEZKMEBRETHEEREK
AEPER WEHREEERRIR
RS-



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
SREARE

Rental income sustainability:

Loss of major tenants or rental reduction either due
to changes in tenants’ own strategy, market situation
or competition among landlords would adversely
impact the revenue of the Group.

Closely monitor any adverse market conditions,
work with tenants to mitigate the impact;

Maintain a well-balanced and quality tenant mix;

Maintain high property marketability by timely
renovation;

Invite targeted tenants or anchor tenants to our
existing or new properties from time to time.
Custom-made arrangements are offered where
appropriate to cater to their specific needs;

Propose short term lease restructure for quality
tenants in order to help sustain their businesses;
and

Carry out pre-lease campaigns to replace the
undesirable tenants.

Business/Portfolio concentration:

A significant portion of our Group revenues is
derived from Hong Kong. Unfavourable events in
the city could disrupt our overall business, lower our
revenues and impact the valuation of our assets.

The Group has a diversified portfolio of
investment properties across Hong Kong,
Macau, Mainland cities and London, the United
Kingdom. The Group will keep sourcing quality
investment properties around the world; and

The Group has expanded its investment property
portfolio to offices sector in recent years. This
enables the Group to mitigate the undesirable
impact on retail sector.
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Property development risks:

Supply of land is subject to the change of land
policies in different markets. Acquisition of land in
Hong Kong, the PRC and other overseas markets may
be subject to various regulatory requirements and
restrictions and competition from other developers.
Future growth prospects of property development
business are therefore affected by the availability and
price levels of prime sites in Hong Kong, the PRC and
other overseas markets. Failure to manage cost of
construction, labour and materials could adversely
affect the competitiveness of property development
business.

e Participate actively in the land auctions;

e Regularly update the Group’s long/medium/
short term strategic plans on property
development business;

e |Implement well established policies in our
tendering policy and system;

e Monitor project costs closely with strict adherent
to budget;

e Extract advantage from economies of scale based
on our portfolio size, if possible;

e Monitor closely the labour cost and materials
stock/price trends in the industry before
awarding building contracts; and

e Investment through JV structure to reduce the
risk.
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Cyber security:

Loss of data and leakage of confidential information
are the largest costs from cyber-crime that the
Company is facing. The cost of recovering from cyber
attacks, including reputational damage, where the
trust in a company decreases and their brand loses
value, is considerable.

IT Security Committee established to review
the Group’s IT security policies and risks
assessment;

The Company’s IT infrastructure are regularly
scanned and patched;

Risky external IP addresses are blocked;

All servers and user computers are equipped
with antivirus or endpoint protection;

Emails are filtered for spam and malware;
Password control and user access to the systems
and network elements are regularly updated and

reviewed; and

System backup facilities provide addition layers
of protections.

D. Management Confirmation

The Board acknowledged that it had a confirmation from
the management on the effectiveness of the Control
Systems of the Group. The Audit Committee and the
Board had reviewed the Control Systems and were
not aware of any significant issues that would have an
adverse impact on the effectiveness and adequacy of the
Group’s operational, financial and compliance areas of
the Control Systems.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company had adopted a dividend policy setting out the
principles for the Board to determine appropriate amount of
dividend to be distributed to the Shareholders. The Company
intends to provide Shareholders with regular interim and
final dividends (as the case may be) based on the earnings
attribution to its Shareholders after taking into consideration
of factors including, inter alia, (i) cash flow requirements for
business operations; (ii) cash available, financial liabilities and
capital commitment; (iii) market environment and challenges;
and (iv) future development and investment opportunities.
The declaration of dividends or recommendation on such
payment shall be subject to all applicable laws, rules and
regulations including but not limited to the Listing Rules, the
applicable laws of Bermuda and the bye-laws of the Company.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company has established a shareholders’ communication
policy and the Board shall review it on a regular basis to
ensure its effectiveness. The Company communicates with
the Shareholders and/or potential investors mainly in the
following ways: (a) the holding of annual general meetings
and special general meetings (“SGM”), if any, which may be
convened for specific purposes to provide opportunities for
the Shareholders to communicate directly with the Board; (b)
the publication of announcements, annual reports, interim
reports and/or circulars as required under the Listing Rules
and press releases providing updated information of the
Group; (c) the availability of latest information of the Group
in the Company’s website at https://www.Emperorint.com;
(d) the holding of press conference(s) from time to time; and
(e) meeting with investors and analysts on a regular basis and
participating in investor road show and sector conference.
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There is regular dialogue with institutional Shareholders and
general presentations are made when financial results are
announced. Shareholders and investors are welcome to visit
the Company’s website to raise enquiries through our Investor
Relations Department whose contact details are available on
the Company’s website and the “Corporate Information and
Key Dates” section of this annual report.

Separate resolutions are proposed at the general meetings
for such substantially separate issues, including re-election of
retiring Directors. The Chairperson of the 2021 AGM and the
chairman/members of the Board Committee and the external
auditor had also attend the 2021 AGM to answer questions
from the Shareholders. With the assistance of the Company
Secretary, the Chairperson of the meeting had explained the
procedures for conducting a poll during the meeting.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Set out below is a summary of certain rights of the
Shareholders as required to be disclosed pursuant to the CG
Code:

RIGHT TO CONVENE/CALL A GENERAL MEETING
Pursuant to the Bermuda Companies Act 1981 and Bye-laws
of the Company, Shareholder(s) holding at the date of the
deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth (10%) of the
paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting
at general meetings of the Company shall have the right to
submit a written requisition requiring a SGM to be called by
the Board. The written requisition (a) must state the object(s)
of the meeting; and (b) must be signed by the requisitionists
and deposited at the registered office and principal place of
business of the Company in Hong Kong for attention of the
Company Secretary, and may consist of several documents
in like form, each signed by one or more requisitionists. Such
requisitions will be verified with the Company’s Hong Kong
Branch Share Registrar and upon its confirmation that the
requisition is proper and in order, the Company Secretary will
ask the Board to convene a SGM by serving sufficient notice to
all Shareholders. On the contrary, if the requisition has been
verified as not in order, the requisitionists will be advised of
this outcome and accordingly, the SGM will not be convened
as requested.
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If the Directors do not within 21 days from the date of the
deposit of a valid requisition proceed duly to convene a SGM
for a day not more than two months after the date of deposit
of a proper requisition, the requisitionists or any of them
representing more than one-half of the total voting rights of
all of them may themselves convene a SGM, but any SGM so
convened shall not be held after the expiration of 3 months
from the said date of deposit of the requisition. In addition,
such meeting convened by the requisitionists shall be
convened in the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in
which meetings are to be convened by the Board.

PUTTING FORWARD PROPOSALS AT GENERAL
MEETINGS

Pursuant to the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, either any
number of the Shareholders holding not less than one-
twentieth (5%) of the total voting rights of all the Shareholders
having at the date of the requisition a right to vote at general
meetings of the Company (“Requisitionists”), or not less
than 100 of such Shareholders, can request the Company
in writing to (a) give to the Shareholders entitled to receive
notice of the next general meeting notice of any resolution
which may properly be moved and is intended to be moved
at that meeting; and (b) circulate to the Shareholders entitled
to have notice of any general meeting any statement of not
more than 1,000 words with respect to the matter referred to
in any proposed resolution or the business to be dealt with at
that meeting. The requisition signed by all the Requisitionists
must be deposited at the principal place of business of the
Company in Hong Kong with a sum reasonably sufficient to
meet the Company’s relevant expenses and not less than six
weeks before the meeting in case of a requisition requiring
notice of a resolution or not less than one week before the
meeting in the case of any other requisition. Provided that
an annual general meeting is called for a date six weeks or
less after the requisition has been deposited, such requisition
though not deposited within the time required shall be
deemed to have been properly deposited for the purposes
thereof.

PROPOSING A PERSON FOR ELECTION AS A
DIRECTOR

The procedures for Shareholders to propose a person
for election as a Director are available for viewing on the
Company’s website.
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ENQUIRIES FROM SHAREHOLDERS

Shareholders should direct their enquiries about their
shareholdings to the Company’s Hong Kong Branch Share
Registrar, Tricor Secretaries Limited. Other Shareholders’
enquiries can be directed to the Investor Relations Department
of the Company.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There are no significant changes in the Company’s
constitutional documents during the Year.

AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE AND
REMUNERATION

The Audit Committee is mandated to review and monitor
the independence of the auditor to ensure objectivity and
effectiveness of the audit process of the consolidated financial
statements in accordance with applicable standards. Members
of the Audit Committee were of the view that the Company’s
auditor, Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tomatsu (“Deloitte”) is
independent and had recommended the Board to re-appoint
it as the Company’s auditor at the 2022 AGM. During the Year,
Deloitte had rendered audit services and non-audit services
to the Group and the remuneration paid/payable to it by the
Company is set out as follows:
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Fees paid/payable
Services rendered P £ 8¢ B 7% BN/ EARA
HKS$’000
THET
Audit services ZE R 7,014
Non-audit services FEE R
- Preparation of Accountant’s Report in respect -RHEMBAR TREREAE
of disposal of subsidiaries to Emperor E Hotel %%Qﬁﬁfﬁ#&% 1,000
- Corporate exercise in accordance with Hong -REETHREFEGHNAE
Kong Standard on Investment Circular Reporting P ERRERN
Engagements 400 “Comfort Letters and Due ¥R E A A F4005%
Diligence Meetings” issued by the Hong Kong [(EHHLEREE SR
Institute of Certified Public Accountants RERD 348
- Perform Agreed-Upon Procedures in connection -ITEAREREEFERAS
to the Group’s club loans B ERFF 43
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Deloitte

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
EMPEROR INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Emperor International Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”)
set out on pages 75 to 219, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 March 2022, and
the consolidated statement of profit or loss, consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give
a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position
of the Group as at 31 March 2022, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with
the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period.
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit
of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and
in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters.
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Key Audit Matters (continued)

Key audit matters

BREXREE

Valuation of investment properties
REYXZ14E

We identified the valuation of investment properties
as a key audit matter due to the significance of the
balance to the consolidated financial statements as
a whole, combined with the significant assumptions
and estimations involved in determining the fair
value as set out in note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RITHIREMEZHEZN R —EHEREEZEE  RE
ERZEREGEMERREBMEBEAN UGS
BRI TATE BEAABESREARRK LA -

As disclosed in note 14 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group’s completed investment
properties amounted to HK$40,316,471,000,
representing 74% of the Group’s total assets, with
their change in fair value included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss. During the year, the
decrease in fair value of completed investment
properties amounted to HK$378,935,000.

BT BRMEANMTI4AMBEE BEEEZE2EX
RE Y ¥ /40,316,471,0008 0 1 EEEREE 2
4% RERNABELZBAAGEBRERAN - REAFE
BRI EYE N EER 378,935,000/ 7T

As disclosed in note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group’s investment properties
are carried at fair value based on the valuations
performed by independent firms of qualified
professional property valuers (the “Valuers”).
The valuations are dependent on key inputs,
together with significant assumptions, that involve
judgement. The relevant inputs and conditions
include capitalisation rates and comparable market
transactions with adjustments to reflect different
locations or conditions for completed investment
properties. Details of the valuation techniques and
key inputs used in the valuations are disclosed in
note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.
WMGEEMBMRMTAPTRE BEEBZREMETA
REBEBYEEBREEMEGEMT ([HEM])NEERA
AEEINKR-HBLEEDEKEIZRHABBALEAR
RAETT B g R - M8 A BUR SR BB E R
ERALBTSERS (EELFABARBREZXIRED
EZ2 AR ESAMR) - BRGERTAZ GERMNEE
ERABBHBERES P BRMRMTI4RE -

B EXEIE (&)

How our audit addressed the key audit matters
EMufEERAREEXER

Our procedures in relation to assessing the
appropriateness of the valuation of completed
investment properties included:

ATHAEE RN R EMEZAERERZRFEHE:

Understanding management’s process for
reviewing the work of the independent
qualified professional property valuers engaged
by the Company;

THREREEESES BERRERERNBIAERER
MEGEMS TEZRE:

Evaluating the competence, capabilities
and objectivity of the independent qualified
professional property valuers engaged by the
Company;

Al BERRIZERENBUAEREXEYRMEER
ZA® RO REHML:

Understanding the valuation techniques and
key inputs applied on selected properties
by holding discussion with the management
and the independent qualified professional
property valuers engaged by the Company
with the involvement of our internal valuation
specialists; and

HEEENR SRRZREMNBIAERIEDME
HEMETH W YARTZANHRERTR2HE
T REETEMEMERNMEERMN LB E A
#iE: &

Assessing the reasonableness of key inputs
used in the valuation on selected properties
by (i) checking the details of rentals on a
sample basis to the respective underlying
existing tenancy agreements; (ii) comparing to
relevant market information on prices, rentals
achieved and capitalisation rates adopted in
other similar properties in the neighbourhood
with the consideration of changes in market
conditions following the ongoing Covid-19
pandemic; and (iii) benchmarking the discount
rates against historical data, market trend and
applicable market yields.
FR(MEREEHEREGHEERR TS
(iEEEr R MU EMREHNER He
RERWEE RN E 2 HATISER (ZEBEFHE
BRAESEEREER MR ER) ETHR: &
(i) BE IR R KL R IR M5B MERA ™5
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Key Audit Matters (continued)

Key audit matters

BREXREE

Valuation of properties under development for sale
HIFHEZRRETYXRZIAE

We identified the valuation of properties under
development for sale as a key audit matter due to
the significance of the balance to the consolidated
financial statements as a whole and the significant
estimations associated with the assessment of
whether the properties under development for sale
were stated at lower of cost and net realisable value
(“NRV”).
RITEFRIERE 2 ERTYME 2 HEZRD SEREREE
THRBEBEREGAMGRRERMN S BEA AN
HFHEHECBRPYERBIREAER B FE ([7]
BIRFE])MEPREEINRY RE KM

As disclosed in note 4 to the consolidated
financial statements, the Group’s properties
under development for sale are stated at lower
of cost and NRV. As at 31 March 2022, the Group’s
properties under development for sale amounted
to HKS$5,262,205,000. During the year, write-downs
of HKS$46,485,000 and reversals on previously
recognised write-downs of HK$30,112,000 are
recognised for properties under development for sale
respectively. The determination of the NRV is based
on estimated selling prices less estimated costs to
completion and the estimated costs necessary to
make the sale of these properties. The selling prices
are estimated by reference to the market prices of
similar properties in prevailing market environment.
The costs to completion of the properties under
development for sale are estimated by reference to
the development budget, actual development cost of
similar completed properties with adjustments based
on current market data. Details of the properties
under development for sale is disclosed in note 22 to
the consolidated financial statements.

HNFEE B RRMTATHE SEEFFLHEZER -

o ) 5 4% XA B R R 3R O3 (B W P BRI AR 0 1020224F
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How our audit addressed the key audit matters
EMuEEBAREEXER

Our procedures in relation to assessing the
appropriateness of the valuation of properties
under development for sale included:
fljig‘ﬂﬁ%f’ﬁﬁ%Zﬁ‘)EﬂF%%Zfé@’l‘é%’\‘iziﬁﬁi
B :

Assessing the management’s process in
estimating the costs to completion of the
properties under development for sale, on
a sample basis, by comparing them to the
development budget, actual development
cost of similar completed properties of the
Group and comparing the adjustments made
by the management in the estimated costs to
completion to current market data;

MERT A ERBN A TR IELREZERTY
FIRANREF BEE SEEDRTIHAUME
CHERE BRRAEMAETER IEERE
Sl 5T 5T AR 2N B 8 B B E B T 5 BB E EL B

Assessing the appropriateness of the NRV of
the properties under development for sale, on
a sample basis, by comparing the NRV to the
market price less estimated costs necessary to
make the sale achieved in the same project or
comparable properties, based on the current
market development trend, government
regulations in the real estate industry and our
knowledge of the Group’s business; and
BEEAMSERBE BHETENBRNER
URARITH BEEEEBH TR FZREAIERF
BEEMARBERAI LB YE T ERETTHE N
TR AETHE MR ERELE 2%
EAPYENSRFENREE: &

Evaluating the reasonableness of the
assessment performed by the management
of the Group on the key inputs to evaluate the
magnitude of their impact of the market value
and adequacy of impairment being made.

i EEEEREERTER ABBETHOG
WaEn UNHETEZENREE RELRE
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Other Information
The directors of the Company are responsible for the
other information. The other information comprises the
information included in the annual report, but does not
include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

Responsibilities of Directors and Those
Charged with Governance for the

Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued
by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for
overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of

the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes
our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with
Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B ZBERE

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements

(co

ntinued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention
in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the
date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as
a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible
for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.
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We communicate with those charged with governance
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including
any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BB ERE

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements

(continued)

We also provide those charged with governance with a
statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate
with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or
safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of
most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the
independent auditor’s report is Au Mei Yin.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

23 June 2022
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

mERER

For the year ended 31 March 2022 # Z202243431H i /&
2022 2021
NOTES HKS$’000 HKS’000
k=3 FERT FHET
Revenue WA
Contracts with customers EEAH 5(a) 418,358
Leases HE 5(b) 898,724
Total revenue LU A 1,317,082
Cost of properties sales ES RO (56,817)
Cost of hotel and hotel related B JE KB 5 AE B 5 7% A AR
operations (463,676)
Direct operating expenses HEREMEZBEKE
in respect of leasing of
investment properties (149,247)
Gross profit EM 647,342
Other income Hfth U A 138,176
Fair value changes of REMELARBEZEY
investment properties (1,210,598)
Other gains and losses H it U = e E5 1B 7 333,805
Impairment allowance recognised R E 5 EUWFIE 2 REEE
for trade receivables (1,440)
Selling and marketing expenses HERTISHEEER (128,799)
Administrative expenses THREA (386,655)
Finance costs M ER 8 (412,477)
Share of result of an associate DE— B E AR 2 EE 17 (54,258)
Share of result of a joint venture DME—EEELECEE 18 (68)
Loss before taxation bR Fi R0 B 1B 9 (1,074,972)
Taxation credit MK L 11 204,686
Loss for the year FEEE (870,286)
Loss for the year attributable to: JEIEFEEE -
Owners of the Company ZIN/NETE F =N (767,448)
Non-controlling interests FEIEIR (102,838)
(870,286)
Loss per share BREE
Basic K 13 HKS$(0.21)7& 7T
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT ORLOSSAND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
SREREREtAEEEER

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £202243/31H I F/Z

2022 2021
HK$°000 HKS$°000
THET TET
Loss for the year FEEBRE (870,286)
Other comprehensive income (expense) E#t = HE W (B xX)
Items that may be reclassified Bt E DL Bl HE -
subsequently to profit or loss:
Exchange differences arising on MEBINEIEEEN Z58
translation of foreign operations:
- subsidiaries -WEBR A 758,651
- an associate - —HBE R T 11,914
Fair value change of debt instruments  #EBH M2 BT E
at fair value through other ARBEZBEHEIAZ
comprehensive income AREEEZD 854
Reclassification adjustments for REEFEBAEMEEKGE
amounts transferred to profit or loss ARBEZEHRIAKERE
upon disposal of debt instruments at BB RAEESH
fair value through other comprehensive
income (3,270)
Other comprehensive income FEHEMEE YR
for the year 768,149
Total comprehensive expense FEXEHARAY
for the year (102,137)
Total comprehensive (expense) income EHFEE2ER (FX) K-
for the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company ZAN/NEIE Z SN 1,326
Non-controlling interests FEVERR (103,463)
(102,137)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e MR R R

At 31 March 2022 202243 /531H

2022 2021
NOTES HK$°000 HKS$°000
B 5 FERT FAT
Non-current assets ERBEE
Investment properties REME 14 42,429,471
Property, plant and equipment M B REE 15 3,057,866
Deposits paid for acquisition of WEREME M HEX
investment properties/property, BB 2ES
plant and equipment 13,359
Receivables related to B —BERIER ZEKKIE
a development project 14 175,695
Right-of-use assets EREEE 16 532,049
Interest in an associate iNET L RN P ey 17 127,818
Interest in a joint venture R—EeEhbE R 18 950,865
Goodwill EES 19 56,683
Other assets HMEE 20 3,997
Pledged bank deposit EEARITER 25 63,000
47,410,803
Current assets RBEE
Inventories rE 12,402
Properties held for sale FIEHEZME 21 1,670,021
Properties under development BRIELEZERBYE
for sale 22 5,225,609
Trade and other receivables B 5 MEAMERGA 23 1,237,560
Taxation recoverable A 3R B 7 18 38,520
Deposit in designated bank account  FLEEMEGFRAETERTT
for development properties RPN 24 10,040
Pledged bank deposit BEEARITER 25 353
Short-term bank deposits RHIIRITER 25 1,415,665
Bank balances and cash RITEH IR S 25 2,718,277
12,328,447
Assets classified as held for sale PEABELNEZEE 26 509,872
Total current assets BREBEE 12,838,319
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e MBARR R

At 31 March 2022 202243 /531H

2022 2021
NOTES HK$’°000 HK$’000
B 5 FERT FHET
Current liabilities REBAE
Trade and other payables B 5 & EH At FER KIB 27 861,407
Contract liabilities GHAEE 28 296,066
Amount due to an associate JE 1~ — PRI Bt & 2 B K08 29 141,982
Amounts due to related companies FET R 2 R R 30 498,721
Amounts due to non-controlling FERT B B A B 2 JE IR 21
interests of subsidiaries FRIE 31 41,090
Taxation payable J& < 758 18 195,014
Unsecured notes - due within one year K F 2= & — — F N 5| & 32 2,391,358
Bank borrowings - due within one year #R77{& & ——F R 5| 33 6,044,633
Lease liabilities - due within one year FE&E ——FRNE/H 34 3,164
10,473,435
Liabilities associated with assets HABARBIELEZ
classified as held for sale EERBEzEE 26 34,508
Total current liabilities BRBAE 10,507,943
Net current assets RBEEFE 2,330,376
Total assets less current liabilities #EERABARB 49,741,179
Non-current liabilities FRBEME
Contract liabilities BHARE 28 7,330
Unsecured notes - due after one year EHEHEE ——F1& 5|5 32 2,514,078
Bank borrowings - due after one year RiTEE——F% 25 33 15,794,478
Lease liabilities - due after oneyear fME&E - —F&2IH 34 36,806
Deferred taxation IEIEF IR 35 1,985,706
20,338,398
29,402,781
Capital and reserves EXR®EE
Share capital & A< 36 36,775
Reserves s 27,032,695
Equity attributable to owners of RRABEB ANEEER
the Company 27,069,470
Non-controlling interests TR ER 2,333,311
29,402,781

The consolidated financial statements on pages 75 to 219 758 ZE $2198 1l 2 426 B 75 K 7220224F
were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of 6A23B&EE S & REERZ  WH TIE
Directors on 23 June 2022 and are signed on its behalf by: ERREE:

Wong Chi Fai Fan Man Seung, Vanessa
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
BE BF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
mERBEER

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & Z202243/31H 1F F/Z

At 1 April 2021 HE4A1H 36,775 4,563,248 213,385 133,417 941,254 21,121,391 27,069,470 2,333,311 29,402,781

Loss for the year EBFR - - - - (469329)  (469,329) (270313 (739,642)
Eichange differences arising BESNRBAELELZE:

on translation of foreign operations:

- subsidiaries -MEAT 217,285 277,285 277,285

- an associate -—HEELR 5372 5312 5372
Total comprehensive income (expense) ~ FE 2T AU (F%)

for the year 282,657 (469,329) (186,672 (210313  (456.985)
Depreciation attributable to assets EEBRRRELNE

revaluation surplus 1,046 126 - 126
Acquisition of additional interests YEHERT B

in subsidiaries rote 39 (H#39) - 18950  (33578) (14619
2021 final dividend paid BRNERDRE (@413 (@413 (5189 (49,320)
2022 interim dividend paid BRNNERERE (55,163) (55,163) (5,189) (60,352)
2022 special dividend paid BRNNESHRS (36,775 (36,775 (17358)  (54,128)
At 31 March 2022 R2022£3831A 36,775 4,563,248 556,042 132,497 960,213 20,517,089 26,765,814 2,001,689 28,767,503
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
mERBEER

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & Z202243431H i /&
Attributable to owners of the Company
LN TN
Assets  Investments Non-
Share Share  Translation revaluation  revaluation Other ~ Retained controlling Total
capital ~ premium reserve reserve reserve  reserves profits Total  interests equity
HE &%
RE  ROEE  EXRE  BREE  EMER  AkEE  REEA ait  FERER ks
HKS'000 HKS 000 HKS000 HKS'000 HKS 000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS000 HKS'000 HK$000
Tikn Tikn Tihn T T T TiEn Tikn T T
(Note)
(%)
At 1 April 2020 RNE4A1A 36,775 456348 (497,180) 1374713 1,791 900,627 22,057,501 27200235 2521969 29,722,204
Loss for the year FEER - - (67448 (167448  (102838)  (870,286)
Exchange differences arising AEENFRRELREE:
on translation of foreign operations:
- subsidiaries -HBA 758,651 - - 758,651 - TS
- anassociate -—HEELH 11914 - - 11,914 11914
Fair value change of debt instruments  EEZH2ENGT 201 BEL
atfair value through other BRIZZ0AEEED
comprehensive income - 448 448 406 854
Reclassification adjustments for MHEEBEM AN E
amounts transferred to profitorloss 27 BB EFLER
upon disposal of debt instruments SREER/ENAE
atfair value through other FE5E
comprehensive income - 2239 (2,239) (1,031) (3,270)
Total comprehensive income (expense) ~ EE2E#NZ (%)
forthe year 770565 -um (oTM8 136 (03463  (102,37)
Depreciation attributable to assets AESHANELNE
revaluation surplus (920) - 1,047 vl - i
Release of assets revaluation reserve ~ RHENBLAR%ER 2
upon disposal of subsidiaries EEEfRE (3,136) 313 - -
Acquisition of additional interests WENBELA EMER
in subsidiaries (rofe 39) (#1239 - - 40627 40627 (68.448)  (21.820)
2020 final dividend paid BRNNERHRE - - (128714)  (128,714) (11,292)  (140,000)
2001 interim dividend paid ERNER SRS - - W13 B A5 (49586)
At 31 March 202 R02F3A317 36,775 4563248 273,385 133417 - 941,254 21121391 27069470 2333311 29,402,781
Note: The other reserves of the Group arose from (i) acquisition of  Fffif: ANEEZ HitEEE()KEFEZEHEBE LR

additional interests in non-wholly owned subsidiaries; (ii)
dilution of interest in a subsidiary from allotment of shares by a
subsidiary; and (iii) deemed capital contributions from owners
of the Company.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

N—r

- B
llv_\éiﬁﬁlﬁgﬁ
For the year ended 31 March 2022 &t £20224F 331 A I F/Z
2022 2021
NOTES HK$°000 HK$°000
Bt % FERT FHET
Operating activities KREEH
Loss before taxation % 1R A ES 18 (1,074,972)
Adjustments for: A EE
Interest income FEHA (75,854)
Interest expenses FERAY 396,357
Depreciation of property, M M REREZ
plant and equipment e 176,886
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CHAREEZIE 24,355
Share of result of an associate SME—HEBE AR Z
E 54,258
Share of result of a joint venture SME—HeEhEZ
E 68
Fair value changes of KREMERNABEZ
investment properties 24 1,210,598
Write-downs (reversal of write- T%f’ﬁﬁ’%Z?é)%‘:P%%
downs) of properties under Z WORL (H0R 3 | )
development for sale, net — FH (288,595)
(Reversal of write-downs) FEHEZMEZ
write-downs of properties (HRE B 1B ) HORE
held for sale 34,708
Impairment allowance HRE HRURIEZ
recognised for trade Ve Rk
receivables 1,440
Impairment losses recognised MR HERRE
on property, plant and ZREEE
equipment -
Impairment losses recognised HREAEEEZ
on right-of-use assets A E 1R -
Impairment losses recognised WREEZRERIE
on goodwill -
(Gain) loss on disposal of HEME HEREZE
property, plant and equipment Z (Wan) &8 247
Gain on disposal of other assets & H B E 2 W (42)
Gain on disposal of debt HEFBEMTEmIE
instruments at fair value through HAEAREBEZ
other comprehensive income BB LA ke (3,270)
Covid-19 related rent concession EEIR RS
HeEE 16 (545)
Unrealised exchange loss (gain) KREIRE N R (W) (64,416)
Operating cash flows before Rt EE2EHAZ
movements in working capital HERENE 391,223
Decrease in inventories FE 2R 3,274
Decrease in properties held for sale  #F{EHE 2 W 2 H D 37,545
Increase in properties under FIEREZBRTPYMEZ
development for sale 30 (305,827)
Decrease in trade and other B 5 N H e WK IR 2 A
receivables 169,529
Increase (decrease) in trade and B 5 N E A FE T FRIE 2 38 0N
other payables (BL) (100,060)
(Decrease) increase in contract BRBEZ ORL) i
liabilities 268,106
Cash generated from operations KELEZRS 463,790
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
MERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £202243/31H I F/Z

2022 2021
NOTES HK$°000 HK$°000
Bt FTET FHET
Income tax refund (paid) BIRE (BH)FEH
- in Hong Kong Special - REBRRITTHIE
Administrative Region (105,227)
- in Macau Special Administrative - 7B P95 B 7T BU&
Region (38)
- in People’s Republic of China - R EARLFE (1,418)
— in United Kingdom -RHEE (754)
Net cash from operating activities RKEKZEBH RS FE 356,353
Investing activities KEEE
Placement of short-term bank 7 e R 1T 17 K
deposits (1,554,608)
Acquisition of investment WIEIREMERERF
properties and costs incurred REMEMELZKA
for investment properties
under development (457,329)
Advance to a joint venture mM—HEEEERRK (119,600)
Acquisition of property, plantand W% - S L& E
equipment (28,659)
Placement of pledged bank deposit 17 /X & K iR 1717 X (63,005)
Deposits paid on acquisition of WA ME -
investment properties/property, HERBRBAZN RS
plant and equipment (9,057)
Placement of deposit in HRERMETF RN TRIT
designated bank account for RPZER
development properties (97)
Withdrawal of short-term bank REVE HIRITE R
deposits 1,119,599
Proceeds from disposal of HEME A R FTERIA
subsidiaries 38 88,617
Proceeds from disposal of HEREMEFENRIA
investment properties -
Interest received WCER 7B 72,556
Proceeds from disposal of HEYR KB REE
property, plant and equipment F1§RIA 308
Proceeds from disposal of HEFBHEMEEKRTE
debt instruments at fair ARBEZEFEIAMS
value through other IR
comprehensive income 81,704
Proceeds from disposal of S HAth & EFT 1S 5R
other assets 97
Net cash from (used in) investing KB (AR)EREEH RS
activities P (869,474)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
MERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &t £20224F 331 A I F/Z

2022 2021
NOTES HKS$’000 HKS$’000
Bt % FERT FET
Financing activities A&
Bank borrowings raised FEEZIRTTIEE 6,211,547
Advances from related companies B8:E QA Z 8K 511,647
Repayments of bank borrowings EBERTEE (5,181,190)
Redemption of unsecured notes B[O | IR (2,205,212)
Interest paid for financial liabilities & aEHN & (689,373)
Dividends paid to owners of MARBIHEBE AN ZRE
the Company (172,845)
Repayments to related companies &K T @ QA (115,606)
Acquisition of additional interests ~ YZHE i & A 7] 2 BE/MER
in subsidiaries 39 (27,821)
Dividends paid to non-controlling [t @ 2 R IEE AR #E =
interests of subsidiaries Xz E (16,747)
Repayments of lease liabilities EEMHERE (3,844)
Interest paid for lease liabilities IRHHEEHERNE (1,521)
Repayments to non-controlling BRTH B AR EERER
interests of subsidiaries -
Proceeds from issuance of BITREHREEMSHNIA
unsecured notes 1,928,537
Advance from an associate L NI =T 45,742
Net cash (used in) from financing (FAR)REMEES 2BHE
activities FER 283,314
Net decrease in cash and cash ReRBREEEBYM R FEHE
equivalents (229,807)
Cash and cash equivalents at RBERNzHE KRS
beginning of the reporting period &% 2,943,493
Effect of foreign exchange rate EXEH B
changes 4,808
Cash and cash equivalents RERRzBERBE2E
at end of the reporting period, By BRITHEBRLE S
representing bank balances
and cash 2,718,494
Analysis of the balances of ReLReFEMERZ DT
cash and cash equivalents:
Bank balances and cash RITHEBRERS 2,718,277
Bank balances and cash included EFTADEARBEHE ZEE
in a disposal group classified BRIz RITEHR LR S
as held for sale 217
2,718,494
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e SRR MEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022

1.

# 202243531 H 1FF/E

General

Emperor International Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) is incorporated in Bermuda as an
exempted company with limited liability and its shares
are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The
Company’s immediate holding company is Emperor
International Group Holdings Limited, a limited liability
company incorporated in British Virgin Islands (“BVI”).
The ultimate holding company of the Company is Albert
Yeung Holdings Limited (“AY Holdings”), a limited
liability company incorporated in the BVI which is in
turn held by First Trust Services AG (formerly known
as First Trust Services GmbH), being the trustee of The
Albert Yeung Discretionary Trust (“AY Trust”), the settlor
and founder of which is Dr. Yeung Sau Shing, Albert
(“Dr. Albert Yeung”). The address of the registered office
and principal place of business of the Company are
disclosed in the “Corporate Information and Key Dates”
section to the annual report.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (“HKS”), which is also the functional
currency of the Company.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in
note 49.

Application of New and Amendments
to Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily

effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) for
the first time, which are mandatorily effective for the
Group’s annual periods beginning on or after 1 April
2021 for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements:

Interest Rate Benchmark
Reform - Phase 2

Amendments to HKFRS 9,
HKAS 39, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions beyond
30 June 2021

Amendment to HKFRS 16

Emperor International Holdings Limited ZHEZ2£E (EE) BRAE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR MEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022

2.

# F202243H31H 1FF/E

Application of New and Amendments
to Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily

effective for the current year (continued)

In addition, the Group applied the agenda decision of
the IFRS Interpretations Committee (the “Committee”)
of the International Accounting Standards Board issued
in June 2021 which clarified the costs an entity should
include as “estimated costs necessary to make the
sale” when determining the net realisable value of
inventories.

Except as described below, the application of the
amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no
material impact on the Group’s financial positions and
performance for the current and prior years and/or on
the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKFRS 9,
HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16 Interest
Rate Benchmark Reform - Phase 2

The Group has applied the amendments for the first
time in the current year. The amendments relate to
changes in the basis for determining the contractual
cash flows of financial assets, financial liabilities and
lease liabilities as a result of interest rate benchmark
reform, specific hedge accounting requirements and
the related disclosure requirements applying HKFRS 7
Financial Instruments: Disclosures (“HKFRS 77).

As at 1 April 2021, the Group has bank borrowings
and amounts due to related companies, the interests
of which are indexed to benchmark rates that will or
may be subject to interest rate benchmark reform.
The following table shows the total amounts of
these outstanding contracts. The amounts of bank
borrowings are shown at their carrying amounts are
shown at their notional amounts.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £202243/31H I F/Z

2. Application of New and Amendments
to Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSSs”) (continued)
Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (continued)
Impacts on application of Amendments to HKFRS 9,
HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16 Interest
Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 2 (continued)
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The amendments have had no impact on the consolidated
financial statements as none of the relevant contracts
has been transitioned to the relevant replacement
rates during the year. The Group will apply the practical
expedient in relation to the changes in contractual
cash flows resulting from the interest rate benchmark
reform for bank borrowings and amounts due to related
companies measured at amortised cost. Additional
disclosures as required by HKFRS 7 are set out in note 41.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR MEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022

2.

# F202243H31H 1FF/E

Application of New and Amendments
to Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (continued)

Impacts on application of the agenda decision of
the Committee — Costs necessary to sell inventories

(HKAS 2 Inventories (“HKAS 2”))

In June 2021, the Committee, through its agenda
decision, clarified the costs an entity should include as
“estimated costs necessary to make the sale” when
determining the net realisable value of inventories.
In particular, whether such costs should be limited to
those that are incremental to the sale. The Committee
concluded that the estimated costs necessary to
make the sale should not be limited to those that are
incremental but should also include costs that an entity
must incur to sell its inventories including those that
are not incremental to a particular sale.

The Group’s accounting policy prior to the Committee’s
agenda decision was to determine the net realisable
value of inventories taking into consideration
incremental costs only. Upon application of the
Committee’s agenda decision, the Group changed
its accounting policy to determine the net realisable
value of inventories taking into consideration both
incremental costs and other costs necessary to sell
inventories. The new accounting policy has been
applied retrospectively.

The application of the Committee’s agenda decision
has had no material impact on the Group’s financial
positions and performance.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e SRR MEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £202243/31H I F/Z

2. BRMEREETEBMBER
HEA (BT HHRELER])

2. Application of New and Amendments
to Hong Kong Financial Reporting

Standards (“HKFRSs”) (continued) (42 )
New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not EEAEMAEMZHERLETER
yet effective B E %Al

AEBEYEEFERAATCEMERRE
M FIE KRBT BB M RE £

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are

not yet effective:

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and the EATBRELENELITE RSN RIAH
related Amendments? CHE
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual BAAUMBRELAEIR . BERES!

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and

Framework?
Sale or Contribution of Assets

CHl

BREMBREEREINRK

REZEHABZD

HKAS 28 between an Investor and its BB LR $E28% 2 Alg A et XM
Associate or Joint Venture? 1BET 2 EEEES
IE3
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as ARG ENEIR 285 BHREBESR
Current or Non-current and (2020 )5 7
related amendments to MBI E
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 BENENR
(2020)? HEE R
Amendments to HKAS 1and  Disclosure of Accounting BAGHENFEIRRESE GHHEIRR
HKFRS Practice Statement2  Policies? TR ER TR RE
2R 2 B35
Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting EAOERERHE /18] etttz ER?
Estimates?
Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets BB ENELR 2BF] HE-XZHELE
and Liabilities arising from LREERAE
a Single Transaction? MBS 7 i I T 182
Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and BEGHERFIOR BT ME HBRZE
Equipment - Proceeds - ENHTERE
before Intended Use! Al BT 15 508!
Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts - Cost of BAQHENEITR2EE] BEUEGN-ET
Fulfilling a Contract? AR Z AR
Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to BEAMBREL 2] BEVBEREER
HKFRSs 2018 - 2020! 2018 £2020%
AR EERE!

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022.
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be

determined.

Except for the amendments to HKFRSs mentioned
below, the directors of the Company (“Directors”)
anticipate that the application of all other new and
amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact
on the consolidated financial statements in the

foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR MEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &t £20224F 331 A I F/Z

2. Application of New and Amendments 2. ERAFEREETEBMER

to Hong Kong Financial Reporting

HEA([FRBYHREER )

Standards (“HKFRSs”) (continued) (42 )

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not CHEMEERERZHERZBITESR
yet effective (continued) MBS EER (F)

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related BEEETERFI2EZIETHE X5
to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single E4XCEEREBEHBZELHE

Transaction

The amendments narrow the scope of the recognition
exemption of deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax
assets in paragraphs 15 and 24 of HKAS 12 Income Taxes
(“HKAS 127) so that it no longer applies to transactions
that, on initial recognition, give rise to equal taxable
and deductible temporary differences.

As disclosed in note 3 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group applies HKAS 12 requirements to
the relevant assets and liabilities separately. Temporary
differences on initial recognition of the relevant assets
and liabilities are not recognised due to application of
the initial recognition exemption.

Upon the application of the amendments, the Group
will recognise a deferred tax asset (to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary difference can be
utilised) and a deferred tax liability for all deductible
and taxable temporary differences associated with the
right-of-use assets and the lease liabilities.

The amendments are effective for annual reporting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023, with early
application permitted. As at 31 March 2022, the carrying
amounts of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
which are subject to the amendments amounted to
HK$36,258,000 and HK$41,975,000 respectively. The
Group is still in the process of assessing the full impact
of the application of the amendments. The cumulative
effect of initially applying the amendments will be
recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance
of retained profits at the beginning of the earliest
comparative period presented.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £202243/31H I F/Z

2. Application of New and Amendments

to Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not
yet effective (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-current and related amendments

to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)

The amendments provide clarification and additional
guidance on the assessment of right to defer settlement
for at least twelve months from reporting date for
classification of liabilities as current or non-current,
which:

specify that the classification of liabilities as
current or non-current should be based on rights
that are in existence at the end of the reporting
period. Specifically, the amendments clarify that:

(i) the classification should not be affected by
management intentions or expectations to
settle the liability within 12 months; and

(ii) if the right is conditional on the compliance
with covenants, the right exists if the
conditions are met at the end of the reporting
period, even if the lender does not test
compliance until a later date; and

clarify that if a liability has terms that could,
at the option of the counterparty, result in its
settlement by the transfer of the entity’s own
equity instruments, these terms do not affect
its classification as current or non-current only
if the entity recognises the option separately as
an equity instrument applying HKAS 32 Financial
Instruments: Presentation.

In addition, Hong Kong Interpretation 5 was revised
as a consequence of the Amendments to HKAS 1 to
align the corresponding wordings with no change in
conclusion.

Based on the Group’s outstanding liabilities as at
31 March 2022, the application of the amendments will
not result in reclassification of the Group’s liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR MEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &t £20224F 331 A I F/Z

REUBRRZERRELER
FEESTHEX

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated 3.
Financial Statements and Significant

Accounting Policies
3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial

31 REMBHRRZEREE

statements

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by
the HKICPA. For the purpose of preparation of the
consolidated financial statements, information
is considered material if such information is
reasonably expected to influence decisions made
by primary users. In addition, the consolidated
financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance (“CO”).

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis except for
investment properties that are measured at fair
values at the end of each reporting period, as
explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value
of the consideration given in exchange for goods
and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to
sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants
at the measurement date, regardless of whether
that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the
fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes
into account the characteristics of the asset or
liability if market participants would take those
characteristics into account when pricing the asset
or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for
measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined
on such a basis, except for share-based payment
transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 2
Share-based Payment, leasing transactions that
are accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 16,
and measurements that have some similarities
to fair value but are not fair value, such as net
realisable value in HKAS 2 or value in use in HKAS
36 Impairment of Assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e SRR MEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £202243/31H I F/Z

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated 3. MEMBHRERZEHREER
Financial Statements and Significant FTESTHER (&

Accounting Policies (continued)
3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial

statements (continued)
A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset

3.1 REMBHRRZEREE (&)

AAEFEMEBEEAABEANZSEMS

takes into account a market participant’s ability to
generate economic benefits by using the asset in
its highest and best use or by selling it to another
market participant that would use the asset in its
highest and best use.

For financial instruments and investment properties
which are transacted at fair value and a valuation
technique that unobservable inputs is to be used
to measure fair value in subsequent periods, the
valuation technique is calibrated so that the results

SEEARERZEERIZ&S R
RIEMA JEZEEE T 5 — A HE
AZEERIRSEREZAZMS
SEEFFEL Z KB -

BARBEXSZERTARKEY
2 ARERBBERATAIBRERA
BT ERA R BEZGEENE HES
ERTRIE MEMBETEZERBE
MR 5 ERE -

of the valuation technique equals the transaction
price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair AN M BHREMS AR BEE
value measurements are categorised into Level BRIBEARBEGFEWAZE 2 AJHEE
1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs BERARBEFGEGAZSEBYHEER
to the fair value measurements are observable B2BEEN 2BEREBIR B2HIE
and the significance of the inputs to the fair value 3 BT

measurement in its entirety, which are described

as follows:

FIRBABBERERAEFEDHY
PR BT 5 Al AERISAE R & E 3
BEZHRE (REHE)

Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted)
in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities that the entity can access at the
measurement date;

FARBABBE AR EERAEER
EgHEEAIBERZHAZE ($1
RABEZRERIN) &

Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted
prices included within Level 1, that are
observable for the asset or liability, either
directly or indirectly; and

EIPWABIBEREELRE LT
AR o A B

Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the
asset or liability.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR MEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &t £20224F 331 A I F/Z

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated 3. ,%'%/\,ﬂ%i&%fz MBEEER
Financial Statements and Significant SETHX (&)

Accounting Policies (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies 3.2 TEETHR

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries.
Control is achieved when the Company:

has power over the investee;

is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the investee; and

has the ability to use its power to affect its
returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls
an investee if facts and circumstances indicate
that there are changes to one or more of the three
elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the
Group obtains control over the subsidiary and
ceases when the Group loses control of the
subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of
a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the
year are included in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss from the date the Group gains control
until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income (“OCI”) are attributed
to owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests. Total comprehensive income
of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests
even if this results in the non-controlling interests
having a deficit balance.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the
financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their
accounting policies into line with the Group’s
accounting policies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e SRR MEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £202243/31H I F/Z

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated 3. MEMBHRERZEHREER
Financial Statements and Significant FTESTHER (&

Accounting Policies (continued)
3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

32 FESFHE(A)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full
on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are
presented separately from the Group’s equity therein,
which represent present ownership interests entitling
their holders to a proportionate share of net assets of
the relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.

Changes in the Group’s interest in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing
subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing
control over the subsidiaries are accounted for
as equity transactions. The carrying amounts
of the Group’s relevant components of equity
and the non-controlling interests are adjusted
to reflect the changes in their relative interests
in the subsidiaries, including re-attribution of
relevant reserves between the Group and the non-
controlling interests according to the Group’s
and the non-controlling interest’s proportionate
interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the
non-controlling interests are adjusted, and the
fair value of the consideration paid or received
is recognised directly in equity and attributed to
owners of the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR MEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &t £20224F 331 A I F/Z

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated 3. MEMBHRRZEHREER
Financial Statements and Significant FESTTEE (&)

Accounting Policies (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 3.2 XEGTTHE (&)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Changes in the Group’s interest in existing
subsidiaries (continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the
assets and liabilities of that subsidiary and non-
controlling interests (if any) are derecognised.
A gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss and
is calculated as the difference between (i) the
aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
received and the fair value of any retained interest
and (ii) the carrying amount of the assets (including
goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary
attributable to the owners of the Company. All
amounts previously recognised in OCI in relation
to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group
had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit
or loss or transferred to another category of equity
as specified/permitted by applicable HKFRSs).
The fair value of any investment retained in the
former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is
regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for
subsequent accounting under HKFRS 9 Financial
Instruments (“HKFRS 9”) or, when applicable, the
cost on initial recognition of an investment in an
associate or a joint venture.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business
is carried at cost as established at the date of
acquisition of the business less accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill
is allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating
units (or groups of cash-generating units) that
is expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination, which represent the lowest level
at which the goodwill is monitored for internal
management purposes and not larger than an
operating segment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e SRR MEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £202243/31H I F/Z

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated 3. MEMBHRERZEHREER
Financial Statements and Significant FTESTHER (&

Accounting Policies (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 3.2 XEGTTHE (&)

Gooawiill (continued) BE (&)
A cash-generating unit (or groups of cash- EESEMENRSESEM (KR
generating units) to which goodwill has been TEABVARN) BFAMBETRETR

allocated is tested for impairment annually or
more frequently when there is an indication that
the unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising
on an acquisition in a reporting period, the cash-
generating unit (or groups of cash-generating units)
to which goodwill has been allocated is tested
for impairment before the end of that reporting
period. If the recoverable amount is less than its
carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated
first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
and then to the other assets on pro-rata based on
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit (or
groups of cash-generating units). Any impairment
loss for goodwill is recognised directly in profit or
loss. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is
not reversed in subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit,
or any of the cash-generating unit within the group
of cash-generating units, the attributable amount
of goodwill is included in the determination of the
amount of profit or loss on disposal. When the
Group disposes of an operation within the cash-
generating unit (or a cash-generating unit within
a group of cash-generating units), the amount of
goodwill disposed of is measured on the basis of
the relative values of the operation (or the cash-
generating unit) disposed of and the portion of
the cash-generating unit (or the group of cash-
generating units) retained.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR MEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &t £20224F 331 A I F/Z

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated 3. ,%?\/\,ﬁ%i&%fz MBEEER
Financial Statements and Significant ZETTBOR (&)

Accounting Policies (continued)
3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

32 FEEFTHE(A)

Investments in an associate and a joint venture
An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the
power to participate in the financial and operating
policy decisions of the investee but is not control
or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the
parties that have joint control of the arrangement
have rights to the net assets of the joint arrangement.
Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing
of control of an arrangement, which exists only
when decisions about the relevant activities require
unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of an associate
and a joint venture are incorporated in these
consolidated financial statements using the equity
method of accounting. The financial statements
of associates and joint ventures used for equity
accounting purposes are prepared using uniform
accounting policies as those of the Group for like
transactions and events in similar circumstances.
Under the equity method, an investment in an
associate or a joint venture is initially recognised
in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the
Group’s share of the profit or loss and OCI of the
associate or joint venture. Changes in net assets of
the associate/joint venture other than profit or loss
and OCI are not accounted for unless such changes
resulted in changes in ownership interest held by
the Group. When the Group’s share of losses of an
associate or a joint venture exceeds the Group’s
interest in that associate or joint venture (which
includes any long-term interests that, in substance,
form part of the Group’s net investment in the
associate or joint venture), the Group discontinues
recognising its share of further losses. Additional
losses are recognised only to the extent that
the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the
associate or joint venture.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e SRR MEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £202243/31H I F/Z

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated 3. MEMBHRERZEHREER
Financial Statements and Significant FTESTHER (&

Accounting Policies (continued)
3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

32 FESFHE(A)

Investments in an associate and a joint venture

(continued)

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is
accounted for using the equity method from the
date on which the investee becomes an associate
or a joint venture. On acquisition of the investment
in an associate or a joint venture, any excess of
the cost of the investment over the Group’s share
of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill,
which is included within the carrying amount of
the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share
of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities over the cost of the investment, after
reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit
or loss in the period in which the investment is
acquired.

The Group assess whether there is an objective
evidence that the interest in an associate or a joint
venture may be impaired. When any objective
evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of
the investment (including goodwill) is tested for
impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 as a single
asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher
of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal)
with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss
recognised is not allocated to any asset, including
goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount
of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment
loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36
to the extent that the recoverable amount of the
investment subsequently increases.

When a group entity transacts with an associate
or a joint venture of the Group, profits and losses
resulting from the transactions with the an
associate or joint venture are recognised in the
Group’s consolidated financial statements only
to the extent of interests in the associate or joint
venture that are not related to the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR MEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &t £20224F 331 A I F/Z

REUBRRZERRELER
TESHHX (&

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated 3.
Financial Statements and Significant

Accounting Policies (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 3.2 XEGTTHE (&)

Interests in joint operations

A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the
parties that have joint control of the arrangement
have rights to the assets, and obligations for the
liabilities, relating to the joint arrangement. Joint
control is the contractually agreed sharing of control
of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions
about the relevant activities require unanimous
consent of the parties sharing control.

The Group accounts for the assets, liabilities,
revenues and expenses relating to its interest in
a joint operation in accordance with the HKFRSs
applicable to the particular assets, liabilities,
revenues and expenses.

When a group entity transacts with a joint
operation in which a group entity is a joint operator
(such as a sale or contribution of assets), the Group
is considered to be conducting the transaction with
the other parties to the joint operation, and gains
and losses resulting from the transactions are
recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial
statements only to the extent of other parties’
interests in the joint operation.

When a group entity transacts with a joint
operation in which a group entity is a joint operator
(such as a purchase of assets), the Group does not
recognise its share of the gains and losses until it
resells those assets to a third party.

Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets (and disposal groups) are
classified as held for sale if their carrying amount
will be recovered principally through a sale
transaction rather than through continuing use.
This condition is regarded as met only when the
asset (or disposal group) is available for immediate
sale in its present condition subject only to terms
that are usual and customary for sales of such asset
(or disposal group) and its sale is highly probable.
Management must be committed to the sale, which
should be expected to qualify for recognition as a
completed sale within one year from the date of
classification.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e SRR MEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £202243/31H I F/Z

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated 3. MEMBHRERZEHREER
Financial Statements and Significant FTESTHER (&

Accounting Policies (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 3.2 XEGTTHE (&)

Non-current assets held for sale (continued)
When the Group is committed to a sale plan
involving loss of control of a subsidiary, all of
the assets and liabilities of that subsidiary are
classified as held for sale when the criteria
described above are met, regardless of whether the
Group will retain a non-controlling interest in the
relevant subsidiary after the sale.

Non-current assets (and disposal groups) classified
as held for sale are measured at the lower of their
previous carrying amount and fair value less costs
to sell, except for financial assets within the scope
of HKFRS 9, investment properties which continue
to be measured in accordance with the accounting
policies as set out in respective sections.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when
“control” of the goods or services underlying the
particular performance obligation is transferred to
the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or
service (or a bundle of goods or services) that is
distinct or a series of distinct goods or services that
are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is
recognised over time by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following
criteria is met:

the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs;

the Group’s performance creates or enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the
Group performs; or

the Group’s performance does not create an
asset with an alternative use to the Group and
the Group has an enforceable right to payment
for performance completed to date.

Emperor International Holdings Limited ZHEZ2£E (EE) BRAE
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/2022 FE#k

FEHEZHFRBEE (&)
EARKEAGEET SRR E RN B
RENEDIE 2 B ER I T A% E
EEBNEERREEBHBARZ
RS 2B AR ZAAEEENR
BERTAELADBARAFKELE 2K
RS D B RRHEL & -

DRRBELEZIRBEE (K
AR DR EENERABRRAE
BEME P 2 BEE R LSRG E - H
BEMBHRELRNFIREBEN 2 S/
BENMEBREHMEA 2 T BRE
TR B ZIEMERI

KEBEFEHZHA
AREBER T EHEER (SHtLL) i
RUA - BIERFERAOTENMEAE®D
SR 2B BB T B RHER
YA o

BRBES M —EEBE MRS (3
—HRHHE 28 mBIRF) K — KT
ABER 2 BBEE MR

I — RS AR WERIAT
Heh—I8 G4 WAKSREBRENE
EZTAEE RN —REBAER

BEPRANE B E X [ U K
FER AR BB QPSR 2 Flat

AEENBHELSIRIT —BE
E MzxAEERAREEARH
BEPEH

AEEROYBELUANKER
BRAgcEE MAKERNES
SREIITRN AREGE S B TEK
BRHOEEZFTIEA-



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR MEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &t £20224F 331 A I F/Z

REUBRRZERRELER
TESHHX (&

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated 3.
Financial Statements and Significant

Accounting Policies (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 3.2 XEGTTHE (&)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the distinct
good or service.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation
to transfer goods or services to a customer for which
the Group has received consideration (or an amount
of consideration is due) from the customer.

Contracts with multiple performance obligations
(including allocation of transaction price)

For contracts that contain more than one
performance obligations including bundle sales
for hotel accommodation and food and beverage,
the Group allocates the transaction price to each
performance obligation on a relative stand-alone
selling price basis.

The stand-alone selling price of the distinct good
or service underlying each performance obligation
is determined at contract inception. It represents
the price at which the Group would sell a promised
good or service separately to a customer. If a stand-
alone selling price is not directly observable, the
Group estimates it using appropriate techniques
such that the transaction price ultimately allocated
to any performance obligation reflects the amount
of consideration to which the Group expects to be
entitled in exchange for transferring the promised
goods or services to the customer.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement
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performance obligation
Output method B %

The progress towards complete satisfaction of
a performance obligation is measured based on
output method, which is to recognise revenue
on the basis of direct measurements of the value
of the services transferred to the customer to
date relative to the remaining services promised
under the contract, that best depict the Group’s
performance in transferring control of services.
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3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated 3. MEMBHRERZEHREER
Financial Statements and Significant FTESTHER (&

Accounting Policies (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 3.2 XEGTTHE (&)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
Existence of significant financing component

In determining the transaction price, the Group
adjusts the promised amount of consideration
for the effects of the time value of money if the
timing of payments agreed (either explicitly or
implicitly) provides the customer or the Group
with a significant benefit of financing the transfer
of goods or services to the customer. In those
circumstances, the contract contains a significant
financing component. For contracts where the
period between the payment by the customer
and the transfer of the promised property or
service exceeds one year, the transaction price is
adjusted for the effects of a financing component,
if significant, and is included in contract liabilities
before the transfer of the promised property
or services. A significant financing component
may exist regardless of whether the promise of
financing is explicitly stated in the contract or
implied by the payment terms agreed to by the
parties to the contract.

For contracts where the period between payment
and transfer of the associated goods or services is
less than one year, the Group applies the practical
expedient of not adjusting the transaction price for
any significant financing component.

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract
Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are those
costs that the Group incurs to obtain a contract
with a customer that it would not have incurred if
the contract had not been obtained.

The Group recognises such costs (sales commissions)
as an asset if it expects to recover these costs. The
asset so recognised is subsequently amortised to
profit or loss on a systematic basis that is consistent
with the transfer to the customer of the goods or
services to which the assets relate. The asset is
subject to impairment review.

The Group applies the practical expedient of
expensing all incremental costs to obtain a contract
if these costs would otherwise have been fully
amortised to profit or loss within one year.

Emperor International Holdings Limited ZHEZ2£E (EE) BRAE
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/2022 FE#k

KEEFEHZHA (&)
FHEEAME XD

REEXZER HAEFEEEM
RGBS (T am AR R B R 77 ) 1
EZNFERREPXARETHKE
REEF S AIAKEREEEREE
M EMBARBREFAHZREBDIE V&
ZRRAT AHEBERBEKSD 5L
BN REAREY XK RBOER
ZEWNHRBEB—F2A0ME &4
MZZEREBEERERTHNFE (1
BER)MAETHE WRARYELR
BOEBBAT AGNRER  TwlE
KR IABRR 25 30E KRT K77 0 TE 0
SRR TR E A AP HFE
BERBERD

110 B 5 n 2 AR 7% B0 A SR R 88 R 2 TR
MEBRADN—F280ME NEERL
ERERBEXD KA THEZZE
R AITRE A

BERERZIEBRA
ESEHNBEKRAEARERGE
FAammELENKA WMAESZE
AT EEERBARA-

fie A 5= [ R A U B SZ S RAS - RN SR [
RzERN (HEMS)ERREE-
R CEEERZENT P BB Z
FEERABNEMIRE —BHOESR
MRERIBR N - ZEERETTR
BER -

iz FERAR —FREAEMLT AR
PR B ARBRRAAITEE
FTEBABRESANZIEERAER
b
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REUBRRZERRELER
TESHHX (&

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated 3.
Financial Statements and Significant

Accounting Policies (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 3.2 XEGTTHE (&)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
Revenue recognition

Sale of properties is recognised at a point in
time when control of the completed properties is
delivered to buyers. The Group receives deposit
from buyers when they sign the sale and purchase
agreement. The deposits received from the
contracts prior to meeting the above criteria for
revenue recognition are recognised as contract
liabilities.

The Group provides services to a gaming
concessionaire in Macau Special Administrative
Region (“Macau”) under service arrangements for
gaming operation in mass market hall, VIP room
and slot machine hall. The performance obligation
represents provision of gaming-related marketing
and public relation services to the gaming
concessionaire. Revenue from such services are
recognised as a performance obligation satisfied
over time as the Group is entitled to receive its
service income according to the relevant operating
performance from the gaming concessionaire and
the gaming concessionaire simultaneously receives
and consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs.

The Group provides hotel room to customers.
The performance obligation represents provision
of hotel accommodation services for customers.
Revenue from hotel room is recognised as a
performance obligation satisfied over time as the
Group is entitled to receive its income according
to the relevant operating performance from the
customers and the customers simultaneously
receive and consume the benefits provided by the
Group’s performance as the Group performs.

The transaction price of food and beverage is the
net amount collected from the customer for such
goods and services. The transaction price for such
transactions is recorded as revenue when the good
is transferred to the customer. There is no other
separate performance obligation identified except
for delivery of goods. The revenue on food and
beverage sales is recognised as revenue when the
food and beverage are delivered and titles have
been passed.
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3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated 3. MEMBHRERZEHREER
Financial Statements and Significant FTESTHER (&

Accounting Policies (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 3.2 XEGTTHE (&)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
Revenue recognition (continued)

The Group has other contracts that include
multiple goods and services, such as packages
that bundle food and beverage and other services
with hotel stays. For such arrangements, the Group
allocates revenue to each good or service based
on its relative stand-alone selling price. The Group
primarily determines the stand-alone selling price
of hotel rooms and food and beverage based on
the amount that the Group charges when each is
sold separately in similar circumstances to similar
customers.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn
rentals and/or for capital appreciation including
investment properties under development for such
purposes.

Investment properties are initially measured
at cost, including any directly attributable
expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are measured at fair value,
adjusted to exclude any prepaid or accounted
operating lease income.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair
value of investment properties are included in
profit or loss for the period in which they arise.

Construction costs incurred for investment
properties under development are capitalised
as part of the carrying amount of the investment
properties under development.

An investment property is derecognised upon
disposal or when the investment property is
permanently withdrawn from use and no future
economic benefits are expected from its disposal.
Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the
property (calculated as the difference between the
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of
the asset) is included in profit or loss in the period
in which the property is derecognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR MEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &t £20224F 331 A I F/Z

REUBRRZERRELER
TESEEX (&)

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated 3.
Financial Statements and Significant

Accounting Policies (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 3.2 XEGTTHE (&)

Property, plant and equipment Y- HERRE
Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets ME - BREMRER/FEEEXHES

that are held for use in the production or supply of
goods or services, or for administrative purposes.
Property, plant and equipment are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost
less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Properties in the course of construction for
production, supply or administrative purposes are
carried at cost, less any recognised impairment
loss. Costs include any costs directly attributable
to bringing the asset to the location and condition
necessary for it to be capable of operating in
the manner intended by management and, for
qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in
accordance with the Group’s accounting policy.
Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as
other property assets, commences when the assets
are ready for their intended use.

When the Group makes payments for ownership
interests of properties which includes both
leasehold land and building elements, the entire
consideration is allocated between the leasehold
land and the building elements in proportion to
the relative fair values at initial recognition. To
the extent the allocation of the relevant payments
can be made reliably, interest in leasehold land
is presented as “right-of-use assets” in the
consolidated statement of financial position except
for those that are classified and accounted for
as investment properties under fair value model.
When the consideration cannot be allocated
reliably between non-lease building element and
undivided interest in the underlying leasehold land,
the entire properties are classified as property,
plant and equipment.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the
cost or deemed cost of items of property, plant
and equipment less their residual values over
their useful lives, using the straight line method.
The estimated useful lives, residual values and
depreciation method are reviewed at the end
of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective
basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e SRR MEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £202243/31H I F/Z

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated 3. MEMBHRERZEHREER
Financial Statements and Significant FTESTHER (&

Accounting Policies (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 3.2 XEGTTHE (&)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising
on the disposal or retirement of an item of property,
plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount
of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Transfer of assets revaluation reserve to retained
profits is made in relation to the subsequent sale
or retirement of a revalued item.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of qualifying
assets, which are assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their
intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those
assets until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. For investment
properties under development and properties under
development for sale, the Group ceases to capitalise
borrowing costs as soon as the properties are ready
for the Group’s intended use or sale.

Any specific borrowing that remain outstanding
after the related asset is ready for its intended use
or sale is included in the general borrowing pool
for calculation of capitalisation rate on general
borrowings. Investment income earned on the
temporary investment of specific borrowings
pending their expenditure on qualifying assets
is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR MEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &t £20224F 331 A I F/Z

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated 3. ,%?\/\,ﬁ%i&%fz MBEEER
Financial Statements and Significant SETHX (&)

Accounting Policies (continued)
3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

32 FEEFTHE(A)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets other than goodwill (see
the accounting policy in respect of goodwill
above)

At the end of each reporting period, the Group
reviews the carrying amounts of its property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets to
determine whether there is any indication that
these assets have suffered an impairment loss. If
any such indication exists, the recoverable amount
of the relevant asset is estimated in order to
determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets are estimated
individually. When it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount individually, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment,
corporates assets are allocated to the relevant
cash-generating units when a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be established, or
otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group
of cash-generating units for which a reasonable
and consistent allocation basis can be established.
The recoverable amount is determined for the
cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating
units to which the corporate asset belongs, and is
compared with the carrying amount of the relevant
cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating
units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-
tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating
unit) for which the estimates of future cash flows
have not been adjusted.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e SRR MEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & Z202243431H i /&

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated 3. %’%A,ﬂ%iﬁﬁz MBEEER
Financial Statements and Significant SETBX (&)
Accounting Policies (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

32 FEEFHE(A)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets other than goodwill (see
the accounting policy in respect of goodwill

above) (continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the
asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to
its recoverable amount. For corporate assets
or portion of corporate assets which cannot be
allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis to
a cash-generating unit, the Group compares the
carrying amount of a group of cash-generating
units, including the carrying amounts of the
corporate assets or portion of corporate assets
allocated to that group of cash-generating units,
with the recoverable amount of the group of cash-
generating units. In allocating the impairment loss,
the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable)
and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis
based on the carrying amount of each asset in the
unit or the group of cash-generating units. The
carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below
the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal
(if measurable), its value in use (if determinable)
and zero. The amount of the impairment loss that
would otherwise have been allocated pro-rata to
the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of
the unit or the group of cash-generating units. An
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit
or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses,
the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-
generating unit or a group of cash-generating
units) is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, but so that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or a
cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating
units) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR MEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &t £20224F 331 A I F/Z

REUBRRZERRELER
TESHHX (&

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated 3.
Financial Statements and Significant
Accounting Policies (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 3.2 XEGTTHE (&)

Leases HE
Definition of a lease HEZTHE

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or
after the date of initial application or arising
from business combinations, the Group assesses
whether a contract is or contains a lease based
on the definition under HKFRS 16 at inception,
modification date or acquisition date, as
appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed
unless the terms and conditions of the contract are
subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a
contract

For a contract that contains a lease component
and one or more additional lease or non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration
in the contract to each lease component on the
basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease
component and the aggregate stand-alone price
of the non-lease components including contract
for acquisition of ownership interests of a property
which includes both leasehold land and non-
lease building components, unless such allocation
cannot be made reliably.

The Group also applies practical expedient
not to separate non-lease components from
lease component, and instead account for the
lease component and any associated non-lease
components as a single lease component.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e SRR MEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £202243/31H I F/Z

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated 3. MEMBHRERZEHREER
Financial Statements and Significant FTESTHER (&

Accounting Policies (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 3.2 XEGTTHE (&)

Leases (continued) HE (&)
The Group as a lessee (continued) KEBIESAEA (E)
Short-term leases FHEIMEE

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of leasehold land and
buildings and motor vehicles that have a lease
term of 12 months or less from the commencement
date and do not contain a purchase option. Lease
payments on short-term leases are recognised
as expense on a straight-line basis or another
systematic basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

the amount of the initial measurement of the
lease liability;

any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

any initial direct costs incurred by the Group;
and

an estimate of costs to be incurred by the
Group in dismantling and removing the
underlying assets, restoring the site on which
it is located or restoring the underlying asset
to the condition required by the terms and
conditions of the lease.

Except for those that are classified as investment
properties and measured under fair value model,
right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses,
and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liabilities other than adjustments to lease liabilities
resulting from Covid-19-related rent concessions in
which the Group applied the practical expedient.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-
line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful
life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do
not meet the definition of investment property
or inventory as a separate line item on the
consolidated statement of financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR MEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &t £20224F 331 A I F/Z

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated 3. MEMBHRRZEHREER
Financial Statements and Significant FTESTHER (&

Accounting Policies (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 3.2 XEGTTHE (&)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted
under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition
are considered as additional lease payments and
included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the
present value of lease payments that are unpaid
at that date. In calculating the present value of
lease payments, the Group uses the incremental
borrowing rate at the lease commencement date if
the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable.

The lease payments include:

fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable;

amounts expected to be payable by the Group
under residual value guarantees;

payments of penalties for terminating a lease,
if the lease term reflects the Group exercising
an option to terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e SRR MEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £202243/31H I F/Z

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated 3. %’%A,ﬁ%iﬁﬁz MBEEER
Financial Statements and Significant SETBX (&)
Accounting Policies (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

32 FEEFHE(A)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Lease liabilities (continued)

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes
a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-
use assets) whenever:

the lease term has changed or there is a
change in the assessment of exercise of a
purchase option, in which case the related
lease liability is remeasured by discounting
the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the date of reassessment.

the lease payments change due to changes in
market rental rates following a market rent
review in which cases the related lease liability
is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using the initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate
line item on the consolidated statement of financial
position.

Lease modifications

Except for Covid-19-related rent concessions in
which the Group applied the practical expedient,
the Group accounts for a lease modification as a
separate lease if:

the modification increases the scope of the
lease by adding the right to use one or more
underlying assets; and

the consideration for the leases increases by
an amount commensurate with the stand-
alone price for the increase in scope and
any appropriate adjustments to that stand-
alone price to reflect the circumstances of the
particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for
as a separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease
liability based on the lease term of the modified
lease by discounting the revised lease payments
using a revised discount rate at the effective date
of the modification.
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# F202243H31H 1FF/E

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Significant

Accounting Policies (continued)
3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Lease modifications (continued)

The Group accounts for the remeasurement
of lease liabilities by making corresponding
adjustments to the relevant right-of-use asset.

Covid-19-related rent concessions

In relation to rent concessions that occurred as
a direct consequence of the coronavirus disease
(“Covid-19”) pandemic, the Group has elected to
apply the practical expedient not to assess whether
the change is a lease modification if all of the
following conditions are met:

the change in lease payments results in revised
consideration for the lease that is substantially
the same as, or less than, the consideration for
the lease immediately preceding the change;

any reduction in lease payments affects only
payments originally due on or before 30 June
2022; and

there is no substantive change to other terms
and conditions of the lease.

A lessee applying the practical expedient accounts
for changes in lease payments resulting from rent
concessions the same way it would account for
the changes applying HKFRS 16 if the changes are
not a lease modification. Forgiveness or waiver of
lease payments are accounted for as variable lease
payments. The related lease liabilities are adjusted
to reflect the amounts forgiven or waived with a
corresponding adjustment recognised in the profit
or loss in the period in which the event occurs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e SRR MEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £202243/31H I F/Z

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated 3. MEMBHRERZEHREER
Financial Statements and Significant FTESTHER (&

Accounting Policies (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 3.2 XEGTTHE (&)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified
as finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of an underlying
asset to the lessee, the contract is classified as
a finance lease. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised
in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the
term of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs
incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating
lease are added to the carrying amount of the
leased asset, and such costs are recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term
except for investment properties measured under
fair value model. Variable lease payments that do
not depend on an index or a rate are recognised
as income when they arise. When a lease contract
contains a specific clause that provides for rent
reduction or suspension of rent in the event that
the underlying assets (or any part thereof) are
affected by adverse events beyond the control
of the Group and the lessee so as to render the
underlying assets unfit or not available for use,
the relevant rent reduction or suspension of rent
resulting from the specific clause is accounted
for as part of the original lease and not as a lease
modification. Such rent reduction or suspension
of rent is recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which the event or condition that triggers those
payments to occur.

Rental income which are derived from the Group’s
ordinary course of business are presented as
revenue.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR MEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &t £20224F 331 A I F/Z

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated 3. MEMBHRRZEHREER
Financial Statements and Significant FESTTEE (&)

Accounting Policies (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 3.2 XEGTTHE (&)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessor (continued)

Allocation of consideration to components of a
contract

When a contract includes both leases and non-
lease components, the Group applies HKFRS 15
Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“HKFRS
15”) to allocate consideration in a contract to lease
and non-lease components. Non-lease components
are separated from lease component on the basis
of their relative stand-alone selling prices.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted
for under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at
fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial
recognition are considered as additional lease
payments from lessees.

Lease modification

Changes in considerations of lease contracts that
were not part of the original terms and conditions
are accounted for as lease modifications, including
lease incentives provided through forgiveness or
reduction of rentals.

The Group accounts for a modification to an
operating lease as a new lease from the effective
date of the modification, considering any prepaid
or accrued lease payments relating to the original
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lease as part of the lease payments for the new e
lease.

Inventories 75
Catering goods BEREFR

Catering goods are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Cost is determined on a first-
in, first-out method. Net realisable value represents
the estimated selling price for inventories less all
estimated costs of completion and costs necessary
to make the sale. Costs necessary to make the sale
include incremental costs directly attributable
to the sale and non-incremental costs which the
Group must incur to make the sale.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e SRR MEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & Z202243431H i /&

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated 3. %’%A,ﬁ%iﬁﬁz MBEEER
Financial Statements and Significant SETBX (&)

Accounting Policies (continued)
3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

32 FEEFHE(A)

Inventories (continued) FE (&)
Properties held for sale HIEHEZYF

Properties held for sale are completed properties
and are classified as current assets. Except for the
leasehold land element which is measured at cost
model in accordance with the accounting policies
of right-of-use assets, properties held for sale are
carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is determined on a specific identification basis
including allocation of the related development
expenditure incurred and where appropriate,
borrowing costs capitalised. Net realisable value
represents the estimated selling price for the
properties less estimated cost to completion and
costs necessary to make the sales. Costs necessary
to make the sale include incremental costs directly
attributable to the sale and non-incremental costs
which the Group must incur to make the sale.

Properties under development for sale
Properties under development for sale in the
ordinary course of business are classified as
current assets. Except for the leasehold land
element which is measured at cost model in
accordance with the accounting policies of right-of-
use assets, properties under development for sale
are carried at the lower of cost (or deemed cost
for those transferred from investment properties)
and net realisable value. Costs relating to the
development of the properties include land cost,
construction cost and other direct development
expenditure. Cost is determined on a specific
identification basis including allocation of the
related development expenditure incurred and
where appropriate, borrowing costs capitalised.
Net realisable value represents the estimated
selling price for the properties less estimated cost
to completion and costs necessary to make the
sales. Costs necessary to make the sale include
incremental costs directly attributable to the sale
and non-incremental costs which the Group must
incur to make the sale.

Properties under development for sale are
transferred to properties held for sale upon
completion.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR MEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &t £20224F 331 A I F/Z

REUBRRZERRELER
TESEEX (&)

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated 3.
Financial Statements and Significant

Accounting Policies (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 3.2 XEGTTHE (&)

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has
a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a
result of a past event, it is probable that the Group
will be required to settle that obligation, and a
reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the
best estimate of the consideration required to
settle the present obligation at the end of the
reporting period, taking into account the risks
and uncertainties surrounding the obligation.
When a provision is measured using the cash flows
estimated to settle the present obligation, its
carrying amount is the present value of those cash
flows (where the effect of the time value of money
is material).

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are
recognised when a group entity becomes a party
to the contractual provisions of the instruments.
All regular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade
date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the time frame established
by regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are
initially measured in accordance with HKFRS 15.
Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and
financial liabilities are added to or deducted from
the fair value of the financial assets or financial
liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e SRR MEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £202243/31H I F/Z

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated 3. MEMBHRERZEHREER
Financial Statements and Significant FTESTHER (&

Accounting Policies (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 3.2 XEGTTHE (&)

Financial instruments (continued)

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset
or financial liability and of allocating interest
income and interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
and payments (including all fees and points
paid or received that form an integral part of the
effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life
of the financial asset or financial liability or, where
appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions
are subsequently measured at amortised cost:

the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is to collect contractual
cash flows; and

the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions
are subsequently measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”):

the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is achieved by both
selling and collecting contractual cash flows;
and

the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR MEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022

# F202243H31H 1FF/E

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Significant
Accounting Policies (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)
Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (continued)

(i)

Amortised cost and interest income

(ii)

Interest income is recognised using the
effective interest method for financial assets
measured subsequently at amortised cost
and debt instruments subsequently measured
at FVTOCI. Interest income is calculated by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of a financial asset, except
for financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired (see below). For
financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period. If the
credit risk on the credit-impaired financial
instrument improves so that the financial
asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of
the financial asset from the beginning of the
reporting period following the determination
that the asset is no longer credit-impaired.

Debt instruments classified as at FVTOCI

Subsequent changes in the carrying amounts
for debt instruments classified as at FVTOCI as
a result of interest income calculated using the
effective interest method and foreign exchange
gains and losses are recognised in profit or
loss. All other changes in the carrying amount
of these debt instruments are recognised in
OCI and accumulated under the heading of
investments revaluation reserve. Impairment
allowances are recognised in profit or loss
with corresponding adjustment to OCI without
reducing the carrying amounts of these debt
instruments. When these debt instruments are
derecognised, the cumulative gains or losses
previously recognised in OCI are reclassified to
profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e SRR MEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £202243/31H I F/Z

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated 3. %’%A,ﬁ%iﬁﬁz MBEEER
Financial Statements and Significant SETBX (&)

Accounting Policies (continued)
3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

32 FEEFHE(A)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment
under expected credit loss (“ECL”) model on
financial assets (including receivables related to
a development project, amount due from a joint
venture, trade and other receivables, deposit
in designated bank account for development
properties, pledged bank deposit, short-term
bank deposits and bank balances), and other
items (lease receivables and financial guarantee
contracts) which are subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is
updated at each reporting date to reflect changes
in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result
from all possible default events over the expected
life of the relevant instrument. In contrast,
12-month ECL (“12m ECL”) represents the
portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result
from default events that are possible within 12
months after the reporting date. Assessment are
done based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific
to the debtors, general economic conditions and
an assessment of both the current conditions at
the reporting date as well as the forecast of future
conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the
loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when
there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, in which case the Group
recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether
lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on
significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a
default occurring since initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR MEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022

# F202243H31H 1FF/E

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Significant

Accounting Policies (continued)
3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition,
the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at
the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at
the date of initial recognition. In making
this assessment, the Group considers both
guantitative and qualitative information that
is reasonable and supportable, including
historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue
cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit
risk has increased significantly:

an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the financial instrument’s
external (if available) or internal credit
rating;

existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations;

an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of
the debtor;

an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor
that results in a significant decrease
in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e SRR MEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022

# 202243531 H 1FF/E

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Significant

Accounting Policies (continued)
3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

(i)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the
credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition when contractual payments
are more than 30 days past due, unless
the Group has reasonable and supportable
information that demonstrates otherwise.

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that
the Group becomes a party to the irrevocable
commitment is considered to be the date of
initial recognition for the purposes of assessing
impairment. In assessing whether there has
been a significant increase in the credit risk
since initial recognition, the Group considers
the changes in the risk that the specified
debtor will default on the contract.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness
of the criteria used to identify whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk
and revises them as appropriate to ensure
that the criteria are capable of identifying
significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the debtor
is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any
collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial
asset is more than 90 days past due unless
the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR MEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022

# F202293H31H 1FF/E

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Significant

Accounting Policies (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(continued)
(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets

(iv)

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one
or more events that have a detrimental impact
on the estimated future cash flows of that
financial asset have occurred. Evidence that
a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer
or the borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or
past due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic
or contractual reasons relating to the
borrower’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower a concession(s)
that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider; or

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when
there is information indicating that the
counterparty is in severe financial difficulty
and there is no realistic prospect of recovery,
for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets
written off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. A write-off constitutes
a derecognition event. Any subsequent
recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e SRR MEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £202243/31H I F/Z

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Significant

Accounting Policies (continued)
3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e.
the magnitude of the loss if there is a default)
and the exposure at default. The assessment
of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data and forward-
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects
an unbiased and probability-weighted amount
that is determined with the respective risks of
default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between
all contractual cash flows that are due to
the Group in accordance with the contract
and the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest
rate determined at initial recognition. For
a lease receivable, the cash flows used for
determining the ECL is consistent with the cash
flows used in measuring the lease receivable in
accordance with HKFRS 16.

For a financial guarantee contract, the Group
is required to make payments only in the event
of a default by the debtor in accordance with
the terms of the instrument that is guaranteed.
Accordingly, the ECL is the present value of the
expected payments to reimburse the holder
for a credit loss that it incurs less any amounts
that the Group expects to receive from the
holder, the debtor or any other party.

For ECL on financial guarantee contracts
for which the effective interest rate cannot
be determined, the Group will apply a
discount rate that reflects the current market
assessment of the time value of money and
the risks that are specific to the cash flows
but only if, and to the extent that, the risks are
taken into account by adjusting the discount
rate instead of adjusting the cash shortfalls
being discounted.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR MEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &t £20224F 331 A I F/Z

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated 3. MEMBHRRZEHREER
Financial Statements and Significant FTESTHER (&

Accounting Policies (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 3.2 XEGTTHE (&)

Financial instruments (continued) @I A (&)
Financial assets (continued) THEE (&)

Impairment of financial assets and other items RIBB BN GRS LR ERAETT

subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 BWEFRzZeREENAMIAR 2R

(continued) B (&)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (v) EHEEBEC S RER(E)
(continued)
Interest income is calculated based on the
gross carrying amount of the financial asset
unless the financial asset is credit-impaired, in
which case interest income is calculated based
on amortised cost of the financial asset.
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Except for financial guarantee contracts, the
Group recognises an impairment gain or loss
in profit or loss for all financial instruments
by adjusting their carrying amount, with
the exception of trade receivables where
the corresponding adjustment is recognised
through a loss allowance account.
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MENE M KAEB T ERTRE
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BRI LR REE

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only
when the contractual rights to the cash flows from
the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial
asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the asset to another entity.

RN ILERREFERATEZERE
ER BERAEECSR R ERKER
BRIV IE S RER -

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or
loss.

On derecognition of an investment in a debt
instrument classified as at FVTOCI, the cumulative
gain or loss previously accumulated in the
investments revaluation reserve is reclassified to
profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group
entity are classified as either financial liabilities or
as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e SRR MEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £202243/31H I F/Z

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated 3. MEMBHRERZEHREER
Financial Statements and Significant FTESTHER (&

Accounting Policies (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 3.2 XEGTTHE (&)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (continued)
Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments
issued by the Company are recognised at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities (including trade and other
payables, amount(s) due to an associate/
related companies/non-controlling interests
of subsidiaries, unsecured notes and bank
borrowings) are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

For the amounts due to non-controlling interests
of subsidiaries and amounts due to related
companies, if the Group revises its estimates of
the timing of repayments, the carrying amounts
are adjusted to reflect the revised estimated cash
flows. The Group recalculates the carrying amounts
by computing the present value of estimated
future cash flows at the balance’s original effective
interest rate. The difference is adjusted as deemed
capital contribution by the non-controlling
interests and the owners of the Company in equity.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that
requires the issuer to make specified payments to
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a
specified debtor fails to make payments when due
in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.
Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group
are measured initially at their fair values and, if not
designated as at fair value through profit or loss,
are subsequently measured at the higher of:

the amount of the loss allowance determined
in accordance with HKFRS 9; and

the amount initially recognised less, where
appropriate, cumulative amortisation
recognised over the guarantee period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR MEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &t £20224F 331 A I F/Z

REUBRRZERRELER
TESHHX (&

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated 3.
Financial Statements and Significant

Accounting Policies (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 3.2 XEGTTHE (&)

Financial instruments (continued) @I A (&)
Financial liabilities and equity (continued) eHAEELRER (&)
Derecognition/modification of financial liabilities SR B EHEKR BT

The Group derecognises a financial liability
when, and only when, the Group’s obligations
are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability derecognised and the
consideration paid and payable is recognised in
profit or loss.

When the contractual terms of a financial liability
are modified, the Group assess whether the revised
terms result in a substantial modification from
original terms taking into account all relevant facts
and circumstances including qualitative factors.
If qualitative assessment is not conclusive, the
Group considers that the terms are substantially
different if the discounted present value of the
cash flows under the new terms, including any
fee paid net of any fees received, and discounted
using the original effective interest rate, is at least
10 per cent different from the discounted present
value of the remaining cash flows of the original
financial liability. Accordingly, such modification of
terms is accounted for as an extinguishment, any
costs or fees incurred are recognised as part of the
gain or loss on the extinguishment. The exchange
or modification is considered as non-substantial
modification when such difference is less than 10
per cent.

For non-substantial modifications of financial
liabilities that do not result in derecognition, the
carrying amount of the relevant financial liabilities
will be calculated at the present value of the
modified contractual cash flows discounted at the
financial liabilities’ original effective interest rate.
Transaction costs or fees incurred are adjusted
to the carrying amount of the modified financial
liabilities and are amortised over the remaining
term. Any adjustment to the carrying amount of
the financial liability is recognised in profit or loss
at the date of modification.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e SRR MEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £202243/31H I F/Z

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated 3. MEMBHRERZEHREER
Financial Statements and Significant FTESTHER (&

Accounting Policies (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 3.2 XEGTTHE (&)

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable
profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from loss
before taxation because of income or expense that
are taxable or deductible in other years and items
that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates
that have been enacted or substantively enacted
by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax base used
in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable
temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are
generally recognised for all deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be
utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition
(other than in a business combination) of assets
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither
the taxable profit nor the accounting profit. In
addition, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised
if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments
in subsidiaries, interest in an associate and interest
in a joint venture, except where the Group is able
to control the reversal of the temporary difference
and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred
tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences associated with such investments and
interests are only recognised to the extent that
it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable
profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to
reverse in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR MEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &t £20224F 331 A I F/Z

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated 3. ,%?\/\,ﬁ%i&%fz MBEEER
Financial Statements and Significant ESETHE ()
Accounting Policies (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

32 FEEFTHE(A)

Taxation (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured
at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the
period in which the liability is settled or the asset is
realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and
assets reflects the tax consequences that would
follow from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets
and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax
liabilities and deferred tax assets for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value
model in accordance with HKAS 40 Investment
Property, the carrying amounts of such properties
are presumed to be recovered through sale, unless
the presumption is rebutted. Such a presumption
is rebutted when the investment property is
depreciable and is held within a business model
of the Group whose business objective is to
consume substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the investment property over time,
rather than through sale. If the presumption is
rebutted, deferred tax liabilities and assets for such
investment properties are measured in accordance
with the above general principles set out in HKAS
12 (i.e. based on the expected manner as to how
the properties will be recovered).

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for
leasing transactions in which the Group recognises
the right-of-use assets and the related lease
liabilities, the Group first determines whether the
tax deductions are attributable to the right-of-use
assets or the lease liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e SRR MEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £202243/31H I F/Z

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated 3. MEMBHRERZEHREER
Financial Statements and Significant FTESTHER (&

Accounting Policies (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 3.2 XEGTTHE (&)

Taxation (continued)

For leasing transactions in which the tax
deductions are attributable to the lease liabilities,
the Group applies HKAS 12 requirements to right-
of-use assets and lease liabilities separately.
Temporary differences on initial recognition of the
relevant right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
are not recognised due to application of the initial
recognition exemption. Temporary differences
arising from subsequent revision to the carrying
amounts of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities,
resulting from remeasurement of lease liabilities
and lease modifications, that are not subject to
initial recognition exemption are recognised on the
date of remeasurement or modification.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when
they relate to income taxes levied to the same
taxable entity by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit
or loss, except when they relate to items that
are recognised in OCI or directly in equity, in
which case, the current and deferred tax are also
recognised in OCI or directly in equity respectively.
Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the
initial accounting for a business combination, the
tax effect is included in the accounting for the
business combination.

In assessing any uncertainty over income tax
treatments, the Group considers whether it is
probable that the relevant tax authority will accept
the uncertain tax treatment used, or proposed
to be used by individual group entities in their
income tax filings. If it is probable, the current and
deferred taxes are determined consistently with
the tax treatment in the income tax filings. If it is
not probable that the relevant taxation authority
will accept an uncertain tax treatment, the effect
of each uncertainty is reflected by using either the
most likely amount or the expected value.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR MEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &t £20224F 331 A I F/Z

REUBRRZERRELER
TESHHX (&

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated 3.
Financial Statements and Significant

Accounting Policies (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 3.2 XEGTTHE (&)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each
individual group entity, transactions in currencies
other than the functional currency of that entity
(foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates
of exchanges prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. At the end of each reporting period,
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date.
Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair
value was determined. Non-monetary items that
are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement
of monetary items, and on the retranslation
of monetary items, are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which they arise. Exchange
differences arising on the retranslation of non-
monetary items carried at fair value are included in
profit or loss for the period.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated
financial statements, the assets and liabilities of
the Group’s foreign operations are translated into
the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. HKS)
using exchanges prevailing at the end of each
reporting period. Income and expenses items
are translated at the average exchange rates for
the year. Exchange differences arising, if any, are
recognised in OCl and accumulated in equity under
the heading of translation reserve (attributed to
non-controlling interests as appropriate).

Government subsidies

Government subsidies are not recognised until
there is reasonable assurance that the Group will
comply with the conditions attaching to them and
that the subsidies will be received.

Government subsidies are recognised in profit
or loss on a systematic basis over the periods
in which the Group recognises as expenses the
related costs for which the subsidies are intended
to compensate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e SRR MEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £202243/31H I F/Z

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated 3. MEMBHRERZEHREER
Financial Statements and Significant FTESTHER (&

Accounting Policies (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 3.2 XEGTTHE (&)

Government subsidies (continued)

Government subsidies related to income that
are receivable as compensation for expenses or
losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no
future related costs are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they become receivable.
Such subsidies are presented under “other
income”.

Share-based payment transactions

Share options granted to employees
Equity-settled share-based payments to employees
and others providing similar services are measured
at the fair value of the equity instruments at the
grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based
payments determined at the grant date without
taking into consideration all non-market vesting
conditions is expensed on a straight-line basis over
the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate
of equity instruments that will eventually vest, with
a corresponding increase in equity (share options
reserve). At the end of each reporting period, the
Group revises its estimate of the number of equity
instruments expected to vest based on assessment
of all relevant non-market vesting conditions. The
impact of the revision of the original estimates,
if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that
the cumulative expense reflects the revised
estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to the
share option reserve. For share options that vest
immediately at the date of grant, the fair value of
the share options granted is expensed immediately
to profit or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount
previously recognised in share option reserve will
be transferred to share premium. When the share
options are forfeited after the vesting date or are
still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in share option reserve will
be transferred to retained profits.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR MEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &t £20224F 331 A I F/Z

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated 3. MEMBHRRZEHREER

Financial Statements and Significant

Accounting Policies (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Retirement benefit costs
Payments to defined contribution retirement
benefit schemes other than the costs directly
attributable to the development of the properties,
which are capitalised as part of the cost of qualified
assets, are recognised as an expense when
employees have rendered service entitling them to
the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at
the undiscounted amount of the benefits expected
to be paid as and when employees rendered the
services. All short-term employee benefits are
recognised as an expense unless another HKFRS
requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit in
the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to
employees (such as wages and salaries and annual
leave) after deducting any amount already paid.

TESHHX (&

32 FEEFTHE(A)
BIKEFIEH
RERMEZEREGEER (IR
EXERBEREEMAZ —#D)
S E BB SR KR A EH B 2 R R
BRHRBEENTEERERHER 2
B R T AR -

R & 15 7

72 R B & M IR TEE SR B IR AR
0% S AN RO AR M B9 R BE IR & BRFERR © R
BAMBRE LR ITRENKA S
REEB RN ABEXARIN AR
HREBRANIER R -

EHREFNENEREE anEEER
BN (TE HehkFR)ERAE

4. Critical Accounting Judgements and 4. BEREFTHERMATTHBREE
Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty ZEEZRR
In the application of the Group’s accounting REAM Mt s NEB e KR &
policies, which are described in note 3, the Directors FARKREMKR I EMBRCEEREA

are required to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are
based on historical experience and other factors that
are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ
from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognised in the period in which the
estimate is revised if the revision affects only that
period, or in the period of the revision and future
periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

FEER E ARt BT - (3 IR R 38 - it A
BRI BASRERABERY K
EE AL BEARAMLE N LS
it

AT MBI RREFHE T ARG - @atEE
MERT R EITERT VIR (AERTE R &
%) BB RPMERTHAR R AR AR (40
ERTREE A MR KRR 3R -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMB|RME
For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £202243/31H I F/Z

4. BEREGFHHERMAETABEAREE

4. Critical Accounting Judgements and

Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

(continued)

Critical judgement in applying accounting policies
The following is the critical judgement, apart from
those involving estimations (see below), that the
Directors have made in the process of applying the
Group’s accounting policies and that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements.

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities
or assets arising from investment properties that are
measured using the fair value model, the Directors
have reviewed the Group’s investment property
portfolios and concluded that the Group’s investment
properties located in the People’s Republic of China
(“The PRC”) and Macau in the aggregate carrying
amounts of HK$12,347,800,000 as at 31 March 2022
(2021: HKS12,220,700,000) are held under a business
model whose objective is to consume substantially
all of the economic benefits embodied in the
investment properties over time, rather than through
sale. Therefore, the Directors have determined that
the presumption that the carrying amounts of such
investment properties located in The PRC and Macau
are recovered through sale is rebutted. As a result,
the Group has recognised deferred tax liabilities of
HK$1,870,160,000 (2021: HK$1,850,940,000) on changes
in fair value of investment properties as the Group is
subject to income tax in the respective jurisdictions, on
the assumption that these investment properties will
be recovered through use.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR MEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022

4.

# F202243H31H 1FF/E

Critical Accounting Judgements and
Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

(continued)

Critical judgement in applying accounting policies
(continued)

Deferred taxation on investment properties
(continued)

In respect of investment properties that are located
in Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (“Hong
Kong”) and the United Kingdom (“UK”) with aggregate
carrying amounts of HK$29,446,671,000 (2021:
HK$30,208,771,000), the Directors concluded that these
investment properties are not held under a business
model whose objective is to consume substantially all
of the economic benefits embodied in these investment
properties over time. Therefore, in measuring the
Group’s deferred taxation in investment properties, the
Directors have determined that the carrying amounts
of the investment properties located in Hong Kong and
UK measured using the fair value model are recovered
entirely through sale. As a result, the Group has not
recognised any deferred taxes on changes in fair value
of the investment properties situated in Hong Kong,
as it is expected that the Group will not subject to any
income taxes on disposal of its investment properties
situated in Hong Kong. From April 2019, the Group’s
investment properties in UK are subject to UK tax on
gains arising from disposals because of the changes
in UK tax rule. As a result, the Group has considered
the impact of deferred tax on changes in fair value of
investment properties as the Group is subject to income
tax in UK. As fair value losses have been recognised on
investment properties in UK during the year ended 31
March 2022, no deferred tax asset has been recognised
due to unpredictability of future profit streams.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty
at the end of the reporting period, that may have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the
next financial year.

4. BEREFHHERMAETAABEREE

ZEBERR (&)
FEREREZERHE ()

REEYWEZELYE (&)

RURFEFTHE ([FE]) RER
([ZEE ) BR M 42 {8 /329,446,671,0007% 7T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMB|RME
For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £202243/31H I F/Z

4. BEREGFHHERMAETABEAREE

4. Critical Accounting Judgements and

Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

(continued)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Valuation of investment properties

The investment properties of HK$41,794,471,000 at
31 March 2022 (2021: HKS$42,429,471,000) are measured
at fair value. The amount is based on a valuation
on these properties conducted by the independent
firms of qualified professional property valuers (the
“Valuers”) engaged by the Company and approved
by the Directors using property valuation techniques
which are dependent on key inputs and significant
unobservable inputs and assumptions that involve
judgement of market conditions. The relevant inputs
and conditions include:

capitalisation rates and comparable market
transactions with adjustments to reflect different
locations or conditions for completed investment
properties with the consideration of changes in
market conditions following the ongoing Covid-19
pandemic; and

comparable market rents and transactions,
discount rate, developer’s profit and cost to
be incurred to complete the development for
investment properties under development.

The basis of valuation is disclosed in note 14. Changes
to these assumptions and inputs would result in
changes in the fair value of the Group’s investment
properties and corresponding adjustments to the
amount of gain or loss reported in the profit or loss.

At the end of each reporting period, a designated
team works closely with the Valuers to establish and
determine the appropriate valuation techniques and
inputs for fair value measurements. Where there is
a material change in the fair value of the assets, the
causes of the fluctuations will be reported to the
Directors.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR MEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &t £20224F 331 A I F/Z
4. Critical Accounting Judgements and 4. BEREFTHERMEFTTHABAREE
Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty ZEERR (&)

(continued)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Estimated net realisable value on properties under

development for sale

The Group’s properties under development for sale
are stated at lower of cost and net realisable value.
The determination of the net realisable value is based
on estimated selling prices less estimated costs to
completion and estimated costs necessary to make
the sale of these properties. The selling prices are
estimated by reference to the market prices of similar
properties in prevailing market environment. The costs
to completion of the properties under development
for sale are estimated by reference to the development
budget, actual development cost of similar completed
properties with adjustments based on current market
data. If the actual net realisable value on properties
under development for sale is less than expected as a
result of change in market condition and/or significant
variation in the budgeted development cost, material
write-down may result.

The carrying amount of properties under development
for sale as at 31 March 2022 is HK$5,262,205,000 (2021:
HK$5,225,609,000). During the year, write-downs of
HK$46,485,000 (2021: HKS$24,716,000) and reversal on
previously recognised write-downs of HK$30,112,000
(2021: HKS$313,311,000) are recognised for properties
under development for sale respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e SRR MEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022

4.

# 202243531 H 1FF/E

Critical Accounting Judgements and
Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

(continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Impairment assessment on the recoverable amounts
of property, plant and equipment and right-of-

use assets in respect of hotel and hotel related
operations in Grand Emperor Hotel (collectively the
“Grand Emperor Hotel Properties”)

The impairment assessment of the Grand Emperor Hotel
Properties is performed by comparing the recoverable
amount of the Grand Emperor Hotel Properties, which is
the higher of the fair value less costs of disposal and value
in use to its carrying amount as at 31 March 2022.

The recoverable amount of the Grand Emperor
Hotel Properties is estimated based on fair value
less cost of disposal using income approach with
significant unobservable inputs and key assumptions
adopted by the management of the Group including
forecasted revenue, costs and discount rate applied
in the valuation conducted by an independent firm of
qualified professional valuers engaged by the Company
and approved by the Directors. Changing the inputs
and assumptions could materially affect the fair value.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, impairment
losses of HK$86,210,000 and HK$23,335,000 have been
recognised on property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets in respect of hotel and hotel related
operations in Grand Emperor Hotel, respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR MEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &t £20224F 331 A I F/Z

5. Revenue 5. WA
An analysis of the Group’s revenue is as follows: REBZWADHTOT :
(a) Contracts with customers (@) BEF&®
2022 2021
HK$°000 HK$°000
THET FHET
Hotel and hotel related BIERBEEEBER:
operations:
Recognised over time: R—EREEER:
Service income from gaming B R 52 REBEKA
transactions 209,075
Hotel room income HIE R E WA 50,693
Others Hh -
259,768
Recognised at a point in time: P TE By PR HE R
Food and beverage sales ERIHE 74,833
Others HAh 1,549
76,382
336,150
Sales of properties recognised RETHEBAZWEHE
at a pointin time 82,208
Revenue from contracts with REEFEHAZWA
customers 418,358
Transaction price allocated to the remaining PEREEFAENTZRBRBEBNER
performance obligations for contracts with WX EZE
customers
The transaction price allocated to the remaining PEEFNKBHAEETNRSE (KRB
performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially T EB D RETT) A KT 5T HERUA B
unsatisfied) and the expected timing of recognising BT :

revenue are as follows:

Sales of properties
MEHE
As at 31 March
M3A31H
2022 2021
HK$°000 HK$°000
THET THET
Within one year —F R 497,708
In the second year B _F 65,237

562,945

Emperor International Holdings Limited HZ2£ME (EE) BRAE]

ANNUAL REPORT 2021/2022 &%k 139



140

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £202243/31H I F/Z

5. Revenue (continued)
(a) Contracts with customers (continued)
Transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligations for contracts with

customers (continued)

All sales or services rendered from hotel and hotel
related operations are for contracts with an original
period of one year or less. As a practical expedient
under HKFRS 15, the transaction price allocated

5 WA (#&)

(@) BEF &6 (4#)
PTREEFAENDTRBBENERE
HWRBE (&)

FrBEE MBERBEBRIEZHE
IRBHR/RAR R —FHARNNA
#ERBRBPBHELEREISHK A

THRETE PEEZSEHRTENEE

to these remaining performance obligations is not ZRGEBERRTHE-
disclosed.
(b) Leases (b) &
2022 2021
HK$°000 HK$°000
THET FHET
Total revenue arising from leases: FHEE£ 2 # WK A :
For operating leases: MEEHEMS :
Lease payments that are fixed & 7E Sk K FE P HE B s Al R 2
or depend on an index or MERIE
a rate 887,059
Variable lease payments that Tﬁ(?ﬁ RIEE AR
do notdepend on anindex = A& BHERE
or a rate 11,665
898,724
6. Segment Information > *Eﬁﬂ
The Group’s operating and reportable segments are KEIZW EWREBLERMEMR
lease of properties, properties development and g %%%"@&@E&@Eﬁfﬁ%ﬁ DA
hotel and hotel related operations for the purpose of DEEEIR R EERE -

resource allocation and assessment of performance.

The segment information reported externally was
analysed on the basis of their products and services
provided by the Group’s operating divisions which
is consistent with the internal information that is
regularly reviewed by the executive directors of
the Company, the chief operating decision makers
(“CODM”), for the purposes of resource allocation and
assessment of performance. This is also the basis of
organisation in the Group, whereby the management
has chosen to organise the Group around differences in
products and services.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR MEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022

6.

# F202243H31H 1FF/E

Segment Information (continued)

Principal activities of the operating and reportable

segments are as follows:

Lease of properties  Completed investment
properties held for rental
purpose

Properties
development

Properties development and
redevelopment for sale
purpose

Hotel and hotel related
operations in Hong Kong
and Macau including mass
market hall, VIP room and slot
machine hall operations and
provision of gaming-related
marketing and public relation
services for Grand Emperor
Hotel in Macau

Hotel and hotel
related operations

The CODM review the hotel and hotel related operations
in Macau along with that in Hong Kong and hence
they are grouped and identified as a single operating
segment - hotel and hotel related operations.

The accounting policies of the operating and reportable
segments are the same as the Group’s accounting
policies described in note 3. Segment results represent
the profit earned by or loss suffered from each segment
without allocation of central administration costs,
interest income, government subsidies, finance costs,
gain on disposal of debt instruments at FVTOCI, share
of result of an associate, share of result of a joint
venture and unallocated other gains and losses. This is
the measure reported to the CODM for the purpose of
resource allocation and performance assessment.
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e SRR MEE

below:

For the year ended 31 March 2022
Segment revenue and results

6. Segment Information (continued) 6.
Information regarding the above segments is reported

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &t Z202243/31H 1F F/Z

DEER (&
AR LASEZANZEMT

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#UZ20229F3/31H 1L F/Z
kL ONES |

Segment revenue
- from external customers

2 ERA

- RENBRR 904,402 1,025,152

Segment results before impairment
losses, fair value change,
write-downs and reversal of
write-downs

Impairment losses recognised on
goodwill

Impairment losses recognised on
property, plant and equipment

Impairment losses recognised on
right-of-use assets

Fair value decrement in investment
properties

Write-downs of properties under
development for sale, net

Reversal of write-downs of
properties held for sale

STERESE AABEZED:
H0R K HOR B 1R 2
DEEE

BRABEZREBR
BRNFE BBERRELZ
REEE
BREREEEZRNESR
BRENEAAEEZHE
BIEHEZERTNEL

MR —F 8
REREZMEZ MR EE

743,485

(488,877) e
(16,373)

- 464

Segment results

NBEE 254,608 51,300

Interest income

Government subsidies
Corporate expenses, net
Finance costs

Share of result of an associate
Share of result of a joint venture

Loss before taxation
Taxation credit

Loss for the year

MBBA

B8
LXRERA-FE
VKRR
NE—ABEARZEE
NE—HAELEZRE

BRHAEE
BBEAR

FEBR
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399,770

(357,766)
(54,743)
(135,184)

(24,976)

(572,669)

2,329,324

452,928
(54,743)
(135,184)
(24,976)
(488,877)
(16,373)

464
(266,761)

42,928
2,761
(181,916)
(386,201)
(804)
(41,152)

(831,145)
91,503

(739,642)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR MEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & Z202243/31H 1F F/Z

6. Segment Information (continued) 6. "HER (&
For the year ended 31 March 2022 B Z20229F3A31H 1F F/E
Other information Hin &R

Amounts included in the measure  EtENBEEBFAZZUE:
of segment results:

Depreciation of property, plant ME BERZBITE

and equipment 144,963 144,963
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ~ FABEEZNE 23,972 23,972
Impairment allowance recognised ~ ®RE ZEUWHIE 2R EERE

for trade receivables - 921
(Gain) loss on disposal of property, — HEWE EERHEL

plant and equipment (W) B8 64 (415)

Amounts regularly provided to the CODM but not FTHRETIZRERREBAENERE
included in the measure of segment results (included in BRI ARFAZREB (GFAREER %
corporate expenses, net): B

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment, G“E2E@#HE 2 WE HELRREZ
at corporate level e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e SRR MEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £202243/31H I F/Z

6. Segment Information (continued) 6. DEEHR (&
For the year ended 31 March 2021 Bl F2021F3H31H IFFE
Segment revenue and results THEBRAREE
Hotel and
Lease of Properties  hotel related
properties  development operations Total
BIE ROBE
WERE MERR EEES BEm
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000
FET FHET THT TR
Segment revenue AERA
- from external customers - RENBRP 898,724 82,208 336,150 1,317,082
Segment results before fair value FELABEZED.
change, write-downs and AL B ¢ L T 2
reversal of write-downs EEY 715,882 (19,661) (398,019) 298,202
Fair value decrement in investment  EMERAABEZRE
properties (1,210,598) - - (1,210,598)
Reversal of write-downs of properties #{EH & 2 B E b ¥1% 2 #iR
under development for sale, net BE %8 - 288,595 - 288,595
Write-downs of properties held FIEHE 2 ME 2 WA
for sale - (34,708) - (34,708)
Segment results GEES (494,716) 234,226 (398,019) (658,509)
Interest income il B U A 75,854
Gain on disposal of debt instruments HEZEBEMB2EANETE
at FVTOCI AABEEBIAE 2 iE 3,270
Government subsidies TR 24,133
Corporate expenses, net TEER-FE (53,517)
Finance costs HEER (412,477)
Share of result of an associate HME—MHEDRAZEE (54,258)
Share of result of a joint venture NME—HAELECEE (68)
Loss before taxation BREAIE R (1,074,972)
Taxation credit HIEE S 204,686
Loss for the year FEBR (870,286)
Other information Hin&ER
Amounts included in the measure of & EDMBEEERAZFE:
segment results:
Depreciation of property, plantand ~ #1%¥ - #E k& ETE
equipment - - 145,013 145,013
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ~ {FAEEE 2T E - - 24,355 24,355
Impairment allowance recognised R(EE)EZREREL
(reversed) for trade receivables RERE 1,539 - (99) 1,440
Loss on disposal of property, HEME HRERLELER
plant and equipment 217 - 30 247
Amounts regularly provided to the CODM but not THRETIELERETEBHEDEE
included in the measure of segment results (included in BRI ARFTAZREB(GFAGREER—F
corporate expenses, net): #) -
HK$°000
FET
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment, TtXE@EFEHZWE HBEREZEZ
at corporate level e 31,873
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HE 2 IR =3
DHEER (4
AR AEBLEEDHEH P ZEENEE

6. Segment Information (continued) 6.
No analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities by

operating segment is disclosed as they are not regularly
provided to the CODM for review.

Geographical information
The Group’s operations are located in Hong Kong, The
PRC, Macau and UK.

The Group’s revenue from external customers and
information about its non-current assets, other than
receivables related to a development project and
pledged bank deposit, by geographical location of the
assets are detailed below:

DY EERRBE T I ELLEAREES
B - B I AR TR X T DA

b 35 & B
AREBERES - P B RPN IRBE L ER -

AEEREINBELZWAREBEEIER
BEE(TEEEH —ERXEBEE ZEK
HREREEFBRIGER)ZER (REEZ
HIRAI B E| 5 ) FFM T

Revenue from

customers Non-current assets
REEFZWA FRBEE
For the year ended
31 March As at 31 March
BZE3A31HILFEE MW3A31H
2022 2021 2022 2021
HK$’°000 HKS$’000 HKS$’000 HKS’000
FTET FHET FExT FHET
Hong Kong BB 718,454 29,318,429
The PRC Fh 165,652 10,114,720
Macau JEL P 335,877 4,310,614
UK ES 97,099 3,428,345
1,317,082 47,172,108
Information about major customers FEEFZEHR

During the year, revenue derived from one (2021: one)
customer contributed over 10% of the total revenue
of the Group’s revenue amounted to HK$260,581,000
(2021: HK$209,075,000). The revenue is related to the
hotel and hotel related operations.

RARFEE - KEHAEE LW ALO%A
F2Z1%2 (20215 1R)BEFP 2 A E
260,581,0007% 7T (20214 : 209,075,000/%
TT) e M BEE OB IR RS AR -
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7. Other Gains and Losses 7. Hthlm R EE
2022 2021
HK$°000 HK$°000
FERT FHET
Reversal of write-downs (write-downs) #5{EH& 2 ¥ 2 #UR# D
of properties held for sale (WA (34,708)
Impairment losses recognised on HREEZREEE
goodwill -
Impairment losses recognised on WRME HELREZ
property, plant and equipment VERIEN SR -

(Write-downs) reversal of write-downs #H{EHE 2 HRPWE
of properties under development for (HORK ) BR[| — JF 58

sale, net (Note) (Htat) 288,595
Impairment losses recognised on FEREREEE ZRIERE
right-of-use assets -
Net exchange (loss) gain FEN (BB KEFE 79,918
333,805
Note: During the year, the Directors reviewed the net realisable et RAFE ZEE2REFNMBRREYHEF
value of the properties under development for sale EHE CBERPMENT SR FEETR
with reference to the current market environment &1 0 I HEFRIMURI46,485,00078 7T (20214 :
and recognised write-downs of HK$46,485,000 (2021: 24,716,000/%8 7T ) & % Bl 5L A B #E38 2 #l
HK$24,716,000) and reversed previously recognised write- $%,30,112,0007% st (20214 : 313,311,000
downs of HK$30,112,000 (2021: HK$313,311,000). BT °
8. Finance Costs 8. BIKEH
2022 2021
HK$°000 HKS$’000
FHET FET
Interests on: E
- bank borrowings -RITEE 417,784
- lease liabilities -MHEaE 1,521
- unsecured notes - EEBER 261,097
- amounts due to related companies - JE{J B E A R FUIE 14,322
694,724
Less: Amount capitalised in the cost of &l RAEBREEKAH Z
qualifying assets B &AL FIE (298,367)
396,357
Bank charges RITEHA 16,120
412,477
Borrowing costs capitalised during the year arose MAFEZERNMEEERRTIR —REE
on the general borrowing pool and are calculated by BMEPES TEFRERNEE278%E
applying capitalisation rates ranging from 2.78% to 3.28% (20214 : 3.02%%E3.71% )5t & °

3.28% (2021: 3.02% to 3.71%) per annum.
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9. Loss Before Taxation

# F202243H31H 1FF/E

9. BRBIAIEIR

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET FHET
Loss before taxation has been arrived BF{RIEE S Ik
at after charging:
Staff cost, including directors’ BEINA (BREESFHE)
remuneration 476,869
Retirement benefit scheme RKTE N E S 3K
contributions 11,948
488,817
Auditor’s remuneration 1Z SR B & 7,390
Commission expenses in gaming BREK MR
operation (included in selling and (BEtASHER
marketing expenses) MZHEEZER) 38,200
Cost of properties held for sale EHERRBEAXZ
recognised as an expense FIEREMERAR 56,817
Cost of inventories in respect of ERARI ZBIER
hotel and hotel related operations B EAEBERFERAR
recognised as an expense 25,341
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - MERREZITE
equipment 176,886
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CREEEZIE 24,355
Loss on disposal of property, HEME HERXREBE2EBE
plant and equipment 247
and after crediting: MEstA:
Gain on disposal of debt instrument at HEFBEMEE N EFE
FVTOCI (included in other income) NhEEZEBIAZ
Wezs (R AEABUA) 3,270
Gain on disposal of property, plant and & #3 - #25 K& 2 Wz
equipment -
Government subsidies (Note) AT B (H1aE) 24,733
Interest income from a joint venture [ —f& & B FEUEZ F 2 U A 17,363
Interest income from debt instruments FEBEEME2E KT E
at FVTOCI (included in otherincome) 2ARBEZEBEIAEZTE
WA (FEAEAB YA 921
Other interest income H A F S A 57,570
Covid-19-related rent concession MABRESHEECHSER
(note 16) (Hf#£16) 545

Note: During the year, the Group recognised government
subsidies of HK$2,761,000 (2021: HK$24,733,000) in
respect of Covid-19-related subsidies, from Macau and
Hong Kong governments with no unfulfilled condition.
During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group
recognised government subsidies of HK$23,627,000 relates
to Employment Support Scheme provided by the Hong
Kong government (2022: Nil).

i RAFE AEBTETERENEGEDNE
N TERRFREBHE A BT
=M BB 2 BT 812,761,000 T
(20214 : 24,733,0005% 7T ) - 7 & £2021
FIA3LA IEFE - A K B TR BUT B
23,627,000/%8 T 8 H B BT IR 8 [R5t
¥ 58188 (20227 - &) -
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# 202243531 H 1FF/E

10.Directors’ and Five Highest Paid
Individuals’ Emoluments

NESREEBESFMALZ
i =

() Directors’ emoluments (i) EEMe
Directors’ emoluments for the year, disclosed RAFEE EEMREER EMRA
pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules and CO, KR EHEBIREE T
are as follows:
Non-
executive
director Executive directors Independent non-executive directors
FHTES y17E3 BUEHTES
Yeung
Luk FanMan  Cheung Ching Wong
Siu Man, Wong  Seung, Ping  Loong, TakMing, Cheng Chu Chan
Semon  ChiFai  Vanessa Keung  Alexander Gary KaYu KarWing  HonPiu Total
BNE  EZE B RWEE  BEE  EE®  BER A58 REE ag
HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000
Tén  TEx  fEr  FEr  TEn  TEn TR FEr  TEr  TEn
(Note ) (Note¢)
(i) (i)
2022 2022F
Fees e
Other emoluments: Hifie:
Salaries and other benefits (Vote ) e REAWEN (HHa)
Retirement benefit schemes contributions RINEREEIE R
Total emoluments ZHe
2021 2021
Fees e 500 500 250 250 280 280 280 2,340
Other emoluments: Hhe:
Salaries and other benefits (Vote ) S REMET (H#a) 3612 1512 5001 1,848 12,199
Retirement benefit schemes contributions RIBRIE EIE N 253 106 25 60 444
Total emoluments aMe 4,365 2,118 5,502 2,158 280 280 280 14,983
Notes: B 5T
(a) Other benefits include non-exclusive use of motor (a) EAbiF EIEFEAEEHRE  PEHE-

(b)

vehicles, yacht, club debentures and membership.

Retired as independent non-executive director on
19 August 2021.

Elected as independent non-executive director on
19 August 2021.

The performance related incentive payment is
determined with reference to the operating results
taking into account certain adjustments, individual
performance and comparable market statistics for the
year.

Emperor International Holdings Limited ZHEZ2£E (EE) BRAE
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/2022 FE#k

GEFRERE-

(b) M2021F8R19HERERBIUIEHNITE
Ep

() M202148R19REE SBE Y IEHTTE
Ho

HRBEBFZRBFTAD2RAFE

REXBAERFENETHE EA
KA RALBT IS RIREE
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For the year ended 31 March 2022

# F202243H31H 1FF/E

10.Directors’ and Five Highest Paid
Individuals’ Emoluments (continued)

(i)

(ii)

Directors’ emoluments (continued)

The chief executives are also executive directors
of the Company and their emoluments disclosed
above include those for services rendered by them
as chief executives.

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above
were mainly for their services in connection with
the management of the affairs of the Company
and the Group. The emoluments of non-executive
directors and independent non-executive directors
shown above were mainly for their services as
Directors.

Five highest paid individuals

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments
in the Group, three (2021: two) were Directors
whose emoluments are set out above. The total
emoluments of the remaining two (2021: three)
individuals were as follows:

NESERAEESFMALTZ
M= (&)

(i)

(ii)

EEME (F)

R TBABNRARR ZHITES

BEREXHBE LM BREFES
R TBABRERBGAESHME -

AERRATEEHSEZRBSH
EIEAR R A) AN B E R AT IR RS
2 o LA EFTRIFITE R R IF
HITEENMS T 2ERARFELE
ERMZ RIS HOTREN

IERSHMAL
EAXASEZESFMALH 3%
(2021F:2%) REF HEZHEH
B EX 87 2% (20214 : 3% ) &= ¥
AL B 4azEm T

2022 2021

HK$’000 HKS 000

FE T FET

Salaries and other benefits e kAEMmBET 8,316
Retirement benefit schemes IRRTE FIET 814K

contributions 120

8,436

Their emoluments were within the following bands:

BEME N FLATEHE:

Number of individuals

AB
2022 2021
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001/% 7t 2,500,000/ 7T 1
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001/8 7T 23,000,000/ 7T 1
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 3,000,001/8 T 23,500,000/ 7T 1

No remuneration was paid by the Group to the five
highest paid employees as an inducement to join
or upon joining the Group or as compensation for
loss of office for both years. None of the Directors
and the five highest paid individuals has waived
any emoluments during both years.

RMEFE AREHE N F58K
= MALTHM ERIMAREE LR
MAR 2 FE SRR ERBLAE-F
ENSEEEFHMA LR MESEH]E
MREAE B2
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The Group participates in a defined contribution
scheme which is registered under the Hong Kong
Occupational Retirement Scheme Ordinance (the
“ORS0O” Scheme) and the mandatory provident
fund scheme (“MPF Scheme”) established under
the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
Ordinance in December 2000. The assets of the
schemes are held separately from those of the
Group, in funds under the control of independent
trustees. Employees who were members of the
ORSO Scheme prior to the establishment of the
MPF Scheme were offered a choice of staying
within the ORSO Scheme or switching to the MPF
Scheme, whereas all new employees joining the
Group on or after 1 December 2000 are required to
join the MPF Scheme.

The retirement benefit cost charged to profit
or loss represents contributions payable to the
funds by the Group at rates specified in the rules
of the schemes. Where there are employees who
leave the ORSO Scheme prior to vesting fully in
the contributions, the contributions payable by
the Group are reduced by the amount of forfeited
contributions.

The Group also operates a defined contribution
retirement scheme for all qualifying employees
of a subsidiary of the Group in Macau since
1 September 2014. The assets of the scheme
are held separately from those of the Group in
funds under control of independent trustees. The
retirement scheme cost recognised in profit or
loss represents contributions payable to funds
by the Group at rates specified in the rules of the
scheme. Where there are employees of the Group
who leave the scheme prior to vesting fully in the
contributions, the contributions payable by the
Group are reduced by the amount of forfeited
contributions.
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10.Directors’ and Five Highest Paid

Individuals’ Emoluments (continued)
(iii) Retirement benefit schemes

0.ESERTEHEaFMALZ
M (&)
(iii) BIRBERIGHE

AEE2 R —ETERERE BRIE
T BRI BIRPIEM 2 B X R
PREH &) (T8 R R IRET 81 ) & 1020004
DRAREEBBHIME LB B EH
R ZBHEMERTERAE ([RESA
2] ZEFFIFZEERBULITEA
BHcESRE YRAKEZEED
B o JLR SR TE £ 5T IR AT B B R IR
ArEIRBE 2 REHAIEBRRBERSE
RAFFEINEBE M2 NREestE
722000F12 A1 B 3k AR P A 3 AR
SEZEEHAESMBESE -

REBREAHR ZRKENERT AR
SEIZEHAERANETE 2 LR HZ
FESEN2HF - HERENERT
2HENFROBEENRS NEE
A 2 HRIR B R WA SRR E 30
R ©

AEEB2014F9A818 BT AR EE
URRM 2 —BHBRARNMEEE
%R B & E U TURIKET 8] - 5T 8
LEEMBUXFEARNZESTA

WERAREE 2 EEDF - NBEmAMER
Z RN BI A AN 15 AN 5 B IR AT B4R R
PETEL R R E & P2 K - AR &
ERENHERZBEEBARLE X
SEEMEFRNRERRH KRS REIE
R ©
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10.Directors’ and Five Highest Paid

Individuals’ Emoluments (continued)

(iii) Retirement benefit schemes (continued)
The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in
Macau and The PRC are members of state-managed
retirement benefit schemes operated by the Macau
and The PRC government. The Group is required to
contribute a certain percentage of its payroll to the
retirement benefit schemes to fund the benefits.
The only obligation of the Group with respect to
the retirement benefit schemes is to make the
required contributions under the schemes.

During the year, the retirement benefit schemes
contributions were HK$12,524,000 (2021:

10.ESkhBHReFMALZ
<= (&)
(i) 3B VRIE RIS B ()

AEEZRFARTENBRARZEER
To3 Bl A B R PIBRAT Ko b B R B IR
ZBRERRRENAE 2K E - N
ERZESEFM X EA O LLRAZSE
RRENETEIHR AREREAREM
BE o NEE U RINE NG B A%
EzEEERNRRGFE 2R EET

e

RARFEE RRBENFEHRESES
12,524,000 7t (20214 : 11,948,000

HK$11,948,000).

11.Taxation Credit

BIT) °

11 BIRE R

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$°000
FER FET
Taxation credit comprises: MIBE RO
Current tax NEARLIA
Hong Kong Profits Tax BEBEFEH (12,884)
Macau Complementary Tax S P BT 15 48 FE B (1,527)
UK Income Tax REFTISHE (4,023)
The PRC Enterprise Income Tax PEPEMEHR (1,272)
(19,706)
Reversal of Macau Complementary Tax % [B] {F 4 3% P9 F7 15 #/ 70 Bt B 45
provision in respect of prior years 69,032
Over(under)provision in respect of TFERERSZ (TR)
prior years
Hong Kong Profits Tax R NIEH 93
Macau Complementary Tax RIS AR (37)
UK Income Tax HEPTEH -
56
Deferred taxation credit (note 35) B IEE R (H7£35) 155,304
204,686
Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the FRMFIH D BIRIEMEFE 2 (A5 &
estimated assessable profits for both years. SR M 1216.5%5T & ©
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11.Taxation Credit (continued) 11. %RIETEE% (#&)

The Macau Complementary Tax (“CT”) is calculated
at the applicable rate of 12% of the estimated
assessable profits for both years. Pursuant to the CT
Law, the statutory right to issue CT assessment on the
estimated assessable profits in a year of assessment
will expire in five consecutive years after that year of
assessment. At the end of the reporting period, the
Directors reassessed the adequacy of the CT provision
and determined to reverse part of the Group’s relevant
CT provision of HK$43,662,000 for the 2016 year of
assessment (2021: HK$69,032,000 for the 2015 year of
assessment) accordingly.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, UK Income Tax is
calculated at the applicable rate of 19% (2021: 20%) of
the estimated assessable profits.

Under the Law of The PRC on Enterprise Income Tax
(the “EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the
EIT Law, the tax rate of The PRC subsidiaries is 25% for
both years.

RPIFRIB IR ([ 7R )) 79 Bl 8
ﬁfﬁZﬁ%ﬂT’ﬁ%ﬁiﬁTﬁUZ‘@ﬁﬁ%)fézfélz%?r
B REMAVOE NBXFHFEARMG
SRR A 2 8 T B AT IR 2 O E HE R
REARFERMEEDFRED - RRE
R EERMARRE 2 TRMEENED
AT fl - 3 B Uk R RE B @ B0 o0 AR 52 B 722016
F IR E 2 A R iR TE 7 8 £843,662,000/8
7C (20214 : 20155 =¥ %t 5 /£69,032,000/%
JT)°

B E2022F3A31IR I E  REMEHR T
AR ET R SRS M) 2 38 A AR £19% (2021
F:20%)FtE -

REBPEEEMERE ([REMETE])
R EEFSPOEBIIGD - P BB ARR
PR E F 2 2 B R 2525% ©

The taxation credit for the year can be reconciled to FABRBER LA RGESERRAE BN
the loss before taxation per consolidated statement of AR RRANT -
profit or loss as follows:
2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$°000
TET FET
Loss before taxation B % B B 18 (1,074,972)
Taxation credit at Hong Kong BREBNIEH16.5%:T8 2

Profits Tax of 16.5% MIEHE & 177,370
Tax effect of share of result of SME—RBERARIREL

an associate M2 (8,953)
Tax effect of share of result of DME—HeEhEFREL

ajoint venture M2 (11)
Tax effect of income not taxable MBRBMEBERBKAZ

for tax purpose MG E 8 164,447
Tax effect of expenses not deductible MM E A HUR X H 2

for tax purpose M2 (221,527)
Utilisation of tax losses previously AL I?ﬁﬁﬁﬁ?&z%ﬁlﬁ

not recognised fE18 18,293
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised  KRERMIBEFEEZ WET L (37,821)
Effect of different tax rates of ME A RN EAM AR R

subsidiaries operating in REMEARzE

other jurisdictions 33,656
Reversal of CT provision in respect of BOEFmAmiiE

prior years 69,032
Overprovision in respect of prior years T F & &% 56
Others Hith 10,144
Taxation credit for the year FABIEER 204,686
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12.Dividends

12.1 8

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$°000
THET FHET
Dividends recognised as distribution ~ FRAERED K ZKE
during the year:
Final dividend paid in respect of B IR2021F KA B -
2021: HK$0.012 per share F%0.012/8 7T (20214 :
(2021: HK$0.035 per share $M2020F 2 REARR B &
in respect of 2020) &[%0.035%5 L) 128,714
Interim dividend paid in respect of BIR2022F F HAR B ¢
2022: HK$0.015 per share F1%0.015% 7T (20214 :
(2021: HK$0.012 per share M2021F 2 HIRE &
in respect of 2021) F0%0.012% 7T) 44,131
Special dividend paid in respect of B R2022F 5 R IR B, -
2022: HK$0.010 per share (2021: Nil) F20.010/8 7T (20214 : %) -
172,845

A special dividend of HK$0.010 per share amounting to
approximately HK$36,775,000 has been declared by the
Board of Directors (the “Board”) on 25 May 2021.

The final dividend of HK$0.016 per share in respect
of the year ended 31 March 2022 (2021: final dividend
of HK$0.012 per share) amounting to approximately
HK$58,841,000 has been proposed by the Board and
is subject to approval by the shareholders in the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

R2021F5A258 EF & ([EFE])Ek
F/%0.01078 7T 2 Rl 8. - #£4736,775,000
BT

EXgREREEE2022F3A318 LF
J€ 5 /%0.016)8 7T (20214 : REAR B @&
0.012% 7T ) 2 R Bk & - #£4758,841,000/%8
T AR RN EERRBFEAS L1 E
‘I AIEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e SRR MEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022

13.Loss Per Share

# 202243531 H 1FF/E
13. 8 E1E

The calculation of the basic loss per share attributable
to owners of the Company is based on the following
data:

AR A A A 5 B E A 1B T R
THEE Y

2022 2021
HK$°000 HK$°000
TET FET
Loss SFi=]
Loss (loss for the year attributable R EBREARAEEZ
to owners of the Company) for B (KNAE%EE A
the purpose of basic loss per share EEEEER) (767,448)
2022 2021
Number of shares R EE

Weighted average number of ordinary
shares in issue for the purpose of
basic loss per share

AT EEREANERREERZ
BT E B INE T8

3,677,545,667

Diluted loss per share is not presented as there was no
dilutive potential ordinary share for both years.

14.Investment Properties

The Group leases out various offices premises,
industrial premises, residential premises and retail
shops/complexes under operating leases with rentals
payable monthly. The leases typically run for an initial
period of 1 to 15 years, with unilateral rights to extend
the lease beyond initial period held by lessees only.
Majority of the lease contracts contain market review
clauses in the event the lessee exercises the option to
extend.

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as
a result of the lease arrangements, as all leases are
denominated in the respective functional currencies
of group entities. The lease contracts do not contain
residual value guarantee and/or lessee’s option to
purchase the property at the end of lease term.
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e ISR MEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022

# F202243H31H 1FF/E

14.Investment Properties (continued)

4. REWZE (&

2022 2021
Investment Investment
Completed  properties Completed properties
investment under investment under
properties development Total properties  development Total
[=5:3: ERw B BRH
RENE RENE L] REME REME &%
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$000 HK$°000 HKS000
TERL T T THBL THL FAL
FAIR VALUE BROAER
At beginning of the year RET) 40,321,571 4369,298 44,690,869
Exchange realignment MNEFHE 958,403 173,319 1,131,722
Additions NE 193,368 339,220 532,588
Disposals HE - - -
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 38) M EMB AR (f7#38) (1,231,000) - (1,231,000)
Transfer from propertiesunder ~ BHELEZERBRIE
development for sale (Note a) Bl (lita) - - -
Transfer from properties held for ~ B#/ELE 2 DEER
sale (Note b) (Hib) - - -
Transfer to properties under BATHELEZERT
development for sale (Note ¢) WE (Witc) (976,110) - (976,110)
Transfer from investment properties B%EHRRANEELS
under development to completed B &R X ENE
investment properties 401,383 (401,383) -
Transfer to assets classified BEENEARBIELEL
as held for sale (note 26) BE (f1:26) (508,000) - (508,000)
Net decrease in fair value RESRRZANER
recognised in profit or loss BOFE (752,144) (458,454)  (1,210,598)
At end of the year RER 38,407,471 4022,000 42,429,471
Notes: P
(a) During the year ended 31 March 2022, certain properties (a) #Z=202293A31BILFE & THGEHE

under development for sale originally held for sale purpose,
upon the change in use to held for rental purpose, were
reclassified to completed investment properties at fair value
of HK$446,136,000 at the date of transfer.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, certain properties held
for sale originally held for sale purpose, upon the change in
use to held for rental purpose, were reclassified to completed
investment properties at fair value of HK$169,111,000 at the
date of transfer.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, certain completed
investment properties originally held for rental purpose
were reclassified to properties under development for
sale upon commencement of construction at fair value of
HK$976,110,000 at the date of transfer.

HERBZBIFLEZERTYENRESE
RasBriiEg RERABLREE
446,136,000 TEHN DR/ EMKEY
#

BE2022F3A31IR I FE - ETMHREFE
HERGZHIFHEZMEREETRERE
EHHE  REBEHE LR EELY,111,000
BTENOBEREERIREDE-

BE2021IF3A31IR L FE - ETONHREFE
MERBZEEREEMENRERRER
#EHEH B A n E(E976,110,000/8 T EF# 5
BARKIENEZBRTME -
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14.Investment Properties (continued)

The carrying amount of investment properties
comprises properties situated in:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e SRR MEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £202243/31H I F/Z

14 REY % (&

REYME Z REE BB A TH T HZE -

2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$°000

FTHET TET

Hong Kong N 26,780,426
The PRC H 9,664,600
Macau B P 2,556,100
UK g 3,428,345
42,429,471

All of the Group’s property interests held under
operating leases to earn rentals or for capital
appreciation purposes are measured using the fair
value model and are classified and accounted for as
investment properties.

The fair values of the Group’s investment properties
at the end of each reporting period have been arrived
at on the basis of a valuation carried out on those
dates by Memfus Wong Surveyors Limited, Colliers
International (Hong Kong) Limited, CBRE Limited,
Cushman & Wakefield Debenham Tie Leung Limited,
Savills (Macau) Limited and Savills Valuation and
Professional Services Limited (2021: Memfus Wong
Surveyors Limited, Colliers International (Hong Kong)
Limited and Cushman & Wakefield Debenham Tie
Leung Limited), in accordance with the HKIS Valuation
Standards 2020 issued by Hong Kong Institute of
Surveyors or International Valuation Standards 2022
(2021: International Valuation Standards 2020) issued
by the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors. The
Valuers are not connected with the Group.

For completed investment properties, the valuations
have been arrived at with reference to market evidence
of recent transaction prices for similar properties and
rental income using the applicable market yields for
the respective locations and types of properties. There
is no change in the valuation techniques for completed
investment properties except for the commercial
properties in Macau.

Emperor International Holdings Limited ZHEZ2£E (EE) BRAE
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/2022 FE#k

AEBRERBELEHEFFERDAES
HRERNEEREZMERSVERLAE
BEEAAEBELDBERARR/REYE -

AEEREMERSHRERR2AAEE
TiRBEEREBFTENITER AR - = B
MEBER (BB BRAR -HHRELSE
&~ & Cushman & Wakefield Debenham
Tie Leung Limited * % — A F & # H7 (OB
FERAFRE-—AFEHETHERE
E¥EBEMARAN A (20214 : =FEEBIFHATT
ERRAB - mhBEEREYEBERE (EB)EAR
A7 M Cushman & Wakefield Debenham
Tie Leung Limited ) 555 A HAR 5 E 78 A8
EMEeRmh s BBIEMESHEER
20208k EXRFFA SR E 2 B M 2 B
EIZ %2022 (20214 : BIFR fik {8 12 %£2020)
HETT 2 (B 1 EE 5E o { (B Al B 72N &2 (3] 48 4
o

EERREYERM S SEDRETIE
UMEZT SR 5ERERRERYES
BZERENZERM SRS 2 HE R
ABEE -BRBRFIZEEDMERIN BEKRERE
MEZBETEAREZS) -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR MEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &t £20224F 331 A I F/Z

14.Investment Properties (continued) 14 REY)E (&

For investment properties under development, the
valuations have been arrived at assuming that the
investment properties will be completed in accordance
with the development proposals and the relevant
approvals for the proposals have been obtained. The
valuations include key factors such as the market value
of the completed investment properties, which are
estimated with reference to recent sales evidence of
similar properties in the nearest locality as available
in the relevant market with adjustments made by the
Valuers to account for differences in the locations and
other factors specifically to determine the potential
sales proceeds, and deducting the development
costs and required profit margin from the investment
properties which are derived from the interpretation of
prevailing investor requirements or expectations at the
valuation dates.

Due to the continued reduction in market transactions
in Macau in the current year, the market evidence of
recent transaction prices for similar properties is not
readily available, the Directors consider that income
capitalisation method is more appropriate for the
valuation of investment properties as at 31 March 2022
as there are relatively more market available data in
respect of comparable market rents and transactions.
The valuation technique is changed from direct
comparison method to income capitalisation method
during the year.

During the year, the net interest capitalised in
investment properties under development amounted
to HK$36,917,000 (2021: HKS$75,259,000).

The unrealised loss on property revaluation included
in profit or loss of the year is HK$503,962,000 (2021:
HK$1,155,473,000).

In estimating the fair value of the properties, the
highest and best use of the properties is their current
use. The fair values of certain investment properties
have been adjusted to exclude prepaid or accrued
operating lease income to avoid double counting.

There were no transfers into or out of Level 3 during
both years.

The following table gives information about how
the fair values of these investment properties are
determined (in particular, the valuation techniques
and key inputs used), as well as the fair value hierarchy
into which the fair value measurements are categorised
(Level 1 to 3) based on the degree to which the inputs
to the fair value measurements are observable.

AERPREVEMS  HEDBRRRED
R REBEERFEEAMEL  BBRA
ZDEMAREE- (AERREERREDE
ZHESFETEERERZ W2RNIEEMHS
A B i [ AR AT 2 AT R AR A 3 2
EREETHER MEEMERELEER
REMABRZIELHE UEBETEEHE
ZFTSFIA - BIIRIRE M E 2 BRAA M
PrERZFBR (WERFIIRERERE
ERAERRZERKARMEESL) -

MR AFEERFIZ TSR ZFERD  TH
BUMEZTHR 5 B 1688 EIXMER A
% EFERBBABERCAE BAR2022F
SABIAZEREMEZHE HRBRALL
BB HEE MRS 2 TSI SHERAYER
Z o BEITNERAFERERLEZEER
WAEAR(CE

RAFE  FRPEEYIOENCF L F
#1/336,917,000/% 7T (20214 : 75,259,000
AL °

AARNFERACMEELZARERERE
7%503,962,000/% 7T, (20214 - 1,155,473,000
BIL) e

WEFMEZ AR BER MEZEE IR
EREANEZRERG -5 TREVEN
NABEDIEFHE  UHREN IR EE
HEWA - LB REETHE -

R EFER  SEE AREHE3R-

TRERABLSEREMEZ AR BEN
MEEZEM (LERMERMZ MERM
REEZEHGARER) URBEBEARBETE
ZEABBEZUBEERREESAAEBEMAE
PIRAZ AR EBESH (F1E3H) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £202243/31H I F/Z

14.Investment Properties (continued)

Investment properties
held by the Group in the
consolidated statement Fair value
of financial position Fair value hierarchy
RERRBERRRT
AEEfRECRENE DAEE RABEEA
2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TR
Hong Kong
B
Retail shops/complexes 13,849,290 Level3
TERR/ 5% 3%
Retail shops/complexes 946,000 Level3
TEEE/B% 3%
Retail/commercial 2,587,000 Level3
properties under
development
BRPTE/HENE 34

158 ANNUAL REPORT 2021/2022 &%k

Valuation techniques
and key inputs

EETELL PN ¢

Direct comparison method with

market unit rate as the key input

ERLEE ITRELERER
ELI NG

Direct capitalisation method
The key inputs are:

ERERUEEIRAAER:

(1) Capitalisation rate

(1) Axfex

(2)  Market unit rent

2 mHEEE

Residual method
The key inputs are:

REZIREAER:

(1) Gross development value

(1) REAEE

(2)  Developer's profit

Q) BFERHEZERN

Emperor International Holdings Limited ZHEZ2£E (EE) BRAE

14 REY =X (&

Sensitivity/relationship of

Significant unobservable inputs unobservable inputs to fair value
TURRBABBHAREEL
EXTIBRAARE §BE/BE
Market unit rate, mainly taking into Asignificant increase in the market unit
account the time, location, frontageand  rate used would result in a significant
size, between the comparables, which increase in the fair value of the investment

ranged from HK$4,600 to HK$580,000 properties, and vice versa.
(2021: HKS4,400 to HKS570,000) per
square foot

THEMER TELHARULENER HRBTSELERKBEMNEIBRED
BE-UE BEERAN ENTET ¥ RAEBENEEN R2FA-
J5R4,6007% 7 £580,0007% 7T (20215 :
4,400 TE570,000 )

Capitalisation rate, taking into account ~ The higher the capitalisation rate, the lower
the capitalisation of rental income the fair value, and vice versa.
potential, nature of the properties,
prevailing market condition, which
ranged from 3.6% to 4.3% (2021: 3.5%
t04.2%) per annum
BRfR SHREERSRAZERL EALEES AABEAE R2MA-
DEZME RTTERR AN TEF
3.6%%4.3% (20215 : 3.5%%4.2%)

Monthly rent, based on saleable floor area  The higher the monthly rent, the higher the
using direct market comparables and fair value, and vice versa.
taking into account of time, location,
frontage and size of properties

BARS RETSERILENZ2UE ARES AAABEES RZHA-
BEAEE DO ROFEIER LB
BEERAN

Gross development value on completion  The higher the gross development value, the
basis, mainly taking into account the higher the fair value, and vice versa.
time, location, design, frontage, layout
and size between the comparables
and the properties, which ranged from
HK$39,000 to HK$80,000 per square
foot
EERAENFLAEE TEMHRT  FRAGEMS MALEEES RZAR.
HENERZENER L ER B R
i BEE BERKN ENEETH

239,000 7 80,000/ 7T

Developer’s profit at 3% taking into The higher the developer’s profit, the lower
account the construction progress of the fair value, and vice versa.
the property

BRACENAY EHRINE2IR  RFREENER AALEEEE R2AR.
ER



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR MEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022

# F202243H31H 1FF/E

14.Investment Properties (continued)

Investment properties
held by the Group in the

consolidated statement Fair value Valuation techniques
of financial position Fair value hierarchy and key inputs
REaRBERRRR
KRB ECRENE DAEE DABEER HERWRTIZEAHE
2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TR
Offices premises 5,807,070 Level3 Direct comparison method with
market unit rate as the key input
HRAENE 3R BELRE DTGELEEER
TERANE
Industrial premises 2,561,216  Level3 Direct comparison method with
market unit rate as the key input
1M £3% ERNEE DTSR ERIER
EL-LYN ¢
Residential premises 1,029,850 Level3 Direct comparison method with
market unit rate as the key input
fremz 3R BELRE DTELEEER
TERAE
The PRC
o
Retail shops/complexes 107,000 Level3 Direct comparison method with
market unit rate as the key input
TERAR/ 5% £3% ERNEE NTISEMLERIER

IRBABE

4. REWZE (&

Significant unobservable inputs

EXFTREAANE

Market unit rate, mainly taking into
account the time, location, quality,
floor level and size, between the
comparables, which ranged from
HK$8,300 to HK$53,000 (2021: HKS7,300
to HK$49,000) per square foot

MHENER TELHARILBENERZ
RHIE X BERA) ENTE
778,300/ 7T 253,007 7T (20215 :
7,3007% 7 249,000/ ¢ )

Market unit rate, mainly taking into
account the time, location, quality,
floor level and size, between the
comparables, which ranged from
HK$3,700 to HK$9,200 (2021: HK$3,500
to HK$9,200) per square foot

TRENER TREHRILENEM
BEUE SR BERK) ENTE
FJ5R3,7007% L 29,2007 7T (20215 :
3,5007% 729,200 )

Market unit rate, mainly taking into
account the time, location, quality,
view, floor level and size, between
the comparables, which ranged from
HKS5,700 to HK$31,632 (2021: HKS5,700
to HK948,000) per square foot

TRBMER FEEGRILENES
JBEIE B RE BERA
ENTBEHRS1008TE3L6325T
(20214 : 5,700/ 70 248,000 1T

Market unit rate, mainly taking into
account the time, location, frontage and
size, between the comparables, which
ranged from HK$2,100 to HK$3,100
(2021: HKS1,700 to HK$3,100) per
square foot

THENER T EEHRALENER
JEEE BEARAN ENTE
FAR2,100% 7 23,100% 7T (20214 :
1,700% 7T £3,100%70)

Sensitivity/relationship of
unobservable inputs to fair value
TUBERABENNABEL
RBE/BE

Asignificant increase in the market unit
rate used would result in a significant
increase in the fair value of the investment
properties, and vice versa.

FRATSELBR AL RS ZRED
RIDABEREEN R2MH

Asignificant increase in the market unit
rate used would result in a significant
increase in the fair value of the investment
properties, and vice versa.

FRAmRELERARENHSIHRED
RZDRBEAREEN RZKA

Asignificant increase in the market unit
rate used would result in a significant
increase in the fair value of the investment
properties, and vice versa.

FRAmSELBR AL RS ZRED
RLDABERREN R2HH

Asignificant increase in the market unit
rate used would result in a significant
increase in the fair value of the investment
properties, and vice versa.

FRAmEELERARENHSINRED
RZDABERREN RZHH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £202243/31H I F/Z

14.Investment Properties (continued)

Investment properties
held by the Group in the
consolidated statement Fair value Valuation techniques
of financial position Fair value hierarchy and key inputs
RERRBERRRR
AEEfSECRENE DAEE RABEER HERWRTIZEAHE
2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
TRT TR
Retail/commercial 1,435,000 Level3 Residual method
properties under The key inputs are:
development
BERTE/HENE 3R BELFEHAER:

(1) Gross development value

(1) HEREE

(2)  Level adjustments

Q) EBERE

(3)  Developer's profit

@ BEHEZERN

1,296,000 Level3 Direct capitalisation method
with market unit rent and
capitalisation rate as the key
input and discounted cash flow
analysis with market unit rent
and discount rate as the key
input

BEERME IMHRENHER
BAEEATERABE R
BREEREAMN UMHEMH
SRURRERTEGAUE

Retail shops/complexes

TEEM/BS F3R

Emperor International Holdings Limited ZHEZ2£E (EE) BRAE
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/2022 FE#k
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Significant unobservable inputs

EXFTREAAYE

Gross development value on completion
basis, mainly taking into account the
time, location, design, frontage, layout
and size between the comparables
and the properties, which ranged from
HKS3,408 to HK$10,027 (2021: HK$3,298
to HK$9,937) per square foot

REREENREEER FELHRAL
NFELENERER LE R
BEm FRRAN ENTETAR
340857 £10,0277% 7t (20214 : 3,298
BITE993TETT)

Level adjustment on individual floor of
the properties ranged from about 50%
t0 95% (2021: 50% to 95%) on specific
levels

NEERBEZRERE NTREREL
4950%Z95% (20214 : 50%Z95%)

Developer’s profit at 30% (2021: 30%),
taking into account the construction
progress of the property

FEE AR A30% (20214 :30%) 4t
REMECTRER

Monthly rent, based on saleable floor area
using direct market comparables and
taking into account of time, location,
frontage and size of properties, which
ranged from HK$41 to HK$86 (2021
HKS$59 to HKST7) per square foot

BARS REMSERTLENEZNE
BEER LESRNEZER LB
BEARAN ENFEFHIRAELE
86/ 7T (20214 : 59T ETTAT)

Capitalisation rate, taking into account
the capitalisation of rental income
potential, nature of properties,
prevailing market condition, which was
4.25% (2021: 4.25%) per annum

EALR EHREERSRAZER L
NEZME ROTHRA LASE
4.25% (20215 : 4.25% )

Discount rate, taking into account the net
capitalisation rate and stabilised annual
rental growth rate, which was 6% (2021:
6%)

BRE EHRFEAERBEFREE
REER6% (20215 : 6%)

Sensitivity/relationship of
unobservable inputs to fair value
TUBEBABEHNABEL
RBE/BE

The higher the gross development value, the
higher the fair value, and vice versa.

REREELR URAEELES R2HA.

The higher the upward level adjustment, the
higher the fair value, and vice versa.

FREEES AAABEER R2MA-
The higher the developer’s profit, the lower
the fair value, and vice versa.

BRELNER AL BELE R2MA

The higher the monthly rent, the higher the
fair value, and vice versa.

AlEE ARAREES R2TA

The higher the capitalisation rate, the lower
the fair value, and vice versa.

EAEER ARARESE RZH%.

The higher the discount rate, the lower the

fair value, and vice versa.

EREREE AR EESE R



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR MEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022

# F202243H31H 1FF/E

14.Investment Properties (continued)

Investment properties
held by the Group in the
consolidated statement
of financial position
REaRBERRRR
KRB ECRENE

Office premises

Residential premises

Macau
2M

Retail shops/complexes

TERR/B5

Fair value Valuation techniques
Fair value hierarchy and key inputs
DAEE DABEER HERWRTIZEAHE
2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TR
6,815,000 Level3 Direct capitalisation method
with market unit rent and
capitalisation rate as input and
discounted cash flow analysis
with market unit rent and
discount rate as the key input
3R ERERE DS ELEER

11,600 Level3

BALRERBARBRMRR
ERENT ATHELEER
BRERERATRBANE

Direct comparison method with
market unit rate as the key input

3 ERUBE AT ELERER
EEL DN ¢
1,892,500 Level3 Direct comparison method with
market unit rate as the key input
34 BREERE NTRELERER

IRBABE

4. REWZE (&

Significant unobservable inputs

EXFTREAANE

Monthly rent, based on saleable floor area
using direct market comparables and
taking into account of time, location,
frontage, size of properties, prevailing
market condition, which ranged from
HKS48 to HKS80 (2021: HK$59 to HKS79)
per square foot

BABS RETSERTHENELAME
BERR LETRNE2BR LE-
BEE AN RITERR AN TE
THRAGETE80E T (20215 : 595 T
E19%7)

Capitalisation rate, taking into account
the capitalisation of rental income
potential, nature of properties,
prevailing market condition, which was
4.25% (2021: 4.25%) per annum

ERfex S REERSRAZEAL
NEZME ROTSRA LAEE
4.25% (20215 :4.25%)

Discount rate, taking into account the net
capitalisation rate and stabilised annual
rental growth rate, which was 6% (2021:
6%)

BRE EHARFAAERERFALE
RE - EA6% (20215 :6%)

Market unit rate, mainly taking into
account the time, floor, building
condition and size, between the
comparable, which was HK$8,600 (2021:
HKS8,000) per square foot

TREUER TRERIENER
B 2R BFMARAN AETA
1R8,6007%7C (20214 : 8,000 7C)

Market unit rate, mainly taking into
account the time, location, frontage and
size, between the comparables, which
ranged from HK$9,000 to HK$174,000
(2021: HK$9,200 to HK$174,000) per
square foot

THEELER TREH R ENERZ
BB BEERAN ENTET
71'R9,0007 7 £174,0007 7T (20215 -
9,200 7T £174,000% 0)

Sensitivity/relationship of
unobservable inputs to fair value
TUBERABENNABEL
RBE/BE

The higher the monthly rent, the higher the
fair value, and vice versa.

AllE BRREEER R2TH

The higher the capitalisation rate, the lower
the fair value, and vice versa.

5

EAfL

Bt

5 ARLBESE R2HR.

jo>]
&

The higher the discount rate, the lower the
fair value, and vice versa.

ERERER DR EELE R4

Asignificant increase in the market unit
rate used would result in a significant
increase in the fair value of the investment
properties, and vice versa.

FRAmEELERARENRSIHRED
RZDRBERREEN R2TA

Asignificant increase in the market unit
rate used would result in a significant
increase in the fair value of the investment
properties, and vice versa.

FRATE B ERARENRS HRED
RZDABEREEN R2HA

Emperor International Holdings Limited HZ2£ME (EE) BRAE]
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022

# 202243531 H 1FF/E

14.Investment Properties (continued)

Investment properties
held by the Group in the
consolidated statement Fair value Valuation techniques
of financial position Fair value hierarchy and key inputs
RERHBHRR RS
AEEfSECRENE DAEE RABEER HERWRTIZEAHE
2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
TRT TR
Commercial properties 624,500 Level3 Income capitalisation method
with market unit rent and
capitalisation rate as the key
input (2021 Direct comparison
method with market unit rate as
key input)
AENE E3 WABRIE DHELHER

Residential premises

39,100 Level3

EXERfERTRAZE (202
FERLEE DHBELER
fERIZEAEER)

Direct comparison method with
market unit rate as the key input

FEmE 340 BREUEE NTEELERER
TERAE
UK
R%E
Retail shops/complexes/ 3428345 Level3 Direct capitalisation method
offices/residential with market unit rent and
premises capitalisation rate as the key
input
TERR/ 55/ BRE/ 3R BERAALE UTBENRSR

fich/E

Emperor International Holdings Limited
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/2022 &%k
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Significant unobservable inputs

EXFTREAAYE

Monthly rent, based on saleable floor area
using direct market comparables and
taking into account of time, location,
frontage and size of properties, which
ranged from HK$13 to HK$94 per
square foot

BARS RETSERTHENELAE
BEAE TEROZIEH LB
BHEARAN ANFETHRIELE
94ETT

Capitalisation rate, taking into account
the capitalisation of rental income
potential, nature of properties,
prevailing market condition, which
ranged from 3% to 4% per annum
(2021: market unit rate, mainly taking
into account the location, frontage and
size, between the comparables, which
ranged from HK$7,000 to HK$21,000 per
square foot)

ERfR S REERSRAZERL
NEZME ROERR ENTEE
36%4% (20215 : EEMLER T
S RASBRNER 2 E BEERK
o BTG T RT,0007% 221,000
BT

Market unit rate, mainly taking into
account the time, location, quality,
view, floor level and size, between the
comparables, which was HK$7,200
(2021: HKS7,100) per square foot

MRBMUER FELGRILENES
JBEIE B RE BERA
AETHRT 20087 (2021 : 7,100%
L)

Monthly rent, based on internal floor area
using direct market comparables and
taking into account of time, location,
frontage and size of properties, which
ranged from HK$40 to HK$510 (2021:
HKS40 to HK$557) per square foot

BAES RETSERTLENE 2 AP
BERR UVETRNE2BE LE-
BEARKN ENFETHRAETE
51077 (20015 : 408 T 25575 7T)

Capitalisation rate, taking into account
the capitalisation of rental income
potential, nature of properties,
prevailing market condition, which
ranged from 2.85% to 4.0% (2021:
2.85% to 4.5%) per annum

BRMe® G REEREMAZERL:
NEIME ROWSRR ENTEE
2.85%%4.0% (2021 : 2.85%%4.5% )

Sensitivity/relationship of
unobservable inputs to fair value
TUBEBABEHNABEL
RBE/BE

The higher the monthly rent, the higher the
fair value, and vice versa.

ARME ARAEEES R2TA-

The higher the capitalisation rate, the lower
the fair value, and vice versa (2021: a
significant decrease in the market unit
rate would result in a significant decrease
in the fair value of the investment
properties, and vice versa)

BXEER ARABEDE RZH%.
(20215 : AR B ERARH D #5IHR
BE AR BENERD R2HHAe)

Asignificant increase in the market unit
rate used would result in a significant
increase in the fair value of the investment
properties, and vice versa.

FRAmSELBR AL R TRED
RZDABERREN R2MH

Asignificant increase in the market unit
rent used would result in a significant
increase in the fair value of the investment
properties, and vice versa.

FRATEELASAREMRSIHRED
RZDABEREEN R2MA

The higher the capitalisation rate, the lower
the fair value, and vice versa.

>
i

Xl
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e AR BESE R2M%
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 &t £20224F 331 A I F/Z

14.Investment Properties (continued) 14 EY* (&

Joint operation relating to investment properties
under development in The PRC

Some subsidiaries of the Company, Expert Pearl
Investments Limited and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Expert Pearl Group”) entered into
a joint venture agreement (the “JV Agreement”) with
Shanghai Zhangxi Investment Development Co.,
Ltd. (the “JV Partner”) to jointly develop investment
properties under development located in Shanghai
(the “Shanghai Property”). Expert Pearl Group and the
JV Partner intend to develop the Shanghai Property
into a commercial complex (“The PRC Project”). Under
the JV Agreement, the saleable floor area would be
split between the parties in equal shares after the
completion of the development of the Project. Pursuant
to the terms of the JV Agreement, The PRC Project is
accounted for as a joint operation.

There was litigation between Expert Pearl Group and
the JV Partner since 2006. In 2012, the Group received
the court judgement that the JV Agreement shall
continue to have effect. Details of these are disclosed in
2011/2012 annual report.

As at 31 March 2022, the major asset in The PRC Project
is the investment properties under development with fair
value of HK$1,478,000,000 (2021: HK$1,435,000,000). The
site preparation work had been completed at the end of
the reporting period, the valuation has been arrived at by
adopting residual method.

As at 31 March 2022, the receivables related to a
development project of HK$183,097,000 (2021:
HKS$175,695,000) represent the construction cost incurred
by the Group and receivable from the JV Partner.

As at 31 March 2022, the Group’s investment properties with
fair value of HK$35,540,255,000 (2021: HK$38,162,715,000)
have been pledged to secure banking facilities granted to
the Group (details are set out in note 43).

FERTEBRRTRENEZAEER

AN &) 2 M8 A &) Expert Pearl Investments
Limited X H Iff B 2~ 5] (41 & [ Expert
Pearl&® ] )E L BREREERERA
Al([agBHITLaEm=E ([&EH
Z) UHEZERUNREEMZ2ERFR
BEME ([ LBWE]) - Expert Pearl%£E &
EEBHRE LBMERRR/RBERARK
B(HREE]) REGEHHE FTHE
AR EIER 2 EREEMERGRE
BHOREEEME - RIBESE MR IER
FEIEE ABRRAEER-

E20064F #E - Expert Pearls B 84 & %1+
2 ETF IR EA - FR20124F - A& M B SABR
HR - EERREEER - BEFBERER
2011/20124F 5

M202243A31H FEBEEMNEEZE
ERERTRENMEX EAOAEBER
1,478,000,0007% 7T (20214 : 1,435,000,000
AT EAEETECRNBEHRTA
W EIRARERETHE-.

2022493 A31H - AR — B ERKER
2 JE U5/ 1E183,097,0007% JT (20214
175,695,000/8 7T ) A R B 2 E A M2
AR K FEMR & & Rt 2 3R -

M2022%3A31B A&EBE AR EE
35,540,255,000/% 7t (20214 : 38,162,715,000
ATLIZEREMEEEARIERAEBER
RITEEZER (FFHNHTE43)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022

15.Property, Plant and Equipment

# 202243531 H 1FF/E

15. 9% - R R R iE

Leasehold
land and Hotel Leasehold
buildings properties improvements Others Total
HET#HRET BENE  HEWERE Hity wE
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$000
TR TER TR TERT TERT
CoST %N
At 1 April 2020 202064 A18 486,634 3,026,893 499,950 620,115 4,633,592
Exchange realignment I 572 13,459 - 848 756 15,063
Additions RE - 6,704 9,752 22,023 38,479
Disposals & - - (440) (2,818) (3,258)
At 31 March 2021 720213 A31H
Exchange realignment SERE
Additions NE
Disposals HE
At 31 March 2022 ®202263A31H
DEPRECIATION AND RERRE
IMPAIRMENT
At 1 April 2020 7202064 A18 73,003 412,362 391,500 571,430 1,448,295
Exchange realignment SNERE 2,569 - 571 392 3,532
Provided for the year AEE 2 RE 16,290 101,088 35,128 24,380 176,886
Eliminated on disposal & R4 8 - - (434) (2,269) (2,703)
At 31 March 2021 7202143A31H
Exchange realignment SMEFHE
Provided for the year REEZEE
Impairment loss recognised MR AEER
Eliminated on disposal HE R
At 31 March 2022 R202263A31H
CARRYING VALUE REE
At 31 March 2022 #202243A31H
At 31 March 2021 #202143A31R 408,231 2,520,147 83,345 46,143 3,057,866

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
property, plant and equipment, less their residual value
over their estimated useful lives, using the straight line

method, at the following rates per annum:

Leasehold land
and buildings

Hotel properties

Over the estimated useful lives

of 40 years or the unexpired
terms of the relevant leases,
whichever is shorter

Over the estimated useful lives

of 40 years or the unexpired
terms of the relevant leases,
whichever is shorter

Leasehold 10 - 20%
improvements
Others 10 - 331/3%

Emperor International Holdings Limited ZHEZ2£E (EE) BRAE
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/2022 FE#k
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR MEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &t £20224F 331 A I F/Z

15.Property, Plant and Equipment 15. % -HBERRKE (EF)

(continued)

As lease payments for land and buildings elements
cannot be allocated reliably, the entire lease includes
in the carrying amount of the leasehold land and
buildings.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, in view of
operating losses incurred by Grand Emperor Hotel
arising from the adverse change in market conditions
as a result of the ongoing Covid-19 pandemic and
foreseeable cessation of the gaming operation in
Grand Emperor Hotel which will have adverse impact
on the hotel and hotel related operations in Grand
Emperor Hotel, the Directors concluded that there was
indication for impairment and performed impairment
assessments on the recoverable amounts of the assets
allocated to the cash generating unit of Grand Emperor
Hotel.

In prior years, the cash-generating unit comprises all
assets in relation to hotel and hotel related operations.
In current year, due to the foreseeable cessation of
gaming operation in Grand Emperor Hotel and the cash
inflow from the gaming operation in Grand Emperor
Hotel is expected to be insignificant as the gaming
operation of the Group will be ceased soon after the
expiry date of the service agreements with SJM Resort,
S.A. (“SJM”) as disclosed in note 50, the Directors
have reallocated the assets for the gaming operation
to another cash-generating unit for impairment
assessment separately. During the year ended 31 March
2022, impairment loss of HK$48,974,000 (2021: Nil) has
been recognised on property, plant and equipment in
respect of gaming operation in Grand Emperor Hotel.

The recoverable amount of the property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets in respect of
hotel and hotel related operations in Grand Emperor
Hotel as a single cash-generating unit is estimated
based on fair value less cost of disposal using income
approach with significant unobservable inputs and
key assumptions adopted by the management of the
Group including forecasted revenue and costs, and
discount rate applied in the valuation conducted by an
independent firm of qualified professional valuers and
approved by the Directors. The discount rate applied
is 8%, which is based on the market yield and growth
rate of the relevant market. The fair value estimation is
categorised into in Level 3 fair value hierarchy.

MRt MEFE Y 2 HE IR E AR 5
ok BREOREREEL W RET 2
FRmE(E -

B 2202293 A31H ILFE  ERFHE TN
BAERBHESHZMSN AT ES S
BURFIRERGBEE LKL EHRUNR
FIRSIRGETEER IR R R I 2B ER (B
5 38 P 58 2 4R 4507 15 2 08 5 N 5 A8 B
EBELETNEE) EFTR/FERED
KUK DR ERPIREREBEERSESE
Bz EEZ B BEETRER G-

RBEFE ReELBUBRRAREENR
BIERBEB 2 MAEEE - RAFE AR
MR 2REBEA AR R IE 2 BREB
FMORPIREMREBEEBE XK 2R RA
BHR M R E (H R E50F 5 - A
SEBEEBENERRESERRNAE
[RaBE (DRIR]) Z iR ek m B EEEH
BRI BEEEHBEERZIEEEND
REZ-ReEEEMUAEBETHERNT
o B £2022F3A31R LFE A #
MPIE SRR E 2 B EB 2 WE  Has

& 1 T 520 18 1B 1248,974,0007% 7T (2021
FE) e

BRI R 2REA E 2B E NOB 5
EB2YE HELREBEREREEE (1F
RE-HSELEM) 2P OISR TER
AEBEEEERBZSMNEATABRRE
ABBELERBR(BELHBLAER
EEMEMTETIKESHEZHERE
FREFERIMA R AR IA R BRI &) 72 WX -

B BER LSRG - BARREIRE
738% + T E N MR RE T 15 #) T 5 M e K I
EER-RABEMGNDOBRFEIRAAE
BEFR-
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15.Property, Plant and Equipment

(continued)

Based on the result of the assessment, the Directors
determined that the recoverable amount of the Grand
Emperor Hotel Properties is lower than its carrying
amount. The impairment amount has been allocated to
each category of the Grand Emperor Hotel Properties
such that the carrying amount of each category of asset
is not reduced below the highest of its fair value less
cost of disposal, its value in use and zero. During the
year ended 31 March 2022, based on the impairment
assessment calculation and the allocation, impairment
losses of HK$86,210,000 and HK$23,335,000 have been
recognised on hotel properties included in property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets in respect
of hotel and hotel related operations in Grand Emperor
Hotel, respectively.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Directors
considered there was an indication for impairment for
the hotel property of Grand Emperor Hotel in relation
to hotel and hotel related operations with the related
leasehold land included in right-of-use assets by
considering their recoverable amounts, having regard
to the adverse change in market conditions in Macau
arising from the ongoing Covid-19 pandemic. The
Directors prepared discounted cash flow projections
for Grand Emperor Hotel based on the financial budget
approved by them to conduct impairment assessment
on the recoverable amounts of the cash-generating
unit to which the hotel property and right-of-use
assets belong, including the allocation of corporate
assets when reasonable and consistent basis can be
established. No impairment loss was recognised during
the year ended 31 March 2021 as the recoverable
amounts on the hotel property and right-of-use assets
related to Grand Emperor Hotel are higher than their
carrying amounts.

Emperor International Holdings Limited ZHEZ2£E (EE) BRAE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e SRR MEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £202243/31H I F/Z

15. )% - #eE N rte (&)

ERIEER ES5E T RN EIRE
EMEZATREDSBEEAELEAE KA
CHE IR R A RET[EMESE
AAFEEBEEENERABETEROER
REAARBEBRIEXRA EFEREER
ErHEeE -HE2022F3A8318 ILEE
ERNRAENGEEREBELE  EsT AR
RRPI R 2R E 2 EE B EREE
BE BERIBEREAEEENRIE
) % 5 5| #7208 1B &5 1886,210,000/%8 7T &
23,335,000/ 7T °

B Z202153A31H L FE - ERF UM
WERIBIHEGB RPN ISR E
B EFRBEEAPLOSHERSRARE
R GEE [ B BE TR OB R MR R 2B IR
MEERGFAERBEENHBEE L
FHERETR EFREBEEMEZWERE
REVRPFIREREAERRB S RETRA
THEENENRERREEMBREEL
Bz AR E g BETTRER G BRENA
BUAE -—HZoREERDREREE-
B ZE2021F3A31H L FEMERZRER
B ARBRRFREREEE BEYE
LEREEEzABOeEeRERmTE.



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMB|RME
For the year ended 31 March 2022 &t £20224F 331 A I F/Z

15.Property, Plant and Equipment 15. % -HBERRKE (EF)

(continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2022 and 31 March
2021, in view of operating losses incurred by Inn Hotel
arising from the adverse change in market conditions
as a result of the ongoing Covid-19 pandemic, the
Directors performed impairment assessment of the
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
of Inn Hotel by comparing its recoverable amounts to its
carrying amounts. No impairment loss was recognised
during the year ended 31 March 2022 and 31 March 2021
as the recoverable amounts of the property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets of Inn Hotel are higher
than its carrying amounts.

During the year ended 31 March 2022 and 31 March 2021,
in view of operating losses incurred by The Emperor Hotel
arising from the adverse change in market conditions as
a result of the ongoing Covid-19 pandemic, the Directors
performed impairment assessment of the property, plant
and equipment of The Emperor Hotel by comparing
its recoverable amount to its carrying amount. No
impairment loss was recognised during the year ended
31 March 2022 and 31 March 2021 as the recoverable
amount of the property, plant and equipment of The
Emperor Hotel is higher than its carrying amount.

The locations of leasehold land and buildings and hotel
properties shown above are as follows:

Bl 220223 A31H K&2021F3A31H IEF
B ERMUERRSREFELER TS
AR N BB S| B R EEL K EBIE
EEFEBLRBRBEYE HEMRER
EREEE RO EEERmE YH
HETTORL(E AT 1 © 1 202253 A31H 2021
FIABIB L FEMERARESE B
BIEEZME BELREBEREREEE
ZA Bl s N EREE -

B 220223 H31H K2021F3H31H IEF
B ERNFRUBRRERBHELER 2MS
AR B B 5| Bk S5k KA 5 E A KL B
B EFABLBRERSAENE HE
Kz i o & f R AR (E - ST EETT
B AE FT - B 220223 A31H 2021434
B1R I FEMERRRERE ARREK
REEZYFE HEhREBZAIBROSES
RERREE -

FAEE T RETFEBENE AT

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$°000
FHERT FHET

Leasehold land and buildings BAZHELTHWREF
in Hong Kong 33,048
Buildings in The PRC REZETF 310,569
Buildings in Macau BP 2 EF 64,614
408,231
Hotel properties in Hong Kong BREZBIEE 1,494,457
Hotel properties in Macau P 2 F 5 Y 3 1,025,690
2,520,147
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £202243/31H I F/Z
16.Right-of-use Assets 6. EAEERE
Leasehold Land and
lands buildings Total
HELH  tHREF BE
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
FTHT THER THER
COST AR
At 1 April 2020 and 31 March 2021 7202054 A1H k202143A31H
Additions NE
At 31 March 2022 ©202263A31H
DEPRECIATION wE
At 1 April 2020 7202054 A1H 19,673 2,111 21,784
Provided for the year AEEZBE 19,673 4,682 24,355
At 31 March 2021 7202143 A31H
Provided for the year REE 72 BE
Impairment loss recognised MR A EE
At 31 March 2022 7202253 A31H
CARRYING VALUE REME
At 31 March 2022 202243 831H
At 31 March 2021 202143 A31H 518,700 13,349 532,049
2022 2021
HK$°000 HK$°000
THET FET
Expense relating to short-term leases ARG HBEE ZHAY 689
Total cash outflow for leases MEZRERLERE 6,054

The Group leases certain leasehold lands, office,
warehouse and carparks for its operations. Lease
contract are entered into for fixed term from 1 to 25
years (2021: 1 to 25 years). Certain leases of leasehold
lands in Macau are negotiated for an initial term of 25
years with extension options exercisable only by the
Group.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and
contain a wide range of different terms and conditions.
In determining the lease term and assessing the length
of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies the
definition of a contract and determines the period for
which the contract is enforceable.

Emperor International Holdings Limited ZHEZ2£E (EE) BRAE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR MEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &t £20224F 331 A I F/Z

16.Right-of-use Assets (continued) 16. EHEEE (&

In addition, the Group owns certain hotel and
commercial properties classified as property, plant and
equipment and investment properties respectively. The
Group is the registered owner of these property interests,
including the underlying leasehold lands. Lump sum
payments were made upfront to acquire these property
interests. The leasehold land components of these
owned properties are not presented separately as the
payments made cannot be allocated reliably.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases
for office. As at 31 March 2022 and 31 March 2021, the
portfolio of short-term leases is similar to the portfolio
of leases disclosed above.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, an impairment
losses of HK$22,988,000 (2021: Nil) and HK$347,000
(2021: Nil) have been recognised on leasehold lands
and land and buildings in respect of hotel and
hotel related operations in Grand Emperor Hotel,
respectively.

As at 31 March 2022, the Group assessed the leasehold
lands included in right-of-use assets of Inn Hotel and
The Emperor Hotel together with their respective
hotel properties for impairment by considering their
recoverable amounts, having regard to the adverse
change in market conditions as a result of the ongoing
Covid-19 pandemic. The details of the determination of
the recoverable amounts are disclosed in note 15. No
impairment loss was recognised on the leasehold lands
of Inn Hotel and The Emperor Hotel for the year ended
31 March 2022.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, an impairment
loss of HK$1,641,000 (2021: Nil) has been recognised
on land and building included in right-of-use assets as
the Directors consider the future cash inflow from this
right-of-use asset will be insignificant.

Rent concession

During the year ended 31 March 2021, a lessor of an
office provided rent concession to the Group through
rent reduction of 30% over 11 months (2022: Nil).

This was rent concession occurred as a direct consequence
of Covid-19 pandemic, which met all of the conditions
in HKFRS 16.46B, and the Group applied the practical
expedient not to assess whether the changes constitute
lease modifications. The effects on changes in lease
payments due to forgiveness or waiver by the lessor for
the relevant leases of HK$545,000 were recognised as
negative variable lease payments (2022: Nil).

I NREBEDREBAE T ORAYE H#
LR EERERYEASLIREYE -
AEEAZEMFE kD (BEAREEL )
ZEMBEAAN SUBEZEMFE#ED R
SEX—FBHIA - AR RBER SED BCAT
PR BMREEEMENHEHELHHHLE
BEZ25-

AEBERBAETEMITILEHEE - R
202293 H31H 202143 H31H - &2 Hif
EHAEIXOREHEHEAHEE

HZE202F3A31R L FE BB MRM
REIRERE 2 HERB/EHEERS 2H
EL ARt RIEFS B HERBAEEE
22,988,000/% 7T (20214 : ) }2347,000/%
7T (20214 : 48 ) o

PR2022%F3A318 ERFATRRS RIS
BB AT ES) - AEB AR
[B] & &8 7T i B B 5 & K 2 8 S8R A
FEREEEZHE L MERZABE B
JEYE 2 RE - EEE AR B &5 2 B K
153 TR - B £2022F3 8318 L FE I
ERRTBEERRERSIBE2HE L
MR EE S -

B E2022F3A31R I FE Bt AR
BB E 2 T3 Mg TRERRERE181,641,000
BT (2021 : &) REASESTRRKEZX
EREEE 2 RFERRABMRNRE -

HeERE

HZE2021F3A318 I EE —HRAEN
HAAFEBELILE A RE30% A RNEE IR
HESEE (2022F &) -

HRHFAERESRIEERELNZES
BEMN A BB HEER£16.46B5E A
PrB RN BASEERA A THRE AT
HEHEOMEREEECR - -ARNHEAR
eRMEEEHEMELNHETAE
M) 5 £545,000/8 ST HER & B A B2 HE R
TH (20224 - /&) o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & Z202243431H i /&

17.Interest in an Associate
Interest in an associate represents the Group’s
50% equity interest in Xinhui Hongsheng Property
Development Company Limited (“Xinhui Hongsheng”).
In view of the composition of board of directors of
Xinhui Hongsheng, the Directors consider that the
Group has significant influence over Xinhui Hongsheng.
Xinhui Hongsheng is established in The PRC and is
engaged in property development in The PRC.

7. R —FEBE 2 E 2 Em
R AT 2 B AR BN S %
BEREERAR ([HEBE])FEN
S0%Hka BN EERE S AR B
RATEEHFEERETBEATESN
FERBNTERY NTERENEER
25

2022 2021
HK$’000 HKS$000
FE&T FHET

Cost of investment in an associate, R—REBE QAR 2 IRERA
unlisted JEET 75,978
Share of translation reserve DG E R F 2,187
Share of post-acquisition profits D1 EE % R A 49,653
127,818

The associate is accounted for using the equity method
in these consolidated financial statements.

Summarised financial information in respect of the
Group’s associate is set out below. The summarised
financial information below represents amounts
shown in associate’s financial statements prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs.

ZHERRTIAER AT AZSELRAY
ES
ko

&

AEBBERRZHMBERBEN T -
MM BERBMBEEREE MG RE S
AIREEE 2 AR SRR AT 2 B -

2022 2021

HK$°000 HK$’000

FH T FET

Current assets MEEE 425,808
Non-current assets ERBEE 27,730
Current liabilities REAE (208,806)
Revenue WA 26,946
Loss for the year FEEIE (3,054)

Emperor International Holdings Limited ZHEZ2£E (EE) BRAE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR MEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &t £20224F 331 A I F/Z

17.Interest in an Associate (continued) 1T RA—RBBERT 2R (&)
Reconciliation of the above summarised financial REFE M BHREPERNHN —HEBE QA
information to the carrying amount of the interest EEZEHERYGMEER FRMBER
in an associate and share of result recognised in the MEHEWT
consolidated financial statements:
2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$°000
FTET FHET
Net assets of an associate R—EBERRZEFEE 244,732
Proportion of the Group’s ownership  AN&EE R — & A A G #
interest in an associate R ZFEA D= 50%
122,366
Effect of fair value adjustment at WERARBERARZTE
acquisition (Note) (H17) 5,452
127,818
The exchange gain of HK$5,372,000 (2021: exchange HE20229F3A310 EFE -0 E — A
gain of HK$11,914,000) arising from translation of N B 1B BT E A IE 5 4R %55,372,0008
financial information of an associate for the year ended 7T (20214 - [E 5 W #511,914,0007%8 7T ) JTH A
31 March 2022 is recognised in OCl and accumulated in HAh 2 W e BB M I 5t B 5t o
translation reserve.
Note: During the year, fair value adjustment on properties Misk: RAFE WERBZEZRNEEME
under development at acquisition released to profit Bt A —HBE AR 2 EEZERSP
and loss and included in share of result of an associate W2 QR EEFHEAE655,000%8 7T (2021
upon sale of properties amounted to HK$655,000 (2021: 152,731,000 7¢) °
HK$52,731,000).
18.Interest in a Joint Venture B R—EEELEZER
Interest in a joint venture represents interest in Superb R—BaErEIEREAERREA
Land Limited in which the Group holds 40% equity Superb Land Limited,z40%/% # - 18 @85
interest. All decisions about the relevant activities B MEARRAKMERAZRESIESZ
require the unanimous consent of all the joint venture B BN —%EE - Superb Land Limited
partners sharing control. Superb Land Limited holds FEGBRAR AR (TER]) 2100%#E 5
100% interest in Talent Charm Corporation Limited MR AYEERAR BEREELUNE
(“Talent Charm”), being the property development BEEILBEMELISH -
company of a development project located at No. 15
Shouson Hill Road West, Hong Kong.
2022 2021
HK$’000 HKS 000
THET FHET
Cost of investment in a joint venture, R—REAZLLEZRERAN
unlisted JE LT -
Share of post-acquisition losses DG E R EE (503)
(503)
Amount due from a joint venture EW —EE & hEZHRIE 951,368
950,865
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £202243/31H I F/Z

18.Interest in a Joint Venture (continued)

As at 31 March 2022, the amount due from a joint
venture carries interest at 2.2% (2021: 2.2%) per annum.
It has no fixed terms of repayment and the Group has
no intention to exercise its right to demand repayment
of the advance within twelve months from the end of
the reporting period. Accordingly, the amount forms
part of net investment and it is shown as non-current.

The joint venture is accounted for using the equity
method in these consolidated financial statements.

Summarised financial information in respect of the
Group’s joint venture is set out below. The summarised
financial information below represents amounts shown
in joint venture’s financial statements prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs.

BR—EEEREER (&)

M202263A31H R —HAEREZR
TR YR F M %=2.2% (20215 : 2.2% ) 5t Boe
A% R IR 8 [B] T R SRR - 1 AN B R BN R
FHREL2ME A NITEEENAZRER
B Bt ZERBROFREN—#7
WH RIERED

ZEECEDINER LT AZEGEAY
HK -

&

AEBEELRZMBENMBEN T -
T BEERBERREE BN BREE
AIRANE 2 EEMBERRAIIR 2B -

2022 2021

HK$’000 HKS$’000

FHET FHET

Current assets MEBEE 4,709,403
Current liabilities RENAE (4,710,661)
Revenue WA -
Loss for the year FEEE 170

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial
information to the carrying amount of the interest in
a joint venture and share of result recognised in the
consolidated financial statements:

REAHBRETRENN -MAELE
W2 BEERS B EER LR B ER
HEHBEMT

2022 2021

HK$°000 HK$°000

FERT FHET

Net liabilities of a joint venture —HeErECABTEHE (1,258)
Proportion of the Group’s ownership AEER—HEEDEHELR

interest in a joint venture BamhAN X 40%

(503)

Amount due from a joint venture B —FEaLhtEZHIE 951,368

950,865

As at 31 March 2022, the Group has given a corporate
guarantee of HK$932,000,000 (2021: HK$932,000,000)
to a bank in respect of banking facilities granted
to Talent Charm, of which HK$932,000,000 (2021:
HK$932,000,000) has been utilised. In the opinion of
the Directors, the fair value of the financial guarantee is
not significant.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR MEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &t £20224F 331 A I F/Z
19.Goodwill 19. ;2
HK$°000
THET
COSsT SRS
At 1 April 2020, 31 March 2021 and 720204518 20213318 &
31 March 2022 2022%3A31H
IMPAIRMENT WA
At 1 April 2020 and 31 March 2021 720204 51H K%2021F3 A31H
Impairment loss recognised MR 2 BB B 18
At 31 March 2022 7A202243A31H
CARRYING VALUE BREE
At 31 March 2022 7"202243A31H
At 31 March 2021 7202143 A31H 56,683

As at 31 March 2021, goodwill of HK$54,743,000 has
been allocated to hotel and hotel related operations
of Emperor Entertainment Hotel Limited (“Emperor E
Hotel”) (a single cash-generating unit) (2022: Nil).

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group
performed an impairment review for goodwill of
Emperor E Hotel’s hotel and hotel related operations
based on cash flow forecasts derived from the most
recent financial budgets for the next five years. Cash
flows beyond the five years are extrapolated using
a steady growth rate of 3% growth rate. The key
assumptions for the value in use calculations are
those regarding the discount rate, growth rate and
expected changes to revenue and direct costs during
the year. The forecast is discounted using a discount
rate of 20%. The discount rate was determined with
reference to weighted average cost of capital of similar
companies in the industry and adjusted for specific
risks associated with Emperor E Hotel’s hotel and hotel
related operations. The growth rate does not exceed the
long-term average industry growth forecasts. Changes
in revenue and direct costs are based on past practices
and the management’s expectations of future changes
in the market. As the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit is higher than the carrying amount of
the cash-generating unit, the Directors consider no
impairment loss need to be recognised for both years.
The Directors believe that any reasonably possible
change in any of these assumptions would not cause
the carrying amount of the cash-generating unit to
exceed the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit.

20213 A31H © /& #154,743,000/8 T 2
BE ODOREREREBEARR LA ([R
SRBEE D NBEE MBERBER (F
—ReEEEM) (2022F &) -

B E2021F3A3IR L E AR ERIER
M EIER B R 2IRGIEE 2B 5 MR IR
MRS HBETRERS -RERER
BITVERARRAEF 2 &M HEE - AFR
ZHREREDERARERRRINEE -H
Nt BERMEEZEIERRDVEFAN 2R
BE IBRRPWARBEZAARZFETEE
B A ZTER THHR20% 2 BE IR R T IARL IR -
BRI R Y2 RZERRR AR 2 ¥ 13
BARKA 1R 2R 5 28 5 NoB 5 18
BAEBSERRETHEBRFE EREXR
Hid R R IR RN - MAREEX
AZBETIREBEEBIINEREYTS
AREC2BEMEL - R REEL B
MR E SRR IR EE LB 2 BREE -
MEZR AN MEFEERERDRERSE-
BERBEEEABRKNEASEAREEI
TeBYRAcELBFUNKREEBBZX
ReELBEMA KOS HE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e SRR MEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £202243/31H I F/Z

19.Goodwill (continued) 19.82 (&)

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Directors
are in view of the foreseeable cessation of the gaming
operation in Grand Emperor Hotel upon the expiry date
of the service agreements with SJM as disclosed in note
50. Hence, impairment loss of HK$54,743,000 has been
recognised on goodwill in respect of gaming operation
in Grand Emperor Hotel.

Regarding the remaining goodwill of HK$1,940,000
(2021: HKS$1,940,000) for the purpose of impairment
test, it has been allocated to the cash-generating unit in
relation to the lease of properties, and no impairment
is considered necessary.

HE202263A31R L FE - EFR AWM
SO IR BEIRFI R EREBERRE 218
¥R A BB IR 7 AR TS W5 5% fE m B 1R 48
oA B ARRPIREREETEE 218
¥R 2 BB HE R B B 1854,743,000/8

7T|:o

#t # 71,940,000/ 7T (20214 : 1,940,000
BIZEEMS  RETHERNS %8
BESREMEHEZREELEMN B
BRECHE-

20.0ther Assets 20 Hiw &&=
2022 2021
HK$’000 HKS$°000
F&T FAT
Club debentures and memberships, EMESFLREE ZKARX
at cost 3,997

The club debentures and memberships have indefinite
life.

21.Properties Held for Sale

The carrying amounts of properties held for sale
comprise properties situated in:

21.

CEGFRERABERFY-

FELE 2=
BRI 2 % 2 R E SRR A T it
L ES

2022 2021

HK$’000 HKS$’000

FHERT FET

Hong Kong B 1,669,552
The PRC H 469
1,670,021

22.Properties Under Development for Sale

The amounts represent projects of properties under
development for sale in Hong Kong.

Included in the amounts are properties under
development for sale of approximately HK$4,787,850,000
(2021: HKS5,225,609,000) which are expected to be
recovered after twelve months from the end of the
reporting period.

During the year, the net interest capitalised in properties
under development for sale amounted to HK$135,012,000
(2021: HK$223,108,000).

Emperor International Holdings Limited ZHEZ2£E (EE) BRAE
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/2022 FE#k

22.

FIFLEZBRRTY =
EWSHIEN BB EHE 2 BB DE-

ZERABRZFELEZERRTYED
4,787,850,0007% 7T (20214 : 5,225,609,000
BT AR RS HIREF + @A &R
Y

RAFE BIELEZERTYWEZER
{7 8% {8 £135,012,000/% JT (20214 :
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR MEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 # Z202243431H i /&
23.Trade and Other Receivables 3. B RHEMEBEWRIE
An analysis of trade and other receivables is as follows: B 5 REMBWHIEZ DT -

2022 2021
HK$°000 HK$°000
FTET FHET
Trade receivables (Note a) B 5 RWHIE (Hita) 63,303
Chips on hand (Note b) £ (#ab) 54,666
Other receivables (Note c) Hfth jE W sk I8 (K atc) 286,068
Deposits and prepayments (Note d) Be RFENFKIE (Hi7d) 833,523
1,237,560

As at 31 March 2022, trade receivables comprise
receivables from contracts with customers and lease
receivables of HK$24,431,000 (2021: HK$40,969,000)
and HK$41,242,000 (2021: HK$22,334,000) respectively.

As at 1 April 2020, trade receivables from contracts
with customers and lease receivables amounted to
HK$23,991,000 and HK$19,110,000 respectively.

An aging analysis of the Group’s trade receivables (net
of impairment allowance) based on either the date
of credit granted or the invoice date at the end of the
reporting period is set out below:

20223310 B S RUWRIBEBIE KRB
BEP A2 EWRIE M EWHEERE 75l
/424,431,0007% 7T (20214 : 40,969,000/%
7T) %41,242,0007%8 7T (20214 : 22,334,000
BT °

R20205F4F1H B ZERWKIABEKEB
BEFAK 2 BUG K EWHEERED B A
23,991,0007% 7t }219,110,000/% 7T

REBEIR - RBEAKEE 5 RUGOR (3
BORERE) 2 RHEE B EZ A MR
R ZBREEDATAN T -

2022 2021

HK$°000 HK$ 000

FTERT TET

0 - 30 days 0%30H 45,480
31-90days 31%90H 2,271
91 - 180 days 91%180H 2,652
Over 180 days 180H A k£ 12,900
63,303

Notes:

(@) No credit period was granted to tenants for rental of
premises. Before accepting any new tenant, the Group will
internally assess the credit quality of the potential tenant.
No credit period was granted to hotel customers generally
except for those high credit rating customers to whom an
average credit period of 30 days were granted.

For gaming operation, the Group normally allows credit
periods of up to 60 days to its credit approved customers,
except for certain credit worthy customers with long term
relationship and stable repayment pattern, where the credit
periods are extended to a longer period.

As at 31 March 2022, included in the trade receivable
balances in respect of other operations are debtors with
carrying amounts of HK$41,242,000 (2021: HK$22,334,000)
which are past due at the end of the reporting period.

B aE

(a) AEBYEAEEWEZABARLEER-
BN ABRA 281 AL B AR
HEEABAZEEERZ -AEEBERD
EMEEEFPRHEER HEERFZE
FEBIN MR b 2 F19EEHA308 -

IEEEEME AKE-RETHEEEHE
N EFELESZZ0EZEEH HETASE
FEHBERALBEEREANGEERFEPK
O FEZEERRRERE - BRBEEHMH-

M2022%3A31H - A X752 B 5 & UK
B4R B IERRE(E41,242,00078 7T (20214 :
22,334,000/ 7T) 2 FEYRBR K E R s HAOR
[BEIEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £202243/31H I F/Z

23.Trade and Other Receivables (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(b) Chips on hand represent chips issued by a gaming
concessionaire in Macau which can be exchanged into their
cash amounts.

(c) As at 31 March 2022, included in other receivables are
amounts due from related companies of HK$38,236,000
(2021: HKS$36,563,000). These related companies are
indirectly controlled by private discretionary trusts which
are founded by Dr. Albert Yeung, a deemed substantial
shareholder of the Company. The amounts are unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand.

As at 31 March 2021, included in other receivables are
deposits received for sales of the Group’s properties
of HK$34,437,000 (2022: Nil) under the custody of the
independent lawyers on behalf of the Group.

(d) As at 31 March 2022, included in deposits and prepayments
are refundable stamp duties in respect of redevelopment
projects of HK$268,932,000 (2021: HK$676,904,000).

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other
receivables for the year ended 31 March 2022 are set
out in note 41(b).

24.Deposit in Designated Bank Account for

Development Properties

The amount of HK$10,569,000 (2021: HK$10,040,000)
(equivalent to approximately RMB8,571,000 (2021:
RMB8,486,000)), was deposited to a bank account
designated under It R#HEEFEEIE S as deposit
for resettlement in relation to the development of the
investment properties in The PRC. Such bank deposit is
restricted for settlement in relation to the resettlement
work and carried interest at 1.0% (2021: 1.0%) per
annum. The deposit is expected to be released within
twelve months from the end of the reporting period
and classified as current assets.

25.Pledged Bank Deposits/Short-Term Bank

Deposits/Bank Balances and Cash

As at 31 March 2022, pledged bank deposits comprise
(i) a deposit of HK$64,134,000 (2021: HK$63,000,000)
(classified as non-current assets) and (ii) a deposit of
HKS$354,000 (2021: HK$353,000) (classified as current
asset), details of which are set out in notes 43(a) and
43(b) respectively. The pledged bank deposits carry
fixed interest rates which ranged from 0.63% to 1.20%
(2021: 0.32% to 1.80%) per annum.

Emperor International Holdings Limited ZHEZ2£E (EE) BRAE
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23.

24,

25.

5 REMEBEWKIE (&)

BsE: (4F)

(b) SHHBPIFERABRDRET LAERE
HERSHAE-

(c) 1202253 A31H - Eftb E W FIE B FE U
B iE N A 2 51 7838,236,0007% JT (20214 :
36,563,000/ 7C) - A5 MERARHHBGIE L
(BERREARB 2 EERR) KL 2 FABE
EEEEH -FREXBERSEER RENR
RENREE-

7A2021F3A310 - H b & W 50E B 5L 85
EAREE 2 ME W 2 12 $34,437,000/8 7T
(2022%F - %) - HBUEMARAEHR

& o

(d) 72022%3A31F & RENREREEE
18 B 2 AR 2 HTE11268,932,0007% 7T (2021
676,904,000/ 7T ) °

BE20202F3AALFECES R EME
WOkIE 2 BAE AT (A R IR B M 241 (D) ©

358 R 1 2 17 HUA S R R 1T B
F 2
AEEBERLEIRAGREFEETERIE
JE iR 17 8k P 7 A10,569,000/%8 7T (2021
% :10,040,000 ) (WHEERARK
8,571,0007T (20214 : A K %8,486,000
L)) EREFFEPEREMEZ RS -
ZRTERERPNBIEEEENBEETE
ARG WERFFEL0% (20214
1.0% ) &t 8 o TEFH &7 FOE R s B R B ET
TEANBRIERERRBEE -

CEBRTER EHETE
AOMITEBRREAS
72022434310 - 2 IR R 177 KB (i)
77 3(64,134,0007% 7t (20214 : 63,000,000
BL) (DBERFRBEE) M(ii)FR
354,0007% 7T (20214 : 353,000 7%) (5
BRRBEE) HHFBDRIENHE43(a)
K43(b) - 2 R RITHFRIRN F0.63%=E
1.20%#) [B 2 4 7 % (2021%F : 0.32%%
1.80%)3H 2 -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR MEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &t £20224F 331 A I F/Z

25.Pledged Bank Deposits/Short-Term Bank  25. B #RITEFER EHRTHE

Deposits/Bank Balances and Cash

(continued)

As at 31 March 2022, short-term bank deposits with an
original maturity over 3 months carry interest at fixed
interest rates which ranged from 0.80% to 1.00% (2021:
1.00% to 2.00%) per annum.

Bank balances and cash comprise cash held by the
Group and bank deposits with an original maturity of
3 months or less and carry interest at the prevailing
market rate at 0.01% (2021: 0.01%) or at fixed interest
rates which ranged from 0.08% to 1.00% (2021: 0.07%
to 2.90%) per annum.

Included in pledged bank deposit, short-term bank
deposits and bank balances and cash are the following

AOMITERRRS (F)

M20223A31H  REIBAER/R=MEA A £
2 78 BRER 1T 17 3R [ € & M R 97 F-0.80%
%1.00% (20214 : 1.00%%2.00% ) &+ & FI
g\ o

RITEBRNBCRRAEEFEZET M
REHA B R3E AT HBITHHF
1 %0.01% (20214 : 0.01%) % & 5 4
% 9} 0.08%251.00% (20214 : 0.07%%
2.90% )5t B Z RITFK

EEMIRITER B HARITEREIRITAERR
EREBRETINEEEEERZHES

amounts denominated in currency other than BLANNER EE 2SR
functional currency of the relevant group entities:
2022 2021
HK$°000 HK$°000
FTHERT FET
usbh ETT 46
RMB AR 392,461
GBP e 14,938
26.Assets (Liabilities Associated With 266 P EARELHECZEE (HE
Assets) Classified as Held for Sale EHEzERE)

On 22 March 2021, Emperor Property Investment
Limited (“EPIL”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company received a written expression of interest
from an independent third party proposing to acquire
a property held by Jade Talent Holdings Limited and
its subsidiary (“Jade Talent Group”), indirect wholly-
owned subsidiaries of the Company, engaged in the
business of property investment. On 21 April 2021, EPIL
entered into a sale and purchase agreement with the
purchaser, pursuant to which the purchaser agreed to
acquire the entire issued share capital in Jade Talent
Group, which holds a property in Hong Kong, and all
obligations, liabilities and debts owing or incurred
by Jade Talent Group to EPIL at a total consideration
of approximately HK$485,824,000. The consideration
shall be subject to the further adjustments, details of
consideration were disclosed in the announcement of
the Company dated 21 April 2021. The disposal of Jade
Talent Group was completed on 21 April 2021 (details
are set out in note 38).

P2021F3A 020 REWEXRERFR QA
([HEMERE] KRRz 2ENMBRE])
W —ZBIYE=ZFNEMEMS  EZK
BHREEREERARLENBERR ([HE
£8]) (AARABEEZ2ENBRARH
WEREREER) FTFYE - 12021F
AA21H HEYMEREHE A VEER
B E 5 R E LA (E 49485,824,000
BLTWEREER (BE—REBZWE)
2EHBBEITRAUNRBEERLEEZYE
RESFMEENFMEET BERERK Z
REBETE—PHAEME ZREZF
BRARAT B EIA2021F4A21B 2 A&
EZoNEWEEEDMR2021F4H21H T K
(FHIBEMA W 5E38) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022

# 202243531 H 1FF/E

26.Assets (Liabilities Associated With
Assets) Classified as Held for Sale

(continued)

The assets and liabilities attributable to the disposal
of Jade Talent Group were presented separately in
the consolidated statement of financial position as at

31 March 2021 as follows:

26 7RAFFHEZEE (BRE
EREzEE) (&

HERKEBEREEENEBENR2021F3A
BIAZAMBIRAKRAD B2/ T

HKS’000
FHET
Investment property (note 14) WEE (Hit14) 508,000
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments  Hth U FKIE « 2 & M B FIE 1,655
Bank balances and cash RITEBERE 217
Total assets classified as held for sale DEABELHECEERLEA 509,872
Other payables and accrued charges H th & 15 5RIE K 5T & A 22,321
Bank borrowings (note 42) RITEE (Kit42) 11,667
Deferred taxation (note 35) EIERIE (H1iE35) 520
Total liabilities associated with assets classified HEDiEAFELE 2 EEMRE 2
as held for sale BEHEE 34,508
27.Trade and Other Payables 21. & 5 R H A BT FRIR

An aging analysis of the Group’s trade payables based
on invoice date at the end of the reporting period is set

RBERR REAEEE S RNKIAZ %
ZEBPTEL 2RO :

out below:

2022 2021
HK$°000 HK$°000
FERT FHET
0 - 90 days 0£90H 22,347
91 - 180 days 91£=180H T4
Over 180 days 180H A E 184
22,605

Amount due to a shareholder of JE 1 — R Bk & A B IR R SR IE
an associate (Note) (BiaE) 1,404
Construction payables and accruals JE T RIE R FETE A 315,076
Rental deposits received EWHEEZS 277,383
Other payables and accruals Hi BN RIBREAE R 244,939
861,407

Note:

The amount due to a shareholder of an associate is

unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

Emperor International Holdings Limited ZHEZ2£E (EE) BRAE

ANNUAL REPORT 2021/2022 &%k

iet: BN —MEERARBRRFAR/EERR £

BRREREE-



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR MEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022

28.Contract Liabilities

# F202243H31H 1FF/E
28. 5B @

2022 2021
HK$°000 HK$°000
FET FHET
Pre-sales proceeds received IHEMERKE 2 TEE
on sales of properties P15 518 303,396

During the year, the amount of HK$296,066,000
(2021: HKS$16,420,000) which was included in contract
liabilities balance at the beginning of the year was
recognised as revenue.

The Group on average receives 10% of the contract
value as deposits from customers when they sign the
sale and purchase agreement. However, depending on
market conditions, the Group may offer customers a
discount compared to the listed sales price,